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AAEFEEFXSEAFRAA TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

FERE
Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Tongfang
Kontafarma Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present to you the audited annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2016.

RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016
was approximately HK$633.3 million (2015: HK$465.7 million),
representing an increase of 36.0% as compared to the previous
year. The loss for the year of the Group was approximately
HK$27.6 million (2015: HK$29.8 million). The loss per share
amounted to HKO.75 cent (2015: HKO0.69 cent).

The Group recorded a significant increase of HK$167.6 million in
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2016 as compared to the
year ended 31 December 2015. Approximately HK$124.5 million of
such increase was attributable to the revenue generated by 1t R %%
J¢ %L % 5 PR A B (Beiing Ziguang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*)
(“Ziguang Pharmaceutical”) and its subsidiaries for the period since
the completion of the Group’s acquisition of 60% equity interest in
Ziguang Pharmaceutical that took place in July 2016 to 31
December 2016.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil).

OUTLOOK
Cement Business

In 2016, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) economy was
facing with various risks such as narrowing trade surplus, weak
private investment and economic downturn. In the Central
Economic Working Conference (F & 4% T {E & :%) held in
December 2016, the PRC government clearly put forward that,
they would focus on promoting the supply-side structural reform,
moderately expanding social demand and properly dealing with
emerging risks and challenges. The year 2017 will be crucial for
deepening supply-side reform.
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To deepen the supply-side structural reform, it is required to take
the first step of reducing overcapacity. Only by adopting the
policies of “promoting staggering production” and “prohibiting the
production of grade 32.5 composite portland cement” proposed in
the BN B ERM IR RIERFASBERaNEEE BB 5
[2016]345%) (“Guiding Opinions on Promoting Steady Growth,
Restructuring and Efficiency Improvement of Building Materials
Industry” (Guo Ban Fa [2016] No.34)") issued by the State Council
of the PRC in May 2016, which represents hope for industrial
development, to remove the gloom of massive overcapacity in the
development of cement industry, can we solve the problem of
overcapacity, secure benefits from the industry and push forward
industry transformation and upgrade.

It is expected that the PRC government will continue the efforts to
intensify its investment in infrastructure construction in 2017. As
cement is one of the basic materials in the construction of
infrastructure, the demand of cement will naturally be strong. In
2017, the merger, acquisition and reorganisation among large scale
corporations in the cement market will sustain its momentum in
2016 to further improve industrial concentration. It is anticipated
that the government will further strengthen regulation on
environmental protection. Therefore, the duration of production
suspension will be increased, affecting the production volume of
cement. Having taken into account the above factors, the Group
expects that, in 2017, the market price of cement will show a trend
of steady rise and the production volume of cement in the PRC will
be roughly equivalent to the total output of 2016. Against such
background, the performance of cement industry in the PRC is
expected to be improved.

Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Business

In 2016, the PRC government has enacted a number of laws and
regulations and the relevant government departments have enforced
the greatest coordinated supervision that have never seen over the
past 30 years. It demonstrates the government’s determination to
push forward the pharmaceutical reform. In the Report on the Work
of the Government of 2016, Premier Li Kegiang has expressly put
forward the ideas that “We will advance the coordinated reform of
medical services, medical insurance, and the medicine industry.
Health is the root of happiness.” This points out the way for future
development of the pharmaceutical industry in the PRC. Standing at
the crossroad of reform, Ziguang Pharmaceutical and its
subsidiaries will firmly seize the opportunities emerging from this
new era by taking full advantage of its own industrial chain and
adhering to its overall strategy of “dedicate to the frontier market,
seek our own advantages, strengthen our internal management and
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maintain our leading position in the market segment”, with the aim
to sustain sound momentum for growth and seize the greatest
market share in the market segment, thus delivering better
performance for the coming year.

In 2017, the Group will continue to leverage on the opportunities
brought by the reform, actively respond to the deployment of the
national strategic planning and government’s reform, and build the
core competitiveness for the rapid development by quick reaction
and innovative research and development model, cooperation
model and sales model. Ziguang Pharmaceutical and its
subsidiaries will continue to strengthen its internal management,
make full use of management tools in internal control,
organisational structure, financial management and human
resources, and enhance the overall operation level through
management, so as to better reflect the value creation.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to thank our shareholders,
customers and suppliers for their continuous support to the Group.
| would also like to express the Group’s appreciation for the
contributions of the members of the Board and all staff.

Huang Yu
Chairman

24 March 2017

*

For identification purpose only
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2'115 FI“NU‘II. GENERAL MEETING

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of Tongfang Kontafarma Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2016 was approximately HK$633.3 million (2015:
HK$465.7 million), representing an increase of 36.0% as compared
to the previous year. The loss for the year of the Group was
approximately HK$27.6 million (2015: HK$29.8 million). The loss per
share amounted to HKO0.75 cent (2015: HKO.69 cent).

The Group recorded a significant increase of HK$167.6 million in
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2016 as compared to the
year ended 31 December 2015. Approximately HK$124.5 million of
such increase was attributable to the revenue generated by 1t R %%
J¢ %L % 5 PR A B (Beiing Ziguang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*)
(“Ziguang Pharmaceutical”) and its subsidiaries for the period since
the completion of the Group’s acquisition of 60% equity interest in
Ziguang Pharmaceutical that took place in July 2016 (the
“Acquisition”) to 31 December 2016.

The increase of HK$41.3 million in the Group’s administrative
expenses for the year ended 31 December 2016 was mainly
attributable to the granting of a share option during the year of
approximately HK$13.8 million. Loss for the year of the Group
would be HK$13.8 million if the effect of such share option was
excluded, representing a decrease of 53.7% as compared to the
previous year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Cement Business

The Group’s cement and clinker sales amounted to 2,318,000 tons
(2015: 2,002,000 tons) during the year ended 31 December 2016,
representing an increase of 15.8% as compared to the previous

year.

1.

Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai SAC”)

In 2016, cement distributed by Shanghai SAC amounted to
1,210,000 tons (2015: 805,000 tons), which represents an
increase by 50.3% over the previous year. Gross profit
generated by Shanghai SAC was HK$23.1 million (2015:
HK$19.1 million), representing an increase of 20.9% from the
previous year. During the year, Shanghai SAC had been
actively exploring and strengthening its relationship with
quality customers with a view to enhance its sales. To
reduce its operating costs, Shanghai SAC has further
implemented its cost control and streamlining policies during
the year. Special vehicles are no longer provided to the
executives of Shanghai SAC. For the year ended 31
December 2016, the administrative expenses of Shanghai
SAC amounted to HK$16.0 milion (2015: HK$18.9 million),
representing a decrease of 15.3% from the previous year.
Moreover, Shanghai SAC has continued to invest cautiously
the surplus of its idle funds from its business operation in
wealth management products in accordance with the Group’s
treasury policies and investment guidelines. Shanghai SAC
recorded fair value gains and interest income on financial
assets of HK$2.7 million (2015: interest income of HK$4.1
million) through treasury management.
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2. LWRBEEIRKEERAT(HESE 2. Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Limited (“Allied
%) Wangchao”)
ZTE-ARNEBMEIRANMNEER In 2016, Allied Wangchao’s clinker production amounted to
790,000 (== — FH 4F : 852,000WF ) - 790,000 tons (2015: 852,000 tons), while cement production
K E 2 A932,000M (= — A F - was 932,000 tons (2015: 1,083,000 tons). The sales of
1,083,000M8) : /K JB & 2 ®¥ & cement and clinker amounted to 1,108,000 tons (2015:
1,108,000M8 (= & — # % : 1,197,000 1,197,000 tons), representing a decrease of 7.4% as
WE) - B _E R D7.4%  BREREFIS.9F compared to the previous year. Gross profit amounted to
EBT(CE—RF:1068EBT) HK$8.9 million (2015: HK$10.6 million), which represents a
B ERF TNFE16.0% ° decrease of 16.0% as compared to the previous year.
FABETRMABREEITRMER During the vyear, Allied Wangchao increased its investments in
MEBERE BEERE RBReaEE® technological innovation and equipment modification, which
BWEKTEZEILRENEETHIE has resulted in reduced consumption and enhanced
BRI T /E - Ba T RERA M production quality, and declarations for several projects in the
TR - TR BRMEITAA o /£ Shandong Province and Zaozhuang City have also been
HeESnERBENERBEFEEN completed. To save investment and operating costs, Allied
BAT BMEETRR=ZT—X~F+—H Wangchao has utilised new technologies in desulfurisation.
BURELEEMERMIZE G ZEN While the PRC government has demanded staggering
IRE A E R 1 B R 1B T b R T A production be adopted across the country, Allied Wangchao
RiFE - HEBETHATIRFBRERRT obtained approval from the Shandong Economic and
RIEMMER - Information Technology Committee in November 2016 to use
its existing production facilities to process the municipal
waste and was therefore exempted from the production
suspension, which played a decisive role in stabilising its
profit.
3. WRILEBKEZEBRARA(LRL 3. Shandong Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shandong
B ) SAC”)
Il BR_F B IE 7E T8 AR 4R R 2 an AN B 1l 82 Shandong SAC is actively exploring the possibility of
AAHOAgeEd - LR EBITEGRS transforming and upgrading its products and technology. It is
SKEPRERIBR A ERNEINITE# S o also proactively looking for investment opportunity in the
fields of energy-saving and environmental protection.
e = - R Uy '!-C"Iﬁ';”.rﬁld. i
o £ 7
L
M g S B P ﬁ *l‘. 5 & 4= A
| 20165 @i #5003 e e
I et ,

Top 500 Award 2016”* awarded to
Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Limited

A7 R 3% (201670

Material Enterprises

“Certificate of the High and New
Technology Enterprises” awarded to
Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Limited

y
awarded to the cement kiln straw
combustion system developed by Shandong
Allied Wangchao Cement Limited

10
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4. The development of new cement production facilities at
Bailonggang, Pudong, Shanghai (“Bailonggang Project”)

During the year, the project preparatory team of the Bailonggang
Project had continued to push forward the project. Investors
from both sides are expected to leverage on their respective
advantages to procure the relevant government authority to
approve the application for the postponement of the project.

In 2017, the cement entities of the Group will persist in the philosophy
of innovation to forge ahead with innovation in management and
industry, and enhance corporate culture. The Group will continue to
strengthen its innovation in technology and explore potentials in all
respects, increase the level of equipment automation and reduce
hidden troubles of equipment to improve the steadiness of production
techniques. The Group will also continue to improve the relationships
with its customers, improve its sales management system and
enhance its risk management. The Group will adjust its debt structure,
reduce its financial costs, avoid exchange rate risk and continue to
invest cautiously in wealth management products. The organisational
structure of cement entities will further be optimised and appraisal
system will also be improved to increase the work motivation of our
staff.

As part of the Group’s social responsibilities, the cement entities of the
Group will continue to proceed synergetic disposal of solid waste in
the cement kiln, increase the utilisation rate of substitutable fuels, and
expand the utilisation volume of industrial wastes to achieve green
success of the cement industry.

In general, the cement entities of the Group will actively explore the
possibility of the enterprise transformation and upgrade, seek for the
new profit growth point and certain new investment opportunities.

Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Business

The Group’s revenue in its medical, pharmaceutical and health
business segment for the period since the completion of the
Acquisition to 31 December 2016 was HK$124.5 million, which was
attributable to sales of prescription drugs and laboratory related
products.

1. Ziguang Pharmaceutical

Ziguang Pharmaceutical was principally engaged in the
manufacturing of chemical drugs. The key products of Ziguang
Pharmaceutical are prescription drugs for gynecological and local
anesthesia purposes. During the period since the completion of
the Acquisition to 31 December 2016, Ziguang Pharmaceutical
had sold 3,820,000 sticks/pills of drugs, recording a revenue of
approximately HK$47.6 million and a gross profit of HK$41.0
million. In 2016, Ziguang Pharmaceuticals and its subsidiaries
had carried out target-oriented assessment on budgeting and
KPI control as its core. In the sales aspect, Ziguang
Pharmaceutical proactively expanded its market to provide to
quality customers its products with a view to establish a long-
term and stable relationship with them. To achieve this, Ziguang
Pharmaceuticals has rapidly adjusted its business policies and

11
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W - DA S AR B R =l R g implemented more comprehensive marketing strategy so as to
REREE - EHBEAE  RmmE respond to the changes in policy environment such as the Two-
FRIER EEZEEMREHEE Invoice System and the transitioning from business tax to value-
W BRSO EDE S B4 added tax in the PRC. In market distribution aspect, Ziguang
EHEHERSKE EREER Pharmaceutical focused on the high-end market in municipalities
HEWREITXARRERETFEE and in developed cities such as Beijing and Chongging, while
i o utilising every opportunity to extend its products coverage to

various institutions including healthcare centers of the town
communities in the PRC. Based on the abovementioned efforts,
it will not only secure basic sale volume but also lay a solid
foundation for future growth.

2. MBiALKKERBEXERAT(HEA 2.  Shaanxi Unisplendour Life Care Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*

BiED (“Shaanxi Life Care”)

Pk 7 = 7% O B 4 =5 b e A R SE A ) 2 Shaanxi Life Care was principally engaged in business in the
& piEhEEE - AEERRBEUR Chinese medicine-related fields, including the planting,
BB NP E RN ESR M o PR manufacturing and distribution of Chinese medicine and
70 = B 7 5150 18 % G Hh ) S8 - operating a production facility in Baoji, Shaanxi. Shaanxi Life
AN IWEBRE—S—XRNE+— Care possesses over 150 drug approvals. During the period
A=+—HHE  BRAREZTRIKA since the completion of the Acquisition to 31 December 2016,
41318 EBE T BIEMNYN70HE Shaanxi Life Care recorded a revenue of approximately HK$31.8
BIT o BN BRI EE BT T million and a gross profit of approximately HK$7.9 million. During
HETERAE  BEE4TaaE the year, Shaanxi Life Care has entered into a strategic
BEANNBA=FRREERPEAIRESE cooperation with Baoji Municipal Government in relation to the
CER R AEESF R construction of an industrial park of innovative Chinese medicine
B Bk — BT ABEBREENIR at Baoji High-tech Development Zone within three vyears.
RirBumTXEE NI BREKASE Leveraging on Tsinghua University’s strength of integrating
B RS AR BRI production, education and research, a modern industrial park of
MiEEA B oARE BN - pharmaceutical that are in compliance with international

standards will be built. It will be developed into a
comprehensive pharmaceutical enterprise, integrating
pharmaceutical research and development, modern pharmacy,
pharmaceutical business and herbs planting.

3. EEE&%3uEARAF(EEE 3. Chongqing Kangle Pharmaceutical Ltd.* (“Chongqing
4 |) Kangle”)
EEFLTENERNE G ESEMR Chongaing Kangle was principally engaged in the research and
RSl S - A ENINERE 28 development, production and sale of Active Pharmaceutical
NREETEEIXREMNE ES Ingredients (“API”) and intermediate for API. It operates a
Moo RERENNEREE T —NE production facility at the Chongqing Changshou Chemical

METIRN

NETZH - BEERES ¢ J

MhE - B A5 B B AR ‘ ZHEBEER
In ember 2016, Chongging Kangle y
established its Academician Workstation, On 29 February 2016, the Phase Il project .
with Professor Fei Weiyang acting as a of Chongging Kangle, i.e. the construction Pharmaceutical was awarded the “2016
based academician of production line for APl and intermediate Best Growth Enterprise” by the

for API production commenced Administrative Committee of
Zhongguancun Yanging Science Park
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EI2E 5w & DT Management Discussion and Analysis

Industrial Park. During the period since the completion of the
Acquisition to 31 December 2016, Chongging Kangle
recorded a revenue of HK$25.2 million and a gross profit of
HK$5.0 million. During the year, Chongging Kangle has
focused on future development and established Tsinghua
University Teaching and Practising Base ((BFEAZHEEH
F#h) and Chongging Kangle Academician Workstation (ZE &
R &40 = T 1Eufi) in cooperation with Tsinghua University. We
expect that Chongging Kangle will allow us to gain a great
competitive edge in APl and intermediate for APl market in
the future.

4. SPF (Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* (“SPF”)

SPF was founded by a number of doctors from the Academy
of Military Medical Sciences. SPF was principally engaged in
the supply of standardized laboratory animals and animal
indigenous raw materials, and is the only biotechnology
company focusing on the supply of laboratory animals in the
entire industry of Tsinghua University. During the period since
the completion of the Acquisition to 31 December 2016, SPF
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$19.1 million and a
gross profit of HK$10.3 million. During the year, SPF began
its rapid expansion and in the future will focus on the
regional market distribution and expand along the value
chain. In this regard, SPF will 1) set up branches in fast-
growing areas, including East China, South China and
Southwest China, to seize market share nationwide; and 2)
expands its business to upstream and downstream fields,
such as transgenic research, drugs evaluation and service,
laboratory related products and other aspects, taking
advantage of its own proven model and technology
advantages and in combination with Tsinghua University’s
strong research and production capability and powerful
appeal.

Ziguang Pharmaceutical and its subsidiaries are now developing
into a group of companies to cover the value-chain of
biopharmaceuticals. The companies are actively engaging in
various links of the biopharmaceutical field, including biotechnology
service, new drug research and development, active
pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediates, chemical generic
medicine, prescribed Chinese medicines and medicine circulation.
As the companies are in the period of rapid development,
resources will be allocated to research and development,
infrastructure construction, market expansion, business channel
construction, personnel organization construction to merger,
acquisition and reorganization in order to meet the above strategic
layout. With the positive effect from the initial investment, we
expects the entities to achieve rapid performance growth in 2017.

In August 2016, the Group and Dr. Ding Sheng started investing in
medical research with a focus in immunology and small molecule,
which includes identifying potent and selective small molecule
modulators and accumulating data through clinical studies. The
result is critical in the discovery of related drugs and treatment for
cancer and infectious diseases.
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Dr. Ding Sheng is the co-founder of the School of Pharmaceutical
Sciences of Tsinghua University and is among the first batch of
experts recruited under the Thousand Talents Plan of the PRC. He
is the leading authority in the fields of biochemistry and stem-cell
research and is a co-founder of several biotech companies in the
United States. The Directors consider that the investment will
further enhance the research and innovation capability of the
Group in the development of medical and pharmaceutical
products.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financing

On 22 December 2014, additional shares of the Company were
issued in an open offer (the “Open Offer”) to raise gross proceeds
of approximately HK$495.0 million. Details of the open offer and
update on the use of proceeds are set out in the section headed
“Use of Proceeds from Open Offer” in the Directors’ Report on
pages 51 and 52 of this annual report.

Except for the proceeds raised from the Open Offer, the Group’s
capital expenditure, daily operations and investments during the
year ended 31 December 2016 are mainly funded by cash
generated from its operations and loans granted by its principal
banks and third parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group had
refinanced bank loans with aggregate principal amount of
HK$380.0 million by other borrowings from third parties.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group maintained bank balances
and cash reserves of approximately HK$1,027.4 million (2015:
HK$1,322.8 million), including cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$581.1 million (2015: HK$897.9 million), pledged
short-term bank deposits of approximately HK$421.4 million (2015:
HK$424.9 million), time deposits with original maturity between 4
to 12 months of approximately HK$22.3 million (2015: Nil) and
restricted bank deposit of approximately HK$2.5 million (2015: Nil).

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had outstanding borrowings
of approximately HK$916.3 million repayable within one year (2015:
HK$777.5 million) and outstanding borrowings of approximately
HK$163.1 million repayable after one year (2015: Nil).
Approximately 72.3% of the Group’s outstanding borrowings were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) and the remainder were
in Renminbi (“RMB”). Around 15.1% of the Group’s outstanding
borrowings were charged with interest at fixed rates while the
remainder were at floating rates.
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The gearing ratio (total borrowings over total assets) of the Group
as at 31 December 2016 was as follows:

—E-KE e 7 GE

2016 2015

TET FTBT

HK$’000 HK$’'000

B4R 5 1,079,441 777,456
WEE 3,154,191 2,629,925
EERGBHLER 34.2% 29.6%

As at 31 December 2016, a balance amounting to HK$147.7 million
(2015: HK$157.9 million) were included in the amounts due from
other related parties, which represent the provision of entrusted
loans by the Group through a bank to /&2 ((2E) B AR
(Shanghai Building Material (Group) Company Limited*) (formerly
known as /8 ZEME (£ E) 4 A F] (Shanghai Building Material
(Group) General Company?*)) (“Shanghai Building Material”) and the
related interest receivable. Details of the transactions were set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 27 May 2016.

Financial Management and Policy

The Group’s financial policy aims at minimising the Group’s
financial risk exposure. To achieve this objective, the Group does
not engage in speculative derivative financial transactions and
invest the current capital in financial products with significant risk.

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC and its
transactions, working capital and borrowings are primarily
denominated in RMB and HK$. The Group has been closely
monitoring any foreign exchange exposure and will consider the
need of hedging should significant currency exposure arise.
However, since the Group’s consolidated financial statements are
presented in HK$ which is different from its functional currency,
RMB, it is inevitable that the Group would face foreign exchange
exposure in this respect, whether positive or negative, from
translating the accounts to its presentation currency.
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Pledge of Assets

Details regarding the pledge of assets are set out in note 46 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Material Acquisitions

As announced by the Company on 28 January 2016, Kingwood
Limited (“Kingwood”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and FY|TERFEEEE AR AF (Shenzhen Waranty
Asset Management Co., Ltd.") (“Shenzhen Waranty”), an
intermediate holding company, have entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which Kingwood has
conditionally agreed to purchase, and Shenzhen Waranty has
conditionally agreed to sell, an aggregate of 60% equity interest in
Ziguang Pharmaceutical, a sino-foreign joint venture enterprise
established in the PRC, representing the entire interest held by
Shenzhen Waranty in Ziguang Pharmaceutical, for an aggregate
consideration of RMB291.2 million. The acquisition was completed
in July 2016. Details of the transaction were set out in the
announcements dated 28 January 2016 and 22 March 2016, and
the circular dated 15 April 2016, respectively.

Material Capital Commitments and Investments

As announced by the Company on 15 February 2012, Shanghai
SAC has entered into the (BN EZRIAEEEEB | B EHZE) (the
Bailonggang Project Construction Cooperation Agreement”) and the
(EBRERIAERRRE) %) (the Principle Agreement for the
Establishment of the Joint Venture Company*) on 13 February
2012 with Shanghai Building Material, a state-owned enterprise, for
the purpose of setting up a joint venture company (the “JV
Company”) to operate and manage the Bailonggang Project after
the relevant government approvals for the Bailonggang Project
being obtained. The setting up of the JV Company constituted a
very substantial acquisition of the Company under Chapter 14 of
the Listing Rules. The 50% share of registered capital of the JV
Company attributable to the Group amounting to RMB400 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$446.9 million (2015: HK$477.9
million)) will be contributed and funded by internal resources of the
Group. Details of the transaction were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 15 February 2012 and 30
January 2014, respectively, and the circular of the Company dated
16 March 2012.
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As announced by the Company on 3 October 2012, Shanghai SAC
entered into three purchase agreements on 28 September 2012 for
the purchases of certain equipment and machineries at the
aggregate consideration of RMB380 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$424.6 million (2015: HK$454.0 million)), for future
use in the Bailonggang Project. The Company does not intend to
retain such equipment and machineries for its own use. Up to 31
December 2016, Shanghai SAC settled the first installment of the
total consideration under the three respective agreements in an
aggregate amount of RMB68.3 million (2015: RMB68.3 million)
(equivalent to approximately HK$76.3 million (2015: HK$81.6
million)). Details of the transaction were set out in the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 3 October 2012
and 15 November 2012, respectively.

As announced by the Company on 16 December 2016, the
Company has entered into a share subscription agreement with
Binex Co., Ltd. (“Binex”) and the majority Korean shareholders of
Binex, pursuant to which the Company (or through its wholly
owned subsidiary designated by it) has conditionally agreed to
subscribe from Binex, and Binex has conditionally agreed to issue
to the Company (or through its wholly owned subsidiary
designated by it), subscription shares, representing (i)
approximately 29% of the total issued share capital of Binex as
enlarged by the Subscription Shares immediately upon closing; and
(i) approximately 28% of the total issued share capital of Binex as
enlarged by the Subscription Shares and assuming that all the
outstanding convertible bonds and employees share options of
Binex are fully converted and exercised. The total subscription
consideration of Binex is KRW210,917 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,397 million) based on the subscription price of
KRW16,000 (equivalent to HK$106) per share. Subject to the
conditions precedent pursuant to the Company’s announcement
dated 16 December 2016, the Company will satisfy the
subscription consideration by cash upon closing. Details of the
transaction were set out in the announcement dated 16 December
2016 and a circular containing, inter alia, further information
regarding the Share Subscription Agreement will be despatched to
the shareholders of the Company in due course.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had 1,064 (2015: 306)
employees. The Group maintains a policy of paying competitive
remuneration packages and employees are also rewarded salary
and bonus on a performance related basis. In addition, share
options and awarded shares may also be granted to eligible
employees pursuant to the Share Options Scheme and Share
Award Scheme adopted by the Company on 28 April 2011 and 20
September 2016 respectively. The purpose of the schemes is to
provide incentives to the selected employees to contribute to the
Group and to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract and retain human resources that are
valuable to the Group.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Domestic/international high-level pharmaceutical
production facility

The chemical drugs production base located in Beijing, the
Chinese medicines production base located in Baoji City, Shaanxi
Province and the active pharmaceutical ingredients and
intermediates production base located in Chongaging City have
passed the GMP certification from the Food and Drug
Administration of the PRC, while the active pharmaceutical
ingredients and intermediates production line located in Chongging
City have also passed the FDA certification in the United States
and the PQ certification from the World Health Organization. The
experimental animal workshop located in Beijing City has passed
the experimental animal production qualification certification from
the Beijing Municipal Science & Technology Commission.

Contribution to society

Ziguang Pharmaceutical and SPF, being two manufacturing
enterprises located in the relatively poor Yanging District in Beijing,
have contributed significantly to taxes and provided a lot of job
opportunities with their own performance growth. The two
companies paid taxes totaling approximately RMB14.8 million to the
Yanqging District in 2016, being a great support to the local
infrastructure and offering approximately 100 job opportunities. As
such, they were awarded the Best Growth Enterprises in Yanging
District by the Zhongguancun High-tech Committee.

The Group also maintains its commitment to social responsibility
and philanthropy. Over the years, Allied Wangchao has sponsored
uniforms to schools on Children’'s day (1 June), sponsored
notebooks and granted scholarship to the children of our staff
members, paid visit to the elderly living in adjacent villages and
poverty-stricken families of our staff during Chung Yang Festival
and voluntarily repaired roads nearby.
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Providing more professional skills training for
employees

The Group provided regular training regarding production, skillsets
and code of behaviour for its staff members in order to enhance
their all-round quality. The Group also fosters communication and
cooperation with colleges and academic institutions in the PRC to
render support to technology innovation and at the same time
reduce cost and boost efficiency.

Also, the Group has engaged an external consultant to provide
trainings and workshops on the topics of environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) to the relevant employees. With the facilitation
by the external consultant, the Group identified material ESG
issues and considered their impacts to different stakeholders
during these trainings and workshops. The Group management
also evaluated its ESG initiatives and its performances during these
workshops and trainings. Please refer to Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 20 to 31 of this annual report for
further details.

Ng Qing Hai
Managing Director

24 March 2017

* For identification purpose only
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

We have adopted the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to
the Rules Governing the List of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (the “Stock Exchange”) in
preparing this report. The board of directors (the “Directors” and
“Board”, respectively) of Tongfang Kontafarma Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) considered we have complied with the “comply or
explain” provisions as set out in the ESG Guide for the year ended
31 December 2016.

BUSINESS OPERATION OF THE GROUP

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) was principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of cement, clinker and slag, trading of
cement (the “Cement Business”) and provision of technical services
with operations in Shandong province and Shanghai and the
manufacturing and sales of prescription drugs, other
pharmaceutical-related businesses and pharmaceutical research
and testing in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (the
“Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Business”). This report
provides general disclosures that cover both Cement Business and
Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Business.

OUR ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE (“ESG”) MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

The Board endorsed an initiative to pursue a clear and prioritised
ESG management approach that is closely aligned to the
Company’s overall business strategy.

The Executive Committee is responsible for the formation of policy
and guideline, and allocates the budget for ESG activities
undertakings for sustainable development.

Our vision is to promote sustainable economies, build a solid
foundation and a bright future for the Group and enhance the
value of business partners of the Group and shareholders of the
Company.

Our strategy is to comply with all environmental requirements
applicable to our business and to continuously improve our
environment management towards the industry best practice.

We engaged an external consultant to organise trainings and
workshops on risk management and ESG reporting for
management of all group entities in August 2016. Environmental
Protection and Product Responsibilities are chosen as our key
aspects. The external consultant also provided the Group with
latest development and updates on the Code on Corporate
Governance and recommended best practice. These information
are valuable to us in achieving continuous improvement in
corporate governance.
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= Environmental, Social and Governance Report

PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT

We recognise the environmental responsibilities associated with our
business and are committed to minimise the environmental impacts
of our business operation. Our environmental strategy is to strike a
harmonious balance between our business and the environment.
Our major environmental policy is as below:

To comply with all environmental requirements applicable to
our operations

To improve the environmental structure towards the industry’s
best practice

To integrate environmental considerations in all stages of
business operation (e.g. planning, design and manufacturing)

To enhance environmental awareness of our employees via
trainings

To support environmental initiatives of the communities where
we operate

We have a constant endeavour of reducing the consumption of
resources and emissions in all possible aspects of business
operation by promoting the 3R Principle (Reduce, Reuse and
Recycle). We have formulated internal operational guidelines
containing detailed requirements regarding water and electricity
consumption such as the operating hours and temperature setting
of air conditioners.
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Bridge repaired by the Group’s RMBS3 million sponsorship
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e amount of water is required during the cement
anufacturing process, residual heat power generation process
d the medicine manufacturing process. Our sources of water
vary and largely depend on the location of our plants. We are
consciously taking steps towards reducing our consumption and

contributing towards maintenance and recharge of water sources.

We provide waste recycling bins at all common areas of our plants
to separate waste by nature for recycling and appoint waste
recyclables collection contractors to help discharge them.

We have started to replace or upgrade our aged equipment to
models that have higher efficiency. When constructing or
upgrading plants impacts on the environment are our key
consideration. Ongoing replacement of Light Emitting Diodes
(“LED”) lights in our plants and office provides energy savings of up
to 40% compared to conventional lights.

In order to promote a green working environment, we request at
least one-third of the managed area of our operation plants to be
green.

About our Cement Business

During the manufacturing process of clinker and slag, exhaust gas
emissions (e.g. nitrogen oxides (“NO,”), sulphur dioxide (“SO,”) and
dust) and greenhouse gas emissions (e.g. carbon dioxides (“CO,")
are produced. We have installed kiln gas analysers to our cement
kilns for online monitoring of the air pollutants. We have also
installed SNCR for the de-sulfurization and de-nitrification to our
kilns in accordance to the Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for
Cement Industry “GB4915-2013” requirement (dust density <20mg/
Nm®, NO,<400mg/Nm?, S0,<100 mg/Nm?). Dust-reclaiming mills
were in place to recycle the dust incurred in the manufacturing
process and to be reused in cement production. Site visits are
regularly conducted by local environmental authorities to monitor
the pollutant emissions of the production lines. All emission
standards have met the requirement of the environmental
authorities.
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BERBARERBER - Bt - KRG AESD the production standards for reuse purpose. As such the water

THER o system is able to achieve zero emission.

ARARZEREEX EHRLREBESRIREST - Regular energy audit or carbon audit has been performed by the
BRI RFERBR  ERERTBERERR Company to monitor energy usage over the years. Our cement has
8 GB16780-20121Z % - met the Norm of Energy Consumption per Unit Products of

Cement “GB16780-2012” requirement.

AR PIEEE TRETHNFEILZ MW=  As a result of ongoing upgrade of our manufacturing plants,
T-RAFILRBEETRKXKEBRAR(HE Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Limited (“Alied Wangchao”)
KD W RE BBIR = 5B fig b 2 o was identified as one of the national high-tech enterprises in 2015.

ETNABBERE RS EEIRFAKEEZNE In the coming future, we would continue to enhance the dust
X WiREHEMBRREENEERE - collection rate of our cement kiln and other environmental projects.
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Waste disposal facility of Chongqging Kangle
Pharmaceutical Ltd. — Hydrolysis tank
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Waste disposal facility of Chongging Kangle
Pharmaceutical Ltd. — Anaerobic digestion tank

About our Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health

Business

In response to the promotion of alternative energy use by the PRC
government, we have implemented to a solar energy generation
project (“Solar Energy Generation Project”) in our plant in Beijing. The
project installed solar photovoltaic, which started in use in late 2016.
It covers an area of over 30,000 square feet and is able to supply
the daily energy consumption of our plant in Beijing. Any surplus of
solar energy generated would be sold to the plants nearby. Our
Solar Energy Generation Project effectively promotes the
development of alternative energy use as well as making contribution
to a better environment by reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

Clinical waste such as reagent bottles, disposed drug and
experimental liquid waste are the major hazardous wastes of our
Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Business. We handle all of our
hazardous waste in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations. All hazardous wastes would have to go through
neutralisation treatment by qualified firms before disposal.
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Waste disposal facility of Chongging Kangle Pharmaceutical Ltd. — Waste ga:
treatment facility
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Unpleasant smell (mainly co
our experimental animal wor
adopted closed independe se
and to collect 100% of the from the cage
spray tower through fans. / ecycled from other
processes would spray to purlfy the gas from the impact of
ammonia. To improve the efficiency of the spray tower, we adopted
hacketten to increase the surface area of the gas and to diverse
the stream efficiently. Purified gas would be discharged through
chimneys.

All of our central-station air handling units adopts frequency control
to constant temperature and humidity, which provides energy
savings of up to 25-30%.

Water used in pressure cookers in our experimental animal
workshops would be recycled for cleansing the equipment and for
the spray absorber.

Regular energy audit or carbon audit was performed by certain
subsidiaries of the Group to monitor energy usage. All
pharmaceutical plants have passed the environmental assessment
certification of the Ministry of Environmental Protection.

COMPLIANCE

Major relevant laws and regulations include but not limited to the
below:

- [(ehEVDEBBMEETEINL)

— (PEARANMBEREYSRAREN QL)
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—  ERmATESRE G
- (ERLEHEEERE)
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HAEULR) EMEMER AR RRRZE — BMA L KIS
Environmental protection facilities in SPF (Beijing) Biotechnology Co.,
Spray tower
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rnance Report

In 2016, it was found that the unstable performance of the
ammonia injection system lead to Allied Wangchao, a subsidiary of
the Company, excessively emitted NO by 0.24 times, resulting in
RMB300,000 fines being charged. In response to this non-
compliance incident, we have improved communication between
our Group and the local province, city and district environmental
departments to avoid any misunderstanding, and in the meantime,
to enhance environmental awareness amongst the Group. We
strictly follow the national environment requirement on production
and adopt specified gas detection instruments to control the
emission effectively.

In the reporting period, save as disclosed above, no other reported
instance of non-compliance to relevant environmental laws and
regulations was noted in our operation.

We recognise our employees as an important asset and provide
fair and equal opportunities to our employees regardless of their
backgrounds and genders. As at 31 December 2016, the Group
had 240 employees from the cement business and 824 employees
from the medical, pharmaceutical and health business, of which 11
employees were disabled. We are committed to build an open and
inspirational working environment to all our employees.

We promote fair competition

All employment decisions shall be based on objective criteria.
Equal opportunities principles are applied in all employment
policies, in particular to recruitment, training, career development
and promotion of employees. Remuneration packages are
determined based on responsibilities and performance. Working
time, rest periods and defined contributions are in compliance with
relevant labour laws and regulations.

Regulated by the employee handbook, our remuneration scheme
consists of basic salary, bonus, social security contribution and
statutory holidays. We contributed social security in compliance
with local labour law and regulations. Our remuneration scheme is
comparable to the peers in the local industry. Working hours and
rest periods are in compliance with local labour laws and
regulations.

In the reporting period, no reported instance of non-compliance
with relevant labour laws and regulations was noted.
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We do not tole

We do not tolerat
employee based on
protected by law. Complain
would be dealt with confidentiality \\
period, no reported instance on discriminatior
noted.

We welcome feedbacks

We encourage our employees to provide feedbacks and address
their concerns to the management proactively. Number of channels
are in place for its employees to express grievances and
complaints which will be well-handled according to the
predetermined procedures to ensure equality to all employees
when related matters are handled.

We promote occupational safety and health

We are committed to provide a safe working environment to our
employees and to protect them from occupational hazards.
Environmental, Health and Safety Management Systems are
implemented in all sites. Safety guidelines are formulated and
communicated to all employees.

Relevant trainings are organised regularly to improve our
employees’ awareness on health and safety.

We have appointed safety officers to supervise the safety level of
each aspect of operations and provide the Group’s employees with
information and training courses about operation of equipment in
office, production facilities, mining tools and inspection equipment
on a regular basis. Spot checks by the management on the
implementation of safety measures are in place. In the reporting
period, no reported instance of non-compliance to relevant
occupational safety and health laws and regulations was noted in
our operation.
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e provide learning opportunities
Ne provide our employees with adequate trainings regarding
A &0 B Ie ; production, skillsets and code of behaviour for its staff members in
T rder to enhance their all-round quality. We provide appropriate
and ongoing trainings on quality and Good Manufacturing Practice
- (“GMP”) to our employees to ensure that they are prepared to
perform their duties effectively. Our system not only ensures that all
applicable employees are trained, but also monitors the
effectiveness of the trainings.

=0

BIEETMRELE Prohibition on child and forced labour

BMEFBBORBRS R E T MoRALE o Our employment policy strictly prohibits the employment of children
EREHRBA - ZARFEIERMERED and forced labour. In the reporting period, no reported instance on
ETRBLBEHIBEN - child labour or forced labour was noted.

HEHEER SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

RAEFANERSRESRAEBNASKRMEE Al our raw materials were sourced from the Group’s list of
7o AR EN G E 2 IV ABEERSH qualified suppliers. Admission to the list of qualified suppliers must
B - KBV LEERE  BERERSSE follow strict standards. After a preliminary screening, potential
XEWEZ  BREEHEENEEEEKTE suppliers will be subject to an on-site audit entailing a
WRIBEMHENGE N  ZE2NIREER - B comprehensive assessment of the supplier's quality management
EVEMNBEECENZATGE - ZRMYEE level, capability of ensuring a stable supply, safety and
BHERARETERBETE 1T E AT environmental management, employee health and social
H AR TEARNEER - responsibility, corporate culture and business reputation and so on.
The list of qualified suppliers was managed dynamically with a
regular assessment to eliminate unfit suppliers.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Product quality is one of our main focuses in our business
operation. We have established a strict internal control system to
manage our intellectual properties, encompassing the
administration of trademarks and patents, the management of
proprietary technology and confidentiality, and intelligence and
information gathering. Trademarks of newly designed products
would be registered on a timely basis. Detailed descriptions of
most of our products are updated timely on our websites.

MAEGER)EMEMERAR AR 4 E 28 Tl
Staff training of SPF (Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd. in relation to
safety production

Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Business

We apply and adhere to a strict set of quality standards, and we
adopted policies and procedures to identify, measure, control and
sustain product-quality excellence. We strive continuously to
improve these standards in order to enhance our quality and
safety procedures and ensure ongoing compliance with GMP.

Our manufacturing facilities are inspected by national authorities.
We adopted GMP in all of our manufacturing plants. Quality
checks are performed by our quality inspection team on each
batch of raw materials purchased and finished products, to ensure
the quality and safety of our products are up to required
standards. Our chemical drugs production base located in Beijing,
the Chinese medicines production base located in Baoji City,
Shaanxi Province, and the active pharmaceutical ingredients and
intermediates production base located in Chongqging City have all
obtained the GMP certification from the Food and Drug
Administration of the PRC. The active pharmaceutical ingredients
and intermediates production line located in Chongaing City have
also obtained the FDA certification of the United States and the PQ
certification of the World Health Organisation. Our experimental
animal workshop located in Beijing City has obtained the
experimental animal production qualification certification of the
Beijing Municipal Science & Technology Commission.
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We are committed to provide accurate information of our
pharmaceutical products to customers. Production lines of different
products are separate to avoid mislabelling. We have also
appointed personnel to make sure labelling of our medicines are
accurate.

Our experimental animal workshop breeds over 3 million mice
every year and sells those mice to domestic and international
research institutions, tertiary institutions and other pharmaceutical
companies to support the life and health science research. In
2016, SPF (Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* (“SPF”), which
principally engaged in the supply of standardised laboratory
animals and animal indigenous raw materials, obtained the 2015
Beijing Advanced Laboratory Animals Industry Award (“1t R E &)
) 17 3 b # £ B8 88 7) issued by the Beijing Association on
Laboratory Animal Care. To ensure the laboratory mice grow
healthily, we provide them with a good living environment with
adequate space, quality food and suitable temperature. Technical
updates regarding the animal welfare are given to related
employees from time to time. We follow the Principle of Animal
Welfare and Humane Endpoint (“Z)#)48 | E2{— 2& 4L Bh i T WY R B1)”)
and adopt euthanasia for our laboratory mice.

Cement Business

We are committed to provide quality cement to our customers
through customer engagement such as quarterly questionnaire
surveys. We ensure the quality of our products is up to the
National Standard of Common Portland Cements (“GB175-2007").

ANTI-CORRUPTION

In order to maintain a fair and efficient business and working
environment, we put great emphasis on anti-corruption. Our Group
does not tolerate any form of corruption. Also, we adopted relevant
code of conduct in employee handbook to prohibit employees
from extorting, charging or accepting any form of interest from
people, companies or organisations which conducts business with
the Group. Whistleblowing system is formulated for employees to
report any suspect of all forms of illegal practices. In the reporting
period, no reported instance on bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering was noted.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

/I

We actively take part in community and charitable activities. For
our cement business, the Group donates cement to help
surrounding villages repair bridges, construct roads, and improve
infrastructure facilities. For people living in poverty, the Group helps
them through donating money or goods. Since the establishment
of the Group, it has donated over RMB21 million to external
parties (between the years 2013 and 2015, the Group donated
RMB4,137,700).

Over the years, Allied Wangchao has sponsored uniforms to
schools on Children’s day (1 June), sponsored notebooks and
granted scholarships to the children of our employees, paid visit to
the elderly living in adjacent villages and poverty-stricken families of
our staff during Chung Yang Festival and voluntarily repaired roads
nearby. The Group has spent over HK$15 million on donation and
charity work since 2008.
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Donation of thermal underwear and eggs to nursing homes

*

For identification purpose only
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Tongfang Kontafarma Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
within a sensible framework with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence. The board of
directors of the Company (the “Directors” and the “Board”,
respectively) believes that good corporate governance is essential
to the success of the Company and to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In light of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), the Board has reviewed the corporate governance
practices of the Company with the adoption of various enhanced
procedures which are detailed in this report. The Company applied
the principles of, and complied with, all the applicable code
provisions of the CG Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2016 (the “Year”).

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises six Directors in total, with three
executive Directors (the “Executive Directors”) and three
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”). The
composition of the Board during the Year and up to the date of
this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Qing Hai (Managing Director)
Mr. Zhang Yi

(Date of appointment: 12 July 2016)
Mr. Deng Jinguang

(Date of resignation: 12 July 2016)

INEDs

Mr. Chan Sze Chung
Mr. Zhang Ruibin
Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section
in the Directors’ Report on pages 55 to 61 of this annual report.

There are no financial, business,
relationship among the Directors.

family or other material
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Board Process

During the Year, the INEDs provided the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) with a wide range of
expertise and experience. Their active participation in the Board
and Board committee meetings has brought independent
judgement on issues relating to the Group’s strategy, performance
and management process, taking into account the interests of all
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company had three INEDs representing not less than one-third of
the Board. At least one of the INEDs has the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules. The Company has received from each INED an annual
confirmation of his independence and considers that all the INEDs
are independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well
as the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to
review and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and
other ad hoc matters which need to be dealt with. The attendance
records of each Director at board meetings, board committee
meetings and annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”)
for the Year are set out below:

—E-RF
BRRBE
REZEE FHZEEE BERZEE -
gz Nomination Remuneration Audit 2016
Board Committee Committee Committee AGM
RAEERETEEZNE  Number of meetings held during
the Year 11 1 2 2 1
HE/BTeEz Ry
Number of meetings attended/held "¢ "
HTE=S: Executive Directors:
BaEE(FE) Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman) 10/11 1/1 1/1
BEARE(EFRLE) Mr. Ng Qing Hai (Managing Director) 11/11 11 0/
ok Bk 5F AR Mr. Zhang Yi Mo 2 4/4
B Sh o 5 A0 Mr. Deng Jinguang Mot 9 77 0/1
BYUEHTES: INEDs:
REREE Mr. Chan Sze Chung 11/11 1/ 2/2 2/2 11
RIm & Mr. Zhang Ruibin 11/11 1/1 2/2 2/2 1/1
RESEE Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack 10/11 1 2/2 1/2 oA
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Notes:

1. Attendances of each of the Directors appointed or resigned during the Year
were made by reference to the number of such meetings held during their
respective tenures.

2. Mr. Zhang Yi was appointed as an Executive Director with effect from 12
July 2016.

3.  Mr. Deng Jinguang resigned as an Executive Director with effect from 12
July 2016.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
budget, annual and interim results, Directors’ appointment or re-
appointment (based on the recommendations made by the
Nomination Committee), material contracts and transactions,
corporate governance as well as other significant policy and
financial matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
responsibility to the executive management under the instruction/
supervision of the Executive Committee which has its specific
written terms of reference. The respective functions of the Board
and the management of the Company have been formalised and
set out in writing and are reviewed by the Board from time to time
to ensure that they are consistent with the existing rules and
regulations.

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance each year to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. A notice of a regular
Board meeting of at least 14 days is given to all Directors such
that they are given an opportunity to include matters for discussion
in the agenda. The company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman/Managing Director in
preparing the agenda for meetings and ensures that all applicable
laws, rules and regulations are complied with. The agenda and the
accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors at least 3
days before the intended date of a regular Board meeting (and so
far as practicable for such other Board meetings). Draft minutes of
each Board meeting are circulated to all Directors for their
comment before being tabled at the following Board meeting for
approval. All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are
open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any Director.

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial
Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to
be considered by the Board, which the Board has determined to
be material, the matter will be dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. The amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”) also stipulate that save for the exceptions
as provided therein, a Director shall not vote (nor shall he/she be
counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board in respect
of any contract, arrangement or proposal in which such Director or
any of his/her close associates has a material interest.
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Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and the
related materials and to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.
Directors are continuously updated on the major development of
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance
practices. In addition, a written procedure was established in
December 2011 to enable the Directors, in discharge of their
duties, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the Company.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

For continuous professional development (“CPD”), in addition to
Directors’ attendance at meetings and review of papers and
circulars sent by the management of the Company, the Directors
participated in the activities including the following:

SHERBEEXERRED
Participation in CPD Activities
HERESSE
BRZEZI
IEkih= 1V
23
Attending
trainings/
briefings/
seminars/
MEERESR conference
Reading relevant to
Regulatory Directors’
EEnE Name of Directors Updates duties
HITES: Executive Directors:
=R EER) Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman) v v
BEBEE(EFLLE) Mr. Ng Qing Hai (Managing Director) v v
of Bk S A Mr. Zhang Yi Nete 1 v v
B & e 5 WD) Mr. Deng Jinguang Mete 2 v
BUFHITES: INEDs:
[N Mr. Chan Sze Chung v v
R I M ST A Mr. Zhang Ruibin v v
REESLAE Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack v v
B2 Notes:
1, EZEAH: —ZE—X<E+AHA+-H 1. Date of appointment: 12 July 2016

2. BERAS: —FT—XR"FLtA+=H

2. Date of resignation: 12 July 2016
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Board Diversity

Code provision A.5.6 of the CG Code stipulates that the
Nomination Committee (or the Board) should have a policy
concerning diversity of board members, and should disclose the
policy or a summary of the policy in the corporate governance
report.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in December 2013. The Nomination Committee
has been charged with the review of the Board Diversity Policy.
The Board Diversity Policy sets out the objectives and principles
regarding board diversity for the purpose of achieving the
Company'’s strategic objectives of balanced diversity at the Board
as far as practicable.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, knowledge, professional experience and
skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and the
contribution that the selected candidates may bring to the Board.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separate and
performed by different individuals.

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director
are separate. Mr. Huang Yu, the Chairman of the Board, is
responsible for leadership and effective running of the Board, while
Mr. Ng Qing Hai, the Managing Director, is responsible for overall
management of the Group.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria for the
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the
Company.
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Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package
from the Company Secretary on the first occasion of his/her
appointment. This induction package is a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the responsibilities and on-going
obligations to be observed by a director pursuant to the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (the “Ordinance”), Listing Rules and
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”). In
addition, this induction package includes materials briefly
describing the operations and business of the Company, the latest
published financial reports of the Company and the documentation
for the corporate governance practices adopted by the Board.
Directors are continuously updated on any major developments of
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance
practices.

All INEDs were appointed for a specific term, but subject to the
relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office but are eligible for re-election. Details of the term of
appointment of the INEDs are set out in the section headed
“Terms of Office for the Independent Non-Executive Directors”
contained in the Directors’ Report on page 62 of this annual
report.

According to the Articles of Association, at each AGM, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation. Further, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment whilst for those appointed as an addition to the
Board shall hold office until the next AGM and in both cases,
those Directors shall then be eligible for re-election at the relevant
meeting. Every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance
duties and has adopted the written terms of reference on its
corporate governance functions in April 2012.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance
functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and CPD of Directors
and senior management;

(i)  reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;
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(iv)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(v)  reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board has performed the corporate
governance duties in accordance with its terms of reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Executive Committee, each of which has its
specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the
Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board members and the
committees are required to report back to the Board on their
decisions and recommendations where appropriate. The
procedures and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned
in the section headed “The Board” of this report, have been
adopted for the committee meetings so far as practicable.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is chaired by the Chairman of the
Board and comprises a majority of INEDs. Currently, the
Nomination Committee consists of five members, namely Mr.
Huang Yu (Chairman of the Nomination Committee) and Mr. Ng
Qing Hai, who are executive Directors, and Mr. Chan Sze Chung,
Mr. Zhang Ruibin and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack, who are INEDs.

The primary duty of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on matters including nomination
and appointment of directors, succession planning and structure
and composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee is
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and it can
seek independent professional advice according to the Company’s
policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of
the Nomination Committee are included in its terms of reference,
which are available on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in
accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with
matters by way of circulation. A Nomination Committee meeting
was held in 2016 and the attendance of each member is set out in
the section headed “The Board” of this report. In addition to the
above-mentioned Nomination Committee meeting, the Nomination
Committee also dealt with matters by way of circulation during
2016. During the Year and up to the date of this report, the major
work performed by the Nomination Committee was as follows:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
proposed resolutions for re-election of Directors, including
Mr. Ng Qing Hai, Mr. Zhang Yi and Mr. Chan Sze Chung, at
2016 AGM;

(if) reviewed the structure, size, composition of the Board taking
into account the Board Diversity Policy;

(i)  reviewed the independence of INEDs;

(iv)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
renewal of an INED’s appointment and relevant terms of the
appointment;

(v)  recommended for the Board’s approval of the proposed
appointment of Executive Director and the proposed new
compositions of each of the Executive Committee and the
Share Dealing Committee;

(vi)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
extension of retirement age of the Managing Director of the
Company; and

(vi)  recommended for the Board’s approval of the formation of
investment committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members,
namely Mr. Zhang Ruibin (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Chan Sze Chung and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack, all
being the INEDs.

The primary duty of the Remuneration Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for remuneration of all directors and senior management
of the Group and other matters relating to remuneration. The
remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring by the
Remuneration Committee to ensure that their remuneration and
compensation are reasonable. The Remuneration Committee is
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and it can
seek independent professional advice according to the Company’s
policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of
the Remuneration Committee are included in its terms of reference,
which are available on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. Two Remuneration
Committee meetings were held in 2016 and the attendance of each
member is set out in the section headed “The Board” of this
report. In addition to the above Remuneration Committee
meetings, the Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by
way of circulation during 2016. During the Year and up to the date
of this report, the Remuneration Committee had performed the
work as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
existing policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors
and senior management;

(if) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management
for the year ended 31 December 2015, and the salary
increments of the Executive Directors for the Year;

(i) recommended for the Board’s approval of the proposed grant
of share options to the Directors and senior management;
and

(iv)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
remuneration package of new Executive Director.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director’s fee which is to be
proposed for the Shareholders’ approval at the AGM each year.
Further remuneration payable to the Directors (including any
service fees of the INEDs) for their additional responsibilities and
services will depend on their respective contractual terms under
their respective employment contracts or service contracts as
approved by the Board on the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration
are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report while detailed changes in the emoluments of
certain Directors during the period for the six months ended 30
June 2016 (the “2016 Interim Period”) and up to the date of the
interim report of the Company for the 2016 Interim Period (the
“Interim Report”), being 26 August 2016, were also disclosed in the
Interim Report. Details of the remuneration policy of the Group are
also set out in the “Employees” section contained in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 18 of this annual
report.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
than the Directors) whose particulars are contained in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
in the Directors’ Report for the Year by band is set out in note 10
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of three INEDs, namely Mr.
Chan Sze Chung (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Zhang
Ruibin and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack. To retain independence and
objectivity, it is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The primary duty of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in
its oversight of the completeness, accuracy and fairness of the
financial statements of the Company, of the effectiveness and
adequacy of risk management and internal control systems, of the
independence of the external auditor and of the performance and
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit and compliance
function. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and it can seek independent professional
advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.
The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are included
in its terms of reference, which are available on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee
meetings were held during the Year and the attendance of each
member is set out in the section headed “The Board” of this
report. In addition to the above Audit Committee meetings, the
Audit Committee also dealt with matters by way of circulation
during the Year.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Audit
Committee had performed the work as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed
by the external auditor in respect of the final audit for the
Year (the “2016 Final Audit”) of the Group;

(if) reviewed the independent review report/audit completion
report from the external auditor and the management’s
response in relation to the final audit for the year ended 31
December 2015, the interim results review for the 2016
Interim Period and 2016 Final Audit;

(i)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
financial reports for the year ended 31 December 2015, for the
2016 Interim Period and for the Year together with the relevant
management representation letters and announcements;

(iv)  reviewed the internal audit review report/summary (the “IA
Reports”) prepared by the Internal Audit Department (the
“IAD”) and instructed that the issues raised would be
addressed and managed by the management;
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(v)  reviewed and recommended for the Board's approval of the
Risk Management Report;

(vi)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
updated reports on substantiation of the resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget; and

(vi)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review of
the Connected Transaction Policies, the Related Party
Transaction Policies and Procedures, the Whistle Blower
Policy, the Policy on the Disclosure of Inside Information and
the Code of Conduct and Compliance Manual.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently consists of three Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman of the Executive
Committee), Mr. Ng Qing Hai and Mr. Zhang Yi.

The Executive Committee is vested with all the general powers of
management and control of the activities of the Group as are
vested in the Board, save for those matters which are reserved for
the Board’s decision and approval pursuant to the written terms of
reference of the Executive Committee.

The Executive Committee will meet as and when necessary to
discuss the operating affairs of the Group and may also deal with
matters by way of circulation. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for undertaking and supervising the day-to-day
management and is empowered to:

(i) formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(i) plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the
Group as determined by the Board.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, following a specific enquiry made by the Company, that
they had complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code during the Year. Relevant Employees who, because of
their office in the Company, are likely to be in possession of inside
information have been requested to comply with the provisions of
the Model Code.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing, with
the support from the finance department of the Company, the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the Year, the accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been adopted
and the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the
Ordinance have been complied with. The Directors believe that they
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, and made judgements and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable and ensure the consolidated financial statements
are prepared on a going concern basis. The reporting responsibilities
of the Company’s external auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are
set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 70 to 76 of
this annual report.

Risk Management and Internal Control

During the Year, the Group has engaged an external consultant to
provide assistance in the development of a structured approach to
risk management and adopted a risk management policy (the “Risk
Management Policy”).

The Risk Management Policy was presented to and approved by
the Board. We highlighted the key features of the Group’s
structured risk management approach as follows:

l. Risk governance structure

The Group’s risk management framework is guided by the
“Three Lines of Defense” model as shown below:

E=xg

Board of Directors

EREEY
Audit Committee

F—BlKR — EEER
(R B2 B 4E)
First line of defense —
| Operational Management
\ (Risk Ownership)

—ElAR — E R E IR

Second line of defense —
Risk Management Functions

<

Y

FEZEBHR — ABEZ
(& B2 R E)
Third line of defense —
Internal Audit
(Risk Assurance) W,

(2 e 72 1)

(Risk Control)

<\
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Board of Directors

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Group’s strategic business objectives,
and ensuring the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
controls systems.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss; to manage
rather than completely eliminate the risk of system failure; and
to assist in the achievement of the Group’s agreed objectives
and goals. It is a key role in the management of risks that
are significant to the fulfilment of business objectives. In
addition to safeguarding the Group’s assets, it should provide
a basis for the maintenance of proper accounting records
and assist in the compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

The Board, through the Audit Committee and with the
assistance of the IAD, conducted risk management and
internal control reviews of the business operations for the
Year and considered it to be effective and adequate during
the Year.

Risks Management Committee

The Risks Management Committee is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s overall risk management framework
and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-related matters.
It was formerly named as Credit and Risks Management
Committee and renamed the Risk Management Committee
with effect from 30 December 2016. It currently consists of
five members, namely Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack (Chairman of the
Risks Management Committee), Mr. Chan Sze Chung, Mr.
Zhang Ruibin, who are the INEDs, and Mr. Huang Yu and Mr.
Ng Qing Hai, who are the Executive Directors.

Risk Management Team

The Risk Management Team is responsible for maintenance
of the effectiveness of the risk management framework and
co-ordination of risk management activities. The Risk
Management Team provides input and feedback on the
development of the risk management framework, assists in
promoting the framework and its processes, and has
oversight on the bottom-up reports and top risk records prior
to the submission to the Risks Management Committee.

First line of defense
At the first line of defense, operating subsidiaries of the
Group, as the risk owners, are responsible for identifying,

assessing and monitoring risks associated with each
business operations.
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Second line of defense

The Directors and senior management teams of the
respective business units, as the second line of defense, are
responsible for assessing relevant risks and carrying out
necessary control activities, exercising appropriate
supervision to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of
control over activities within and between different
departments, and assessing and presenting regular reports to
the Risk Management Team.

Third line of defense

As the third line of defense, the IAD performs internal audit
work on annual basis and ensures that the first and second
lines of defence are effective. It provides independent
assurance to the Audit Committee and the Board on the
adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls for the
Group.

Risk management process

In 2016, the Group uses a blended top-down and bottom-up
approach for identifying risks. Sources of risk, areas of
impact, events and their potential consequences are
identified. A risk universe has been created to ensure the
entire spectrum risks are captured. The identified risks are
categorised into Financial, Operational, Reputation and
Human Resources.

The Group uses a 5-by-5 risk matrix (“heat map”) to assess
risks. The risk rating is scored in terms of the consequence
and likelihood of occurrence. Risks are rated according to
their residual risk levels. Residual risk levels refer to the
scoring of risks which exist, taking into account all existing
controls. The result from the risk analysis is evaluated to
determine whether or not identified risks are within
predefined risk appetite and tolerance levels.

Based on the risk evaluation, risks are transferred, eliminated
or effectively controlled through proposed risk mitigation
measures. Each proposed risk mitigation measure has a
designated risk owner and an expected completion date
assigned to ensure accountability for risk mitigation, which is
documented in the top risk records of the Group.
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We highlighted below the reporting channel and frequency of
our key risk reporting activities:

Bottom-up reporting: From operating subsidiaries to the Risk
Management Team

Prepares and updates the risk register of the operating
subsidiaries (annually)

The remediation status of the proposed risk mitigation
measure documented in the top risk records (semi-
annually)

Any significant risks identified from operating
subsidiaries (semi-annually)

Any risks that exceed the risk appetite of the Group (real
time)

From the Risk Management Team to the Risks Management
Committee and the Board

46

The remediation status of top risks (semi-annually)
Any updates to the risk universe (semi-annually)

Update of risk management policy, risk

assessment criteria (annually)

including

Top risk identification including top risk dashboard, risk
universe and top risk records (annually)

Any risks that exceed the risk appetite of the Group (real
time)
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Annual confirmation

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss; to manage
rather than completely eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives. It has a key role in the management of
risks that are significant to the fulfilment of business
objectives. The Board, through the Audit Committee and with
the assistance of the IAD, conducted risk management and
internal control reviews of the business operations for the
Year and considered it to be effective and adequate for the
Year. The management has provided a confirmation to the
Risk Management Committee (and the Board) on the
effectiveness of these systems for the year ended 31
December 2016.

Internal Audit

The IAD reports to the Audit Committee. The IAD plays an
important role in providing assurance to the Board that a
sound internal control system is maintained and operated by
the management.

The IA Reports were issued to the Audit Committee and the
Board for review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
internal audit function. A discussion of the policies and
procedures on the management of each of the major types
of risk which the Group is facing is included in the section
headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in the Directors’
Report on page 53 of this annual report. The issues raised in
the IA Reports would be addressed and managed promptly
by the management, and the Audit Committee and the Board
are satisfied that there are adequate risk management and
internal control systems in the Company.

Handling and dissemination of inside information

The Company has a policy with regard to the principles and
procedures for handling and disseminating the inside information of
the Company in compliance with the requirements under Part XIVA
of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling
and dissemination of inside information, which includes:

Designated reporting channel from relevant officers in
possession of potential inside information informing such
information to the persons designated by the Board (the
“Designated Persons”);

Designated Persons to assess the potential inside information
and provide advice, and where appropriate, to escalate such
information for the attention of the Board to resolve on
further actions complying with applicable laws and
regulations; and

Restrictive access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis.
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External Auditor’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Group’s external auditor in
respect of audit services and non-audit services for the Year is set
out as follows:

FTEx
HK$’000
BAREEIRME 2 RS Services rendered for the Group
% 8 AR5 Audit services 2,500
B RS (BIERMPEEE R EM)  Non-audit services (including review of interim results
and others) 220
Et Total 2,720
RNEME COMPANY SECRETARY

RSB RERARBZARMEREREY
B LHRBEI2MFMRE  BTAZA
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Ms. Si Tou Man Wai is the Company Secretary and the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company. Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
stipulates that an issuer’s company secretary is required to take no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in each financial
year. Ms. Si Tou has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to the Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made available on the
website of the Company.

In addition to publication of information, the general meetings of the
Company provide important opportunities for constructive
communication between the Board and the Shareholders.

The 2016 AGM was held on 3 June 2016. The Chairman of the
Board took the chair of the 2016 AGM to ensure shareholders’
views are communicated to the Board. The chairman of each of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee were also present thereat to answer any
question to ensure effective communication with the Shareholders.
The attendance record of the Directors at the AGM is set out in
the section headed “The Board” of this report.
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The chairman of any independent Board committee formed as
necessary or pursuant to the Listing Rules (or if no such chairman
is appointed, at least a member of the independent Board
committee) should also be available to answer questions of the
Shareholders at any general meeting to approve a connected
transaction or any other transaction that is subject to independent
Shareholders’ approval.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meeting for each
substantial issue, including but not limited to the re-election of
Directors and the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
the independent auditor of the Company.

During the Year, extraordinary general meetings of the Company
were held (i) on 15 April 2016 to approve the acquisition of certain
equity interests in JE R E KX K EF R A A (Beiing Ziguang
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*) (“Ziguang Pharmaceutical”’); and (i) on 15
July 2016 to approve the change of the English name of the
Company from “Allied Cement Holdings Limited” to “Tongfang
Kontafarma Holdings Limited” and the dual foreign name in
Chinese of the Company from “Bt &CEIZERBR QA" to “H 5
EEREEEEER AT with effect from 20 July 2016.

The notice to Shareholders is sent at least 20 clear business days
before the meeting in the case of AGM and at least 10 clear
business days in case of all other general meetings. An
explanation of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is
provided to the Shareholders at the commencement of the
meeting. The Chairman answers questions from Shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll. The poll results are published in
the manner prescribed under the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company can request the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting according to Article 64 of the
Articles of Association by written requisition, with stated business
proposed to be transacted, which must be validly served at the
head office and principal place of business of the Company
registered in Hong Kong (the “Head Office”) or at Tricor Secretaries
Limited, the branch share registrar of the Company (the
“Registration Office”). Besides, Shareholders may make a proposal
at a Shareholders’ meeting by submitting it in written form to the
Board at the Head Office or at the Registration Office in the form
of a proposed resolution, which shall clearly and concisely set out
the proposal for discussion and be relevant to the Company’s
business scope.
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The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy.
A Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board to the Head
Office for the attention of the Board in written form, which shall
state the nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the
enquiry. In addition, Shareholders can contact the Registration
Office for any questions about their shareholdings.

As regards a proposed election of a person as a Director, the

procedures are available on the website of the Company at
http:/www.tfkf.com.hk.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of potential legal actions against its directors and officers.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to Rule 13.90 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
posted its Articles of Association on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company. During the Year, no
amendments were made to the constitutional documents of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Huang Yu
Chairman

24 March 2017

* For identification purpose only
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EEgRE
Directors’ Report

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Tongfang Kontafarma
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) presents their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2016 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities and details of its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2016 are set out in note 50 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

The Group’s revenue for the Year was derived mainly from
activities carried out in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the Year set out in note 5
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

SUBDIVISION OF SHARES AND CHANGE IN
BOARD LOT SIZE

On 19 December 2014, the Company announced that each of the
then issued and unissued shares in the share capital of the
Company of par value of HK$0.01 each be subdivided into five
shares of par value of HK$0.002 each (the “Share Subdivision”)
and the board lot size for trading on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) be changed from 3,000
shares of the Company to 6,000 shares of the Company.

The Share Subdivision took effect after the approval of the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 19 January
2015.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM OPEN OFFER

On 22 December 2014, the Company completed an open offer
(the “Open Offer”) to raise approximately HK$495.0 million (before
costs and expenses) by way of the Open Offer of 330,000,000
new ordinary shares of the Company (“‘Offer Shares”) at a
subscription price of HK$1.5 per Offer Share on the basis of one
Offer Share for every two ordinary shares of the Company held on
the record date, 28 November 2014, on the terms pursuant to the
underwriting agreement dated 7 November 2014 (the “Underwriting
Agreement”) entered into among the Company, China Health
Management Investment Limited and First Shanghai Securities
Limited in respect of the underwriting and other arrangement in
respect of the Open Offer. Details of the Open Offer and the
completion of the Open Offer were set out in the Company
announcements dated 7 November 2014 and 22 December 2014
and the Company’s listing document dated 1 December 2014. The
net proceeds raised upon completion after deduction of relevant
costs and expenses were approximately HK$487.3 million. It was
intended that the entire amount of the net proceeds would be
applied by the Group in the funding of the development of and/or
investment in pharmaceutical and health industry business.
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As of 31 December 2016, a total of approximately HK$375.7 million
of the net proceeds from the Open Offer had been utilised in the
following manner:

(i) as to approximately HK$338.9 million in the settlement of the
consideration for the acquisition of 60% equity interest in
b &R E 2 H R AR (Beiing Ziguang Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd*) (“Ziguang Pharmaceutical”); and

(i) as to approximately HK$36.8 million in the investment in
medical research with a focus in immunology and small
molecule.

The remaining balance of the net proceeds from the Open Offer in
the amount of approximately HK$111.6 million will be used as
intended.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 77 to 78 of this annual report
and in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for
the Year (2015: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the Company’s reserves during the Year are set out in
note 49 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
totalling approximately HK$48.9 million.

Details of these and other movements in property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the Year are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016 is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” from pages 5 to 7,
pages 8 to 19 and pages 20 to 31 of this annual report and the
paragraphs below. The discussion and analysis in the “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” form part of this
Directors’ Report.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Cement Business in the PRC

The cement business of the Group are mainly conducted in the
PRC, the economic conditions in the PRC have a significant
impact on the operating results and financial conditions for the
cement business of the Group. The Group’s average selling price
of cement products fluctuates along with demand and supply of
the PRC cement market. Moreover, the cement industry is highly
competitive in the PRC. The cement business of the Group
competes with its competitors for customers, raw materials, energy
resources, distribution network and skilled labour force. Although,
the Group cannot control market conditions but believes it has
effective measures in place to respond to changes. The Group will
continue to focus on the basis of pricing of our products, our
service, variety of product offerings, access to resources, sales
and marketing, network, production efficiency and brand image to
mitigate and control the various risks.

Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Business in the PRC

Medical system reform and changes in policies and regulations
have many direct impacts on Ziguang Pharmaceutical and its
subsidiaries. For example, the reform of the drug registration
system fully tests the companies’ research and development
strength, self-examination and consistency evaluation test the
companies’ financial strength, the implementation of the Two-
Invoice System brings substantial challenges to the companies’
operating model, while adjustments to the medical insurance
catalogue and control over excessive medical insurance
expenditures bring great challenges to the companies’ sustainable
development. The companies shall take effective measures to
reduce the impact of these macro-control policies, and any of them
will have a material impact on the companies if not handled
properly.

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks, a discussion of
the policies and procedures on the management of each of the
major types of financial risks which the Group is facing is included
in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations
Details of compliance with relevant laws and regulations are set out

in “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 20 to
31 of this annual report.
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Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

Details of relationships with employees, customers and suppliers
are set out in “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on
pages 20 to 31 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company are set out
in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Particulars of the share award scheme of the Company are set out
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the amended
and restated articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Bank and other borrowings of the Group which are repayable
within one year are classified as current liabilities. Repayment
analysis of bank and other borrowings of the Group is set out in
note 33 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report. The Group had not capitalised any interest during the Year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results as well as the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 192 of this
annual report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
Shares (the “Shares”).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) during the Year and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Qing Hai (Managing Director)
Mr. Zhang Yi

(Date of appointment: 12 July 2016)
Mr. Deng Jinguang

(Date of resignation: 12 July 2016)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sze Chung
Mr. Zhang Ruibin
Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Ng Qing
Hai and Mr. Chan Sze Chung shall retire from office by rotation
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 20 June 2017
(the “2017 AGM”).

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang Yi
shall hold office until the first general meeting of the Company
after his appointment and subject to re-election at such meeting.
Since Mr. Zhang Yi was not offered for re-election at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 15 July
2016, he shall retire at the 2017 AGM and, being eligible, offer
himself for re-election at the 2017 AGM.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Huang Yu, aged 48, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company (the “Executive Director”) and Chairman of the Board on
15 March 2014 and 24 July 2014, respectively. Mr. Huang was also
appointed as a chairman of each of the executive committee,
nomination committee, share dealing committee and investment
committee of the Company and a member of the risks
management committee of the Company. He is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Huang obtained a
master’s degree in science from the University of Greenwich. He is
the chairman of the board of directors of Shenzhen Huakong Seg
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 68), the issued shares of which are listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, an executive director of Shenzhen
Aorongxin Investment Development Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen
Aorongxin”), the chairman of supervisory committee of Penghua
Fund Management Co., Ltd and the vice chairman and president of
Tsinghua Tongfang Co., Ltd.* (“Tsinghua Tongfang”) (stock code:
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600100), the issued shares of which are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. Mr. Huang is also the chairman of Technovator
International Limited (stock code: 1206) , the issued shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange and Neo-Neon Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1868), the issued shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange.

Ng Qing Hai, aged 60, was appointed as a Director of the
Company in March 2011 and was re-designated as an Executive
Director of the Company in December 2011. Mr. Ng was also
appointed as the Managing Director and a member of each of the
executive committee, nomination committee, risks management
committee and share dealing committee of the Company. Mr. Ng is
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ng
completed a three-year course in finance and accounting in
building materials industry in the faculty of enterprises management
at Shanghai Institute of Building Materials Industry in 1983. He is a
non-practising member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Ng was the 6th vice chairman of Shanghai
Cement Industrial Association of the PRC, and was a fellow
member of the Asian Knowledge Management Association from
November 2005 to November 2006. He was appointed as a
member of 11th Shandong Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference in January 2013. Mr. Ng
was the chief executive officer (from 15 May 2001 to 20 April
2010), the president (from 15 May 2001 to 24 June 2014) and an
executive director (from 15 May 2001 to 24 June 2014) of
ChinaVision Media Group Limited (now known as Alibaba Pictures
Group Limited) (stock code: 1060), the issued shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ng was a non-executive director
of Tian An China Investments Company Limited (stock code: 28),
the issued shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from
18 January 2012 to 18 January 2013. Mr. Ng was a non-executive
director of China Shanshui Cement Group Limited (stock code:
0691), the issued shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange from 1 December 2015 to 2 February 2016. Mr. Ng was
appointed as a director (on 27 June 2014) and the general
manager (on 21 December 2015) of Grand Ocean Retail Group
Limited (security code: 5907), the issued shares of which are listed
on the Taiwan Stock Exchange, and the president (on 21
December 2015) and the director as well as the chairman (on 18
October 2016) of its subsidiary, Grand Ocean Department Stores
Group Ltd. He is a director of First Steamship Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 2601), the issued shares of which are listed on the Taiwan
Stock Exchange, with effect from 11 July 2016. Mr. Ng is a
younger brother of Mr. Huang Wuhu, a member of the senior
management of the Group.
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Zhang Yi, aged 39, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in July 2016. He was also appointed as a member of
each of the executive committee and share dealing committee of
the Company. Mr. Zhang is also a director of certain subsidiaries
and a joint venture entity of the Group. Mr. Zhang graduated from
Saint Joseph’s University with a Master of Science degree in
September 2002. He obtained an Executive Master's degree in
Business Administration from the China Europe International
Business School in October 2011. Mr. Zhang has over 15 years of
experience in the pharmaceutical industry. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Zhang was the general manager of & = 78 5 J7 &5 3
% 3 B BR A &) (Chongqging Sine Oriental Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*),
the deputy general manager of the sales & marketing department
of the prescription Drug Division of /G2 % (&£E)HR A A
(Shanghai Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd.*), the general manager
of EBEE KX — %X F R QA (Shanghai Sine Tianyi
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*) and the chairman of +/8{S:E KX ZE@E
HEE BB AT (Shanghai Sine Pharmacy Chain Operating Co.,
Ltd*) (now known as E/8ZEKILEKNEREAFR AR (Shanghai Hua
Shi Northern Region Pharmacy Co., Ltd.”). In addition, he was the
vice-chairman and president of Ziguang Pharmaceutical. Currently,
Mr. Zhang is the senior vice president of Tsinghua Tongfang (stock
code: 600100), the issued shares of which are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, and a director and the vice president of
FUMERFTEEEEHBR DA (Shenzhen Waranty Asset
Management Co., Ltd.").

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Chan Sze Chung, aged 47, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company (the “INED”) on 20
December 2011. He entered into a new appointment letter with the
Company on 17 January 2016 upon the expiry of previous terms
with a term from 18 January 2016 until 17 January 2018. He is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of each of the
remuneration committee, nomination committee, risks management
committee and investment committee of the Company. He
graduated from the University of Wales with a bachelor of arts
degree in accounting and finance in July 1991 and obtained a
master of arts degree in accounting and finance at the University
of Lancaster in December 1992. Mr. Chan is a certified public
accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Besides, he is also recognised as a chartered
financial analyst by the CFA Institute of the United States of
America. Prior to joining the Company, he acted as the chief
financial officer (from December 2009 to August 2010) of
Coolpoint Energy Limited (now known as Viva China Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 8032), the issued shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange, as the acting chief financial officer (from
September 2008 to March 2009) of Nam Tai Electronic & Electrical
Products Limited, the issued shares of which were previously listed
on the Stock Exchange, and as the vice chief financial officer (from
March 2009 to November 2009) of Nam Tai Electronics, Inc. (now
known as Nam Tai Property Inc.) (NYSE: NTP), the issued shares
of which are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. During the
period from January 1993 to August 1997, Mr. Chan was employed
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and served as a senior accountant at
the time of his resignation.
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Zhang Ruibin, aged 44, was appointed as an INED of the
Company on 24 July 2014. Mr. Zhang was also appointed as the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of each of
the audit committee, nomination committee, risks management
committee and investment committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang
holds a doctoral degree in statistics from the Xiamen University. He
was a postdoctoral research fellow at the Renmin University of
China and B A RIF1TE B FEFT. He was qualified as a senior
economist by EHAAEE. He was qualified as a certified
treasury professional of The Association for Financial Professionals.
He has been awarded the research project second prize by The
Securities Association of China and the key research project third
prize by the People’s Bank of China. Mr. Zhang was an external
director of Moutai Group Company Limited. Mr. Zhang has been (i)
an independent director of Guizhou Panjiang Refined Coal Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 600395), the issued shares of which are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, since 18 May 2013; (ii) an independent
director of China Zhenhua (Group) Science & Technology Co. Ltd.
(stock code: 000733), the issued shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since 25 July 2014; (i) an independent
director of Guizhou Qianyuan Power Co., Ltd. (stock code:
002039), the issued shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, since 12 September 2014; and (iv) an executive
director of Beijing Wudaokou Education & Technology Co., Ltd.
since 22 July 2016.

Zhang Junxi Jack, aged 53, was appointed as an INED of the
Company on 21 August 2015. Mr. Zhang was also appointed as
the chairman of the risks management committee and a member
of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang graduated from
the Nankai University with a bachelor degree in Physics in July
1983. He obtained a master of business administration degree
established jointly by the Ministry of Education of the People’s
Republic of China (formerly known as the State Education
Commission of the People’s Republic of China), Nankai University
and Canadian International Development Agency in July 1986. Mr.
Zhang also obtained a doctoral degree in the Department of
Economics at the University of Pittsburgh in the United States in
August 1992. Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in the
field of economics, financial and business management, and mainly
engaged in teaching and research work in the aspect of Monetary
Economics and Finance. Mr. Zhang has been an independent
director of China Bohai Bank Co., Ltd. since February 2013, the
vice principal of the Tianjin University of Finance and Economics
since December 2011 and a part-time professor of China Center
for Economic Research in Peking University since September
2000. From April 2007 to March 2010, he was an investment
strategy and development analyst of Binhai Investment Company
Limited (stock code: 2886), the issued shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange. From August 1992 to August 1995, Mr.
Zhang taught in the Department of Economics of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong, and he was engaged in teaching and
researching at the University of Dundee in the United Kingdom
from August 1995 to July 1997. Mr. Zhang taught in the National
University of Singapore from July 1997 to August 1998. From
September 1998 to August 2012, he has been a doctoral tutor in
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the School of Economics and Finance at The University of Hong
Kong. Mr. Zhang is an internationally well-known financial
economist, he has been the dean of the China Academy of
Finance and Development at the Central University of Finance and
Economics from September 2006 to August 2009 and the dean of
the Institute of Finance and Development at the Nankai University
from September 2009 to April 2012.

Senior Management

Huang Wuhu, aged 64, joined the Group in June 2001, is a
director and the general manager of Shandong Shanghai Allied
Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shandong SAC”) and the chairman of
Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Limited (“Allied Wangchao”),
both of which are subsidiaries of the Company. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Huang worked for various unions in Nan’an City of
Fujian province, the PRC, now known as Fujian Nan’an Rural
Cooperative Bank, for more than twenty years. He was a
registered planner in the PRC and was qualified as a finance
economist and was also qualified as an international senior
occupation manager by the China Manager Society. Mr. Huang
was appointed as a member of the 7th to 9th Zaozhuang
Committee of the China People’s Political Consultative Conference.
He is an elder brother of Mr. Ng Qing Hai, an Executive Director of
the Company.

Li Chao, aged 54, joined the Group in February 2002. He is
currently the financial controller and a director of Shanghai Allied
Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai SAC”) and also a director of Allied
Wangchao, both of which are subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Li
completed a three-year course in finance and accounting in
building materials industry in the faculty of enterprises management
at the Shanghai Institute of Building Materials Industry in 1983. In
2001, he completed a three-year part-time post-graduate course in
economic management at Party School of Chinese Communist
Party of Hubei province, the PRC. Mr. Li was qualified as a senior
accountant by the Professional Title Reform Office of Hubei
province in 1996.

Yu Zhong, aged 54, was appointed a Director in March 2011 and
redesignated as an Executive Director from December 2011 to 15
March 2014. He joined Shanghai SAC in December 1993 and is
currently a director and the vice general manager of Shanghai
SAC, and has been a director of Allied Wangchao since December
2003. He served as the deputy general manager of Shandong
SAC, for the period from June 2001 to July 2004. Mr. Yu
completed a two-and-a-half-year course in cement craftsmanship
at the Shanghai School of Building Materials in 1982 and in 1988,
he graduated from the Shanghai Light Industry Authority Workers
College in industrial enterprise management. In 1993, Shanghai
Building Material Authority certified that Mr. Yu was qualified as an
economist.
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Zhang Shoutian, aged 65, joined the Group in June 2005. He
has been the financial controller of Shandong SAC and Allied
Wangchao since December 2006. Mr. Zhang completed a two-year
course in finance and accounting for infrastructure from the Li Xin
Accounting Institute in 1991 and a two-and-a-half-year part-time
course in economic management at the Party School of Chinese
Communist Party of Shandong province in 1996. Prior to joining
the Group, he served as a finance officer at the Tengzhou Water
Resources Bureau for more than ten years, and was the deputy
head of finance department, the head of audit division and a
supervisor of China United Cement Lunan Co., Ltd. for about five
years respectively.

Huang Zhenwei, aged 46, joined the Group in January 2014, is
the vice general manager of Shandong SAC, and the general
manager of Allied Wangchao. Mr. Huang graduated from the
Department of Economics and Management at Xiamen University
with a bachelor’s degree in 1993. He graduated from the Open
University of Hong Kong with a master of Business Administration
degree in 2001. He was qualified as a China’s international senior
occupation manager by BIZR AZE B (the Ministry of Personnel of
the PRC*) in 2002. He was appointed as a representative of the
16th People’s Congress of Zaozhuang. Prior to joining the Group,
he acted as the chief of the financial division of 48 #&& E M/t %
(Fujian Zhangzhou Chemical Factory*) for one year, and worked for
the government of Luodong Town, Nan’an City, Fujian Province for
ten years.

Si Tou Man Wai, aged 39, was appointed as the chief financial
officer and the company secretary of the Company on 7
November 2014. Ms. Si Tou holds a master of commerce degree
in funds management and a bachelor of commerce degree in
accounting and finance from the University of New South Wales.
Ms. Si Tou has more than 16 years of experience in audit and
financial advisory services including mergers and acquisitions,
valuation and reorganisation. Prior to joining the Company, she
worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in Hong Kong. Ms. Si Tou is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Australia. From 29 June 2015 to 26 September
2016, she was an independent non-executive director of Pak Wing
Group (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8316), the issued shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Chen Yi, aged 52, joined the Group in August 2015. He has
served as the president of Beijing Huakong Kangtai Healthcare
Management Co., Ltd.*, a subsidiary of the Company, since August
2015. Mr. Chen obtained a master’'s degree in Business
Administration from the Business School of Fordham University,
New York, the USA. He also studied an Executive Master of
Business Administration (EMBA) course in the Centre for Economic
Research of Peking University and a special course in pharmacy of
Peking University Health Science Center. Prior to joining the
Company, he worked at Peking University Health Science Center
and several multinational well-known pharmaceutical enterprises,
such as PKU Healthcare Industrial Group Co., Ltd.*, CITIC Medical
& Health Group Co., Limited®, in the field of healthcare industry
investment and industrialised operation. He has extensive
experience in merger and acquisition projects of hospitals in the
PRC and cooperation with overseas medical resources. He has led
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and participated in the mergers and acquisitions and initial public
offerings of shares for various large medical and pharmaceutical
projects. He is a senior investor in the medical and pharmaceutical
industry, and is experienced in the investment, market,
management and operation of overseas and domestic
pharmaceutical and healthcare industry. During his tenure in CITIC
Medical & Health Group Co., Limited*, he was mainly responsible
for the company’s strategic planning on medical industry,
investment and mergers and acquisitions and leading various
restructuring and mergers and acquisitions of private and public
hospitals, and has extensive experience, in particular, in the
restructuring of public hospital system and research of property
rights.

Jiang Chaowen, aged 52, joined the Group in July 2016, is the
president of Ziguang Pharmaceutical and the chairman of Hi 8 4&
(b)) £ R M AR A7 (SPF (Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd.*).
Mr. Jiang graduated from School of Business Administration of
Chongqing University with a master of Business Administration
degree, during which time he further studied at such institutions as
the Party School of Chinese Communist Party of Chongging City
and Tsinghua University. Prior to joining the Group, he held
positions of general manager and chairman in various companies,
including PAEI &% —y (The First South-west Pharmaceutical
Factory*), EEEREMIEZBR2AF (Chongging Jiachen Biological
Engineering Co., Ltd."), Chongging Jewelland Pharmaceutical
Development Co., Ltd. and Si Chuan Jewelland Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. He has nearly 30 years of extensive management
experience in the pharmaceutical industry.

Cao Jie, aged 48, joined the Group in July 2016. He is the
general manager of Huakong Innovation (Beijing) Institute of
Pharmaceutical Research Co., Ltd.*, a subsidiary of the Company.
Mr. Cao obtained his undergraduate degree in Chinese Medicine
from the Tianjin University of Traditional Chinese Medicine in the
year of 1992 and his postgraduate degree from the Tianjin Medical
University in the year of 1998. Mr. Cao has accumulated nearly 25
years of experience in the medical and pharmaceutical industry
working for, amongst others, biotechnology companies and
pharmaceutical science and technology companies where he has
acted as a research and development director for approximately
15 years.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Sze Chung was appointed for a specific term of two
years, which shall continue until 17 January 2018 but subject to
the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office.

For Mr. Zhang Ruibin and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack, their terms of
appointment shall be three years, which commenced on 24 July
2014 and 21 August 2015 respectively and are subject to the
relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURE

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
were as follows:

(@) Interests in the Company

The table below sets out the aggregate long positions in the
Shares and underlying shares of the Directors as at 31
December 2016.

B4 B H REERR
Number of Shares  nNymper of BOBRED
BARESE AT & share Approximate
EEHE Personal Corporate options # %t percentage of
Name of Directors Interests Interests (Note 2) Total shareholdings
= a0 — 3,2683,652,000 — 3,2683,652,000 65.93%
Huang Yu (M 3E1)
(Note 1)
=58 — — 5,000,000 5,000,000 0.10%
Ng Qing Hai
iR Bk — — 20,000,000 20,000,000 0.40%
Zhang i
PR B R - — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.02%
Chan Sze Chung
R B i — — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.02%
Zhang Ruibin
RIEE — — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.02%

Zhang Junxi Jack
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Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2016, Mr. Huang Yu owned 99% interests in
the registered capital of Shenzhen Aorongxin and Shenzhen
Aorongxin owned 52% interests in the registered capital of
Shenzhen Waranty Asset Management Co., Ltd.* (“Shenzhen
Waranty”). Shenzhen Waranty, through its subsidiary, namely
Waranty Assets Management (HK) Limited (“Waranty Hong
Kong”), owned 100% interests in the issued share capital of China
Health Management Investment Limited (“China Health”). Since
China Health is the beneficial owner of 3,263,652,000 Shares, Mr.
Huang Yu was deemed interested in the Shares held by China
Health.

2 Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 22 July 2016
and note 35 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report for further details.

(b) Interest in associated corporation

LB E
EEEDL

(B 49)
Percentage of
interest in the

EEHSR B LiEEE 5 & associated

Name of Director Name of associated corporation Capacity corporation

(approximate)

= e (M EE) RIYIERFE EnBEAA 99%
Huang Yu (Note) Shenzhen Aorongxin Beneficial owner
B 5 Note:

R-ZTE—XNF+-A=+—H8 ZaOLEHEE
G| BB M A AR9% 2 2 N F I B E =
%ﬁmw%@mﬁzﬂﬁﬁzk&%zr* o FRYIIEE
BREEBENBARERETE SRETRRE
REZETRAI00% 2 Em - FEEEEER
3,263,652,0000% B 17 -

BREXPIBEEIN RZT-—RF+A=
T—B BEARFAEEFIRSTHRAER
BEZBZBEALRAR T&/Hﬁﬁﬂwi
(&R EHFBEGFEGIFEXVER) D - 48
R RESPEEEALCHENADRIEE
F M REIRPIFEI2GRERHF 2 ELCHA
SRBRETREMNGARA LB A2 2
BEIAR °

ESRBEREB NS

REARBERREBHIL - RIELTHA
MEEE(BUIFNATEETRIN RSN E
AEBEBHFABARNBEFEBTRE
B o

As at 31 December 2016, Mr. Huang Yu owned 99% interests in the
registered capital of Shenzhen Aorongxin and Shenzhen Aorongxin
owned 52% interests in the registered capital of Shenzhen Waranty.
Shenzhen Waranty, through its subsidiary, Waranty Hong Kong, owned
100% interests in the issued share capital of China Health. China Health
directly held 3,263,652,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), which were recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Year and up to the date of this report, none of the
Directors (not being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in
the businesses which compete or are likely to compete with the
businesses of the Group as defined in the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s businesses to which the Company, its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was a
party or were parties and in which a Director or any entities
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year save for the discloseable and connected transactions
announced by the Company on 28 January 2016. Details of the
transactions were set out in the announcements dated 28 January
2016 and 15 April 2016, and the circular dated 22 March 2016,
respectively.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors and every one
of them is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which the Directors or any of them, shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty in their offices or otherwise in relation thereto
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of the
Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the Year which provides appropriate cover for
legal actions brought against the Directors.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate with the
exception of granting of share options to subscribe for Shares
under the share option scheme.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or executed during the Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2016, so far as it was known by or otherwise
notified to any Directors or the chief executive of the Company, the
following Shareholders (other than a Director or the chief executive
of the Company) had 5% or more interests in the Shares or
underlying shares as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO:

#E
Long Positions
REBDE
(BE49)
B EE Percentage of
BRRERE g% Number of interest in
Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares shareholding
(approximate)
R R ExnlEBEA 3,263,652,000 65.93%
China Health Beneficial owner (M 3ED)
(Note 1)
ERREEFE REGEEE R 3,2683,652,000 65.93%
Waranty Hong Kong Interest of a controlled corporation (H752)
(Note 2)
R IYIEE B 2R REGDEEE S 3,263,652,000 65.93%
Shenzhen Waranty Interest of a controlled corporation (M 5E3)
(Note 3)
A7 & /iR ORI AR AR R EEE R 8,2683,652,000 65.93%
QErEA:)) Interest of a controlled corporation GED)
Tongfang Financial Holdings Co., Ltd* (Note 4)
(“Tongfang Financial”)
[ 77 A REGDEE S 3,377,646,000 68.24%
Tsinghua Tongfang Interest of a controlled corporation (S 5E5)
(Note 5)
RINR B REGEEE R 3,2683,652,000 65.93%
Shenzhen Aorongxin Interest of a controlled corporation (B 56)
(Note 6)
B aE - Notes:
1. It 0 38 H B 2 R 4% B 2.3,268,652,000/% % 1. The figure refers to the legal and beneficial interest of China Health in

MzarERER

2. ERRBTEBEATEREEHITRAI00%Z
xR ARRREMFAEZRNDZ
B REFSFMMEGY  LHEFETE
RESBzZRA-MRMHZES -

3,263,652,000 Shares.

2. Waranty Hong Kong owned 100% interest in the issued share capital of
China Health and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which China Health was interested. The figure refers to the
same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.
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3. Shenzhen Waranty, through its subsidiary, namely Waranty Hong Kong,
owned 100% interests in the issued share capital of China Health and
was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which China
Health was interested. The figure refers to the same interests of China
Health in the Shares under the SFO.

4. Tongfang Financial owned 48% interests in the registered capital of
Shenzhen Waranty and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which Shenzhen Waranty was interested. The figure refers to
the same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

5. Tsinghua Tongfang owned 100% interests in the registered capital of
Tongfang Financial and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which Tongfang Financial was interested.

In addition, THTF Energy-Saving Holdings Limited (“THTF Energy-Saving”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Tsinghua Tongfang, was the
beneficial owner of 113,994,000 Shares, and Tsinghua Tongfang was
therefore also deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which THTF
Energy-Saving was interested under the SFO. Tsinghua Tongfang was
therefore interested in 3,377,646,000 Shares representing approximately
68.24% of the issued share capital of the Company.

6. Shenzhen Aorongxin owned 52% interests in the registered capital of
Shenzhen Waranty and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which Shenzhen Waranty was interested. The figure refers to
the same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, the Company
had not been notified by any person (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company or their respective associate(s)) of any
interest and short position in the Shares and underlying shares
which were required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 50.9% and
68.8% of the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

During the Year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s
largest customer and the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier were approximately 33.0% and 22.5% of
the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of
the Company’s issued shares, had a beneficial interest in any of
the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.
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AAEFEFSEBRAA TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

EE2RE Directors’ Report

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year,
except that the trustee of the share award scheme of the
Company as adopted on 20 September 2016 (the “Share Award
Scheme”), pursuant to the trust deed of the Share Award Scheme,
purchased on the Stock Exchange a total of 1,434,000 shares of
the Company amounting HK$860,000.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

The following is the change in the information of Directors since
the date of the 2016 Interim Report of the Company and up to the
date of this report, which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules:

(1) Mr. Huang Yu, the Chairman and an Executive Director, has
been appointed as the chairman of the Investment
Committee of the Board with effect from 24 March 2017.

(2)  Mr. Chan Sze Chung and Mr. Zhang Ruibin, respectively the
INED, have been appointed as members of the Investment
Committee of the Board with effect from 24 March 2017.

(38)  Director’s salary of Mr. Huang Yu was changed to HK$49,915
per month with effect from 1 January 2017.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Group has entered into the
following transactions which constitute connected transactions as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

As disclosed in the announcement and circular of the Company
dated 28 January 2016 and 22 March 2016, respectively,
Kingwood Limited (the “Purchaser”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Shenzhen Waranty entered into a
sale and purchase agreement on 28 January 2016, pursuant to
which the Purchaser conditionally agreed to purchase, and
Shenzhen Waranty conditionally agreed to sell, an aggregate of
60% equity interest in Ziguang Pharmaceutical, a sino-foreign joint
venture enterprise established in the PRC, representing the entire
interest held by Shenzhen Waranty in Ziguang Pharmaceutical, for
an aggregate consideration of RMB291.2 million. The acquisition
was completed in July 2016.

Shenzhen Waranty is a connected person of the Company by
virtue of its entire shareholding in China Health, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Therefore, the acquisition constitutes
a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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On 27 May 2016, E/#B&M(5£BE)BR2AE (Shanghai Building
Material (Group) Company Limited*) (“Shanghai Building Material”)
and Shanghai SAC entered into an extension framework agreement
(the “Second Extension Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
the term of each of the following entrusted loans was further
extended by one year beyond the term extended by the extension
framework agreement dated 22 May 2015 (the “First Extension
Framework Agreement”):

(i) On 28 May 2014, Shanghai SAC, Shanghai Building Material
and a bank entered into an entrusted loan agreement,
pursuant to which Shanghai SAC entrusted the bank to
provide an entrusted loan in the principal amount of
RMB54.0 million to Shanghai Building Material for a term of
one year (the “First Entrusted Loan”). The maturity date of the
First Entrusted Loan was 26 May 2015; and

(if) On 2 July 2014, Shanghai SAC, Shanghai Building Material
and a bank entered into an entrusted loan agreement,
pursuant to which Shanghai SAC entrusted the bank to
provide an entrusted loan to Shanghai Building Material in the
principal amount of RMB78.0 million for a term of one year
(the “Second Entrusted Loan”). The maturity date of the
Second Entrusted Loan was 3 July 2015.

Pursuant to the Second Extension Framework Agreement, the First
Entrusted Loan and the Second Entrusted Loan are extended to
29 May 2017 and 30 June 2017, respectively.

Since Shanghai Building Material holds 40% equity interest in
Shanghai SAC which is a subsidiary of the Company, Shanghai
Building Material, as a substantial shareholder of Shanghai SAC, is
therefore a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
Second Extension Framework Agreement constituted a connected
transaction of the Company and is subject to the reporting and
announcement, but is exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to (i) the announcement of the Company dated 23
May 2014 in relation to the provision of First Entrusted Loan; (ii) the
announcement of the Company dated 2 July 2014 in relation to the
provision of the Second Entrusted Loan; (iiij the announcement of
the Company dated 22 May 2015 in relation to the First Extension
Framework Agreement; and (iv) the announcement of the Company
dated 27 May 2016 in relation to the Second Extension Framework
Agreement for further details.

The related party transactions and balances set out in note 48 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report included
transactions that constituted connected transactions within the
meaning of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
requirements prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with
respect to the connected transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year.
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AAEFEFSEBRAA TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEE®RE Directors’ Report

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The 2017 AGM is scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 20 June
2017. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
2017 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Wednesday, 14 June 2017 to Tuesday, 20 June 2017 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered.

In order for the Shareholder to be eligible to attend and vote at
the 2017 AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited of Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 13 June 2017.

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of HK$0.6 million during the
Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 32 to 50 of this annual
report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information which is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained the prescribed amount of public float during the
Year and up to the date of this report as required under the Listing
Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Group’s financial statements for the Year have been audited by
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution to re-appoint
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and to authorize the Directors to
fix its remuneration will be proposed at the 2017 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Huang Yu
Chairman

24 March 2017

* For identification purpose only
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TO THE MEMBERS OF TONGFANG KONTAFARMA
HOLDINGS LIMITED

BrEREXEEERLT

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
Bt & KORIERB R AR)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tongfang
Kontafarma Holdings Limited B 77 EZRE X SEER A 7A (formerly
known as Allied Cement Holdings Limited B & 7K B #22 B A IR A 7))
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the
Group”) set out on pages 77 to 191, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matter

ARERER

AAEFEFSEBRAA TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

83 % BREM R &5 Independent Auditor’'s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMcERuNEERREERER

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts
RIZRBE

We identified the allowance for bad and
doubtful debts as a key audit matter due to
the use of judgment and estimates by the
management in assessing the recoverability
of trade receivables.

BN EIRERN T ENE SRR AT = 1
r & 60 BT R b 5t - AR RIEER B
BRTRBAEEZER -

As set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, in estimating the
allowance for bad and doubtful debts, the
management considers the credit history of
the customers including default or delay in
settlement, subsequent settlements and
aging analysis of the trade receivables and
the business relationship with the
customers.

AR & B S R MY s 4P & - A ET RIBAR
BiEN EEEZREWBEIRFNEFE
BRSL  BEBRIEENK  BENKK
REOMREESNEBAEK -

As at 31 December 2016, the carrying
amount of trade receivables s
RMB245,476,000, net of the allowance for
bad and doubtful debts of RMB34,562,000.
RZE-RE+A=+—0 EWESE
REER T E A A R #245,476,0007T 1 &%
RIEE R E A R%34,562,0007T °

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the appropriateness of the
management’s assessment of the allowance for bad and doubtful
debts included:
ﬁ@%ﬂ%%@@ﬁﬁ%%%%ﬁﬂﬁZ@%%ﬁﬁ%%&Eﬁ
BE:

° Understanding how the allowance for bad and doubtful debts
is estimated by the Group’s management;

TR BESEEEREBWMMGHETRIEREE:

° Assessing the reasonableness of allowance for bad and
doubtful debts assessed by the management with reference
to the credit history of the customers, including default or
delay in payments, subsequent settlements, ageing analysis of
the trade receivables and the business relationship with the
customer;
2ERWESRFINEFEEREL  BRERKTEEMNK
BRENK  BRERSOMEETPORBEEAEF S EEREMRT
HREREREEBNSIE ML

o Testing the accuracy of the aging analysis and subsequent
settlements of the trade receivables, on a sample basis, to
the relevant documents; and
MBEAHEBRESRRER MR EENZTOERMT - AR
BB XL R

° Evaluating the historical accuracy of the allowance estimated
by management by comparing historical allowance made to
the actual settlements and actual loss incurred.

KRBT RERERNRNERESEL  YEARERNRK
BREMABEREEEEREMETOERE -
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Key audit matter

HRELEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMzcERnNEERRERER

Determination of fair values of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed arising from
acquisition of 60% equity interest in It R X HEFR/AF (Beijing Ziguang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.)
and its subsidiaries (the “Ziguang Group”) (“the Acquisition”)

RERBLERRAREGRATAREMBAT(RAKRE)0%RAEZ(HWRBERNEFHNEEREEN

AT EE

We identified the determination of fair values
of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed arising from the Acquisition as a
key audit matter due to the judgement
exercised by the Group’s management in
such determma’uon

mR BEEE fiﬁﬂfﬂmuiﬁﬁélﬁﬁi
ZFﬁM&H%,T;%%%UéﬁF&Fﬁﬁx}f‘EfﬁZ
BERSEDHE - Eﬁlﬁﬁ?&ﬁﬁ%%ﬁi@%
%EIE -

As disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group completed
the acquisition of 60% of the equity interest
in the Ziguang Group (engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of prescription
drugs) during the year ended 31 December
2016 for a total consideration of
RMB291,200,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$338,871,000).

MERE IR RN AIME E - NEE=F
—RNETZA=tT—HLFE - EBE&EBEE
BB E N EE (R ERIHER %) 2
BO% AR A5 - #(E R AEK291,200,000
7T (#8 & 7 49338,871,000/8 L) °

The Acquisition has been accounted for
using the purchase method. Amongst the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed, the management applied
significant judgements in assessing their fair
values of property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments for land use
right with reference to the depreciated
replacement cost and market value,
respectively. The fair values of property,
plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments for land use right on acquisition
date of HK$194,814,000 and
HK$107,431,000, respectively, acquired in
business combination are based on
valuation performed by an independent
qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”).
WHEEBEDEAEEEAR - NPT ER]
BRABERFAEZEED BEBRELZ
TEEBRRARTEMNEDE  BERRE
DA Ko & st f PR 2 T ML B SR IBR) A - {8
ﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬂﬁzﬁ REBEE R PTiR
&ﬁﬁuﬁimﬁﬁﬁ%‘zﬁ
BHEHOATEED R
ﬁ&1o7431 ooo;%ﬁ: T3 1R
B (R ERR)) 7T

Rt
3
HE
@ﬁﬁﬂ

?Fé’ﬁi/:.\é(
HEEE

Our procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness of the
fair values of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
arising from the Acquisition included:

B EMBEREL 2 MKEBA BB EERMARBENA

FHEEZEY

HEENEZREF B

Obtaining an understanding of how the management identify
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed arising from the
Acquisition;

THREBENMAEKNBEEREELEMWBEERAARLES

(CE

Discussing with the management the key estimates adopted
by the management in assessing the acquisition-date fair
values of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed, including the depreciated replacement cost of the
property, plant and equipment and market value of prepaid
lease payments for land use right and the involvement of the
Valuer;
HEBENREEBNTMEMUBAIERNEERMAEER
RWBHH A TEERMEANEZMEST  BEDE K
B &% %E’Hﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ}ﬂzﬁ&iim@ﬁﬁ%Zfﬂﬁﬂ‘ziﬁﬁmﬁ
BEUARGEMD2HEE

Evaluating the Valuer's competence,
objectivity; and

AELEMZES -

capabilities and
EERADSES R

Evaluating the significant inputs used in the depreciated
replacement cost of the property, plant and equipment and
market value of prepaid lease payments for land use right and
comparing to market available data.

ATEME - BB MR 1ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ$&im@ﬁﬁ%2%ﬁ
fﬂf?ﬂlﬁﬁﬁ MEMEANER2E - WETSAFHIEE
Lt
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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le engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
ditor’s report is Wu Ka Ming.

1 : Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
HEZG AT Certified Public Accountants

BB Hong Kong
—E—+F=A=-+mAH 24 March 2017
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ZB-ARF —T—RF
2016 2015
B 7 FHET FHET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 5 633,279 465,739
8 5 PR AR Cost of sales (539,160) (441,537)
EM Gross profit 94,119 24,202
E A I A Other income 7 43,705 44,872
Efh e KBS 18 Other gains and losses 8 534 (23,287)
E MR A AT 5K Interest income on other principal
PSRN protected deposits 29 2,020 10,749
DERIEEEMA Distribution and selling expenses (34,900) (5,655)
THER Administrative expenses (100,491) (59,145)
H b Sz Other expenses (2,986) —
B & AN Finance costs 9 (18,018) (18,721)
JEAG — B & AR E A Share of results of an associate (15) —
Ei—BE&EERREE Share of results of a joint venture (4,096) —
BRERIEE Loss before taxation (20,128) (26,985)
TIE Taxation 11 (7,425) (2,829)
REEBAE Loss for the year 12 (27,553) (29,814)
Hih2EZH - Other comprehensive expense:
BrIAgEN T EEER ltem that will not be reclassified
BR2IEE : subsequently to profit or loss:
R B2 EE Exchange difference arising on
EEZER translation to presentation
R currency (87,677) (65,544)
NEERES LR Total comprehensive expense
for the year (115,230) (95,358)
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HEZZT—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

—E-KF —T—RF
2016 2015
B 5 FHExT FHET
Note HK$’°000 HK$'000
AEFBEEGR: Loss for the year attributable to:
ZA/NG] i g Owners of the Company (37,076) (34,237)
FEVE AR i = Non-controlling interests 9,523 4,423
(27,553) (29,814)
NEEZES LR Total comprehensive expense
FEAL T for the year attributable to:
PA/NCIE 8 Owners of the Company (94,726) (77,032)
FEFE AR Non-controlling interests (20,504) (18,326)
(115,230 (95,358)
&AL Rl
FHEE Loss per share 13 HK cent HK cent
BN Basic (0.75) (0.69)
i
e Diluted (0.75) N/A
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—E-XREF —T—hF
2016 2015
B 5 FHET T T
Notes HK$’°000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
M - BB R Property, plant and equipment 15 552,204 380,880
HREEHEZ Deposits for equipment and
me machineries 16 76,279 81,565
T R 2 TR Prepaid lease payments on
HERE land use rights 17 104,378 6,685
"EWE Investment properties 18 5,066 —
Bk Goodwill 19 217,555 =
BWEE Intangible assets 20 15,675 9,050
R—EE R R 2R Interests in an associate 21 2,601 —
R—EEERA) ZER Interests in a joint venture 22 32,759 —
EERIEE E Deferred tax assets 38 199 -
1,006,716 478,180
RBEE Current assets
HIEHEME Properties held for sale 23 2,161 2,310
B E Biological assets 2,743 —
rE Inventories 24 78,488 34,330
EWESHEREWEIE  Trade and bills receivables 25 347,989 295,440
HAabEWFRIE - & & Other receivables, deposits and
AT FRIB prepayments 26 141,028 51,142
e E Loans receivable 27 167,264 —
FBBEZERRATEEKE Financial assets at fair value through
LEBMEE profit or loss 28 120,504 82,227
H MR AEAF 5K Other principal protected deposits 29 - 205,327
T FEREZENEE Prepaid lease payments on land use
I8 rights 17 1,499 187
—EHR NIRRT Amount due from an intermediate
R holding company 47 89,385 —
—E&ERAIRK Amount due from a joint venture 131 —
Ho b B 5 Amounts due from other related
KRR parties 48(c) 168,865 157,937
SRR B R IT1F K Restricted bank deposit 2,518 —
EEFREERITER Pledged short-term bank deposits 46 421,416 424,912
FEEHAANZ+=@AZ Time deposits with original maturity
EHE between 4 to 12 months 30 22,347 —
RekREeFEY Cash and cash equivalents 30 581,137 897,933
2,147,475 2,151,745
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=
Huang Yu
EF

Director

REPBRERER

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables

Other payables and deposits
received

Amount due to an intermediate
holding company

Amounts due to other related parties

Tax liabilities

Bank and other borrowings due
within one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current
liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Share premium and reserves

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings due after

one year
Deferred taxation
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Notes
31
32
47

48(c)

33

34
37

33
38

= i —2-Ef
2016 2015
FTHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
175,428 103,997
86,346 32,093
24,230 -
9,528 2,137
91,385 86,425
916,313 777,456
1,303,230 1,002,108
844,245 1,149,637
1,850,961 1,627,817
9,900 9,900
1,115,934 1,197,759
1,125,834 1,207,659
517,229 400,946
1,643,063 1,608,605
163,128 -
44,770 19,212
207,898 19,212
1,850,961 1,627,817

BHAE

Ng Qing Hai

EF

Director

The consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 191 of this
annual report were approved and authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 24 March 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:
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BARBBHE
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-_ZT—XRNF+=-A=1+—RHILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

ADARRENS
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARH
E3 Eig -
K¥aEZ

R ARBXMZ
Shares EEMERE

held for Employee FERER
BA& MR{AEE  share share-based ERfE BHHKE EARE HURE RBEA Non- REHAHE
Share Share award compensation Translation Special Capital Other Retained @ controlling Total
capital premium scheme reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves  profits Total interests equity
FHT FET Fhx FHT THEr FHxr FTErT FET FEr  FER THET  ThER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000
RZZ—1F—-A—H At 1 January 2015 9,900 1,215,024 - - 46,871 (392,735) 824 32,814 371,993 1,284,691 429,068 1,713,749
AEEER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (34,237) (34,237) 4,423 (29,814)
RBRET Exchange difference arising on
B¥EEY translation to presentation
ERZ® currency - - - - (42,795) - - - - (42,795) (22,749)  (65,544)
AEEREYY Total comprehensive expense
Pk for the year - - - - @279 - - — (34237 (77032 (18326  (95.358)
ARTHERERZ Dividend distribution to
RE non-controlling interests - - - = - - - - - - (9,786) (9,786)
At 31 December 2015 9,900 1,215,024 - - 4,076 (392,735) 824 32,814 337,756 1,207,659 400,946 1,608,605
AEEBE Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (37,076)  (37,076) 9,523 (27,553)
RBRET Exchange difference arising on
E¥EEL translation to presentation
ERZE currency - - - - (57,650) - - - - (57,650) (30,027)  (87,677)
AEEREAXY Total comprehensive expense
k) for the year - - - - (57,650) - - - (37,076)  (94,726) (20,504)  (115,230)
WM E AR Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Wt £39) (note 39) - - - - - - - - - - 140,855 140,855
BRESEE AR Recognition of equity-settled
AERZAR share-based payments - - - 13,761 - - - - - 13,761 - 13,761
BRI R Share options lapsed - - - (22 - - - - 22 - - -
BRI M EBE Purchase of shares for share
(3 award scheme - - (860) - - - - - - (860) - (860)
ARTHERERZ Dividend distribution to
R 2 non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - (4,068) (4,068)
RZFE—RE+ZA=+t—H At 31 December 2016 9,900 1,215,024 (860) 13,739 (53,574) (392,735) 824 32,814 300,702 1,125,834 517,229 1,643,063
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Amortisation and depreciation
Release of prepaid lease payments
on land use rights
Allowance for bad and doubtful
debts
Finance costs
Interest income from loans
receivable
Interest income on other principal
protected deposits
Interest income from banks
Interest income from a
non-controlling shareholder of
the Group’s subsidiary
Interest income from an
intermediate holding company
Net (gain) loss on disposal and
write-off of property, plant and
equipment
Fair value losses on financial
assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment
Equity-settled share-based
payments
Share of results of an associate
Share of results of a joint venture
Write-off of other payables and
deposits received
Loss on write-off of inventories

Operating cash inflow before
movements in working capital
Decrease (increase) in inventories
Decrease in biological asset

Increase in trade and
bills receivables
(Increase) decrease in other
receivables, deposits and
prepayments
Increase in trade and
bills payables
Increase (decrease) in other payables
and deposits received
Increase in held for trading
investments

Cash generated from (used in)
operations
Income tax paid

NET CASH FROM (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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—E-XRE —hF
2016 2015
FExT FE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
(20,128) (26,985)
28,780 23,166
1,440 195
4,001 18,274
18,018 18,721
(11,555) (1,317)
(2,020) (10,749
(8,321) (6,607)
(6,918) (8,184)
(2,214) —
(6,060) 1,697
1,545 898
12 —
13,761 —
15 —
4,096 —
- 1,637
576 5,685
15,028 16,431
11,346 (2,177)
505 —
(16,215) (23,648)
(40,171) 7,514
40,060 9,035
29,733 (10,249)
(21,694) (84,933)
18,592 (88,027)
(6,160) (11,641)
12,432 (99,668)
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—E-KRE —T—hF
2016 2015
Bt & THER T
Note HK$’°000 HK$'000
BEEK INVESTING ACTIVITIES
U B — P B B8 8 &) Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of
(B EcRe R cash and cash equivalents
ReFED) acquired 39 (115,524) —
HEWE  BEREE Proceeds from disposal of property,
Z P8 5RIE plant and equipment 13,367 1,984
BEWE  BELKE Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (48,890) (14,600)
EmEEE Addition of intangible assets (1,128) —
R—EAS NG ZEZFIEM Addition of interests in a joint venture (36,855) —
R—EERFZ Addition of investment in an
EEM associate (2,615) —
m—EEE QA ZBRK Advance to a joint venture (131) —
FEUE RE R Advance of loans receivable (954,972) (2,012,413
BERETRAEBERER Purchase of financial assets
BAFEERE designated at fair value through
ZEREE profit or loss (150,838) —
s B RANAAE 3K Placement of other principal
protected deposits (122,905) (552,569)
fE& o] fE R B 3R Proceeds from redemption of loans
Z PG5k E receivable 789,944 2,019,582
EREEAREBER Proceeds from redemption of financial
NEEEREZS® assets designated at fair value
2 TS 3IE through profit or loss 129,606 —
H R AR 77 5B R 18 Proceeds from other principal
<2 P8 5A protected deposits upon maturity 312,849 571,685
mM—EFNTERAFZ Advance to an intermediate holding
B3R company (609) —
B B R R E Placement of pledged short-term
AT K bank deposits (427,266) (1,038,805)
IREE R A2 HA Withdrawal of pledged short-term
|ITHF K bank deposits 429,630 634,690
FETHFX Placement of time deposits (22,347) (702,306)
IREUE BifE K Withdrawal of time deposits - 727,623
FriE X R HIR T K Placement of restricted bank
deposit (2,518) -
W E R 2B WAH B Interest received from loans
receivable 8,837 1,308
HMRARFR Interest received from other principal
2 HF & protected deposits 4,008 12,684
EWEREIRAFEERKE Interest received from financial assets
ZEREEZBERFE at fair value through profit or loss 2,808 1,876
H b B W F B Other interest received 17,598 14,801
REXBA NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
REFE ACTIVITIES (177,951) (334,460)
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest paid

Other financial cost paid

New bank and other borrowings
raised

Repayments of bank and other
borrowings

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Amount due from an intermediate
holding company

Advance to related parties

Advance from non-controlling
interests

Repayment to non-controlling
interests

Purchase of shares for employee
ownership scheme

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE
YEAR

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT THE END OF THE YEAR

Represented by
bank balances and cash

time deposits with original maturity

within 3 months
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—E-XRE —hE
2016 2015
FHxT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(14,300) (14,510)
(828) (3,616)
780,000 1,327,913
(888,993) (990,228)
(3,568) (7,786)
11,682 -
(4,006) -
89 68

(137) -
(860) -
(120,921) 311,841
(286,440) (122,287)
897,933 1,026,591
(30,356) (6,371)
581,137 897,933
579,771 697,297
1,366 200,636
581,137 897,933
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HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 21 March 2011
under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares
of the Company have been listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 18 January
2012. Its parent is China Health Management Investment
Limited (“China Health”), a private limited company which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate holding
company is AYTREFHREZERBR AT (Shenzhen
Aorongxin Investment Development Co., Ltd."), a company
established under the laws of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) with limited liability. The address of the registered
office of the Company is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O.
Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and the
head office and principal place of business of the Company
is 9th Floor, Allied Kajima Building, 138 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 50.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”) which is different from the functional
currency of the Company, Renminbi (“RMB”) as the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) consider that HK$ is the
most appropriate presentation currency in view of its place of
listing is in Hong Kong.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to
HKFRS 11

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable
and HKAS 38 Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS
10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2012-2014 Cycle

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years
and/or disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”’) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments'

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments'

HKFRS 16 Leases?

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment

Transactions'

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 7  Disclosure Initiative*

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax

Assets for Unrealised Losses*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (cONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification

and measurement of financial

assets, financial liabilities,

general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for
financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are
relevant to the Group are described as
follows:

88

all recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured
at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost
at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and
that have contractual terms that give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are generally measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income. All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured at
their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make
an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held
for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.
The expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In
other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.
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AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are
relevant to the Group are described as
follows: (CONTINUED)

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 December 2016, application of
HKFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact of the
classification and measurement of the Group’s financial
assets. The expected credit loss model may result in early
provision of credit losses which are not yet incurred in
relation to the Group’s financial assets measured at
amortised cost. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 9 until the Group
performs a detailed review.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction
Contracts” and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

89



ZT —NF F 3, ANNUAL REPORT 2016

4RE B FS R R KT 55 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZZT—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

ERAFE BN ERESER
(EBMBEREEN DRHE
&5 #)

BERMBHREERFE155 [ RE
ERFERNZBAl®

REBBEBVBHREERF155 BER
TERK B KB AERS (Skpiith) RERR A - BT
EREROBEEHRBIERIREZ
[(EHEIEZTELPE - AWK R
EEAFRERFRERZEBET
EMAERREZIES] - b FEM
BHREERFRERLERZZIRE

R-Z—RF BRSO ASRMGY
RN MEERIEIGHRZEF - W
REMBREOEL  TEERER
EBREEZERES -

SEEEHARERBT MK RELEL
FSHFAEEHNFTZRE BEFHE
HEAEEMBHRELEAESHKTS
0 % A 3R 5 HAR B AR 2 A Z B )
ReBRELEBERATE -

M B ®REER 165
K4

FAEMB®REERF165 SR HE
ARAEBEANZHEZ B RS 5t 5 IE S|
AR AR o & &8 I 5% i 28
F16RAEME - BB B G LS
17RIHE I RERE 22k -

&7 B 15 s 2 R SE 1657 AR 1 P 8 5
BEERTHERPEHNXRROMEERR
BEH BKRERHEEREEEEHRE
Sy REHERBREREZEZEFK
MASFERETFBE  WhAHEAR
IPTEHERREAREE RERA
BZRABNK -

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (cONTINUED)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (CONTINUED)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more
prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures
are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

The Directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in
the future may result in more disclosures, however, the
Directors do not anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15
will have a material impact on the timing and amounts of
revenue recognised in the respective reporting periods.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases
are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a
model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees,
except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.
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HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”’) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (CONTINUED)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and
lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications,
amongst others. For the classification of cash flows, the
Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease payments as
investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned
use while other operating lease payments are presented as
operating cash flows. Under the HKFRS 16, lease payments
in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal
and an interest portion which will be presented as financing
cash flows.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid
lease payments on land use rights where the Group is a
lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on
whether the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or
within the same line item at which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either
as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$22,645,000 as disclosed
in note 42. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under
HKFRS 16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these
leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases
upon the application of HKFRS 16. In addition, the
application of new requirements may result changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of the financial effect until the directors complete a
detailed review.
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2. ERHIETEMBREER 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (cONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (CONTINUED)

For other amendments to HKFRSs, the Directors anticipate
that their application will have no material impact on the
results and the financial position of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments and biological assets that are measured at fair
values and fair value less costs to sell at the end of each
reporting period, and in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17
“Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.
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TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

kX M 3= Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The significant accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investeg;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (CONTINUED)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity including reserves and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted after re-attribution of the relevant equity
component and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (CONTINUED)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses involving entities under common
control or acquired from outsiders are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
“Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
respectively;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (CONTINUED)

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are
measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(CONTINUED)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or joint
venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint
venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(CONTINUED)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture
that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and titles have passed.

Revenue from sale of properties held for sale is recognised
when the respective properties have been delivered to the
buyers. Deposits and instalments received from purchasers
prior to meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
under current liabilities.

Technical services income is recognised when services are
provided.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings and
structures held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purpose other than
construction in progress, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or for
its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at
cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets, other than construction in progress, less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is
recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties (CONTINUED)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment
losses on tangible and intangible assets below).

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in
a business combination with finite useful lives are reported at
costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately. Alternatively, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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(CONTINUED)

Impairment of tangible assets and intangible
assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
an asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment at least annually and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised as immediately in profit or loss.
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HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into
an operating lease are recognised as a liability and release
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a
finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been
transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease is
classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments)
are allocated between the land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests
in the land element and building element of the lease at the
inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments on land use rights” in the consolidated statement
of financial position and is released over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at cost less any
impairment loss.
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Biological assets represent laboratory mice which is
measured on initial recognition and at each end of the
reporting period at their fair value less costs to sell. A gain or
loss arising on initial recognition of biological asset at fair
value less costs to sell and from a change in fair value less
costs to sell of a biological asset is included in profit or loss
for the period in which it arises.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
less all estimated cost of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit or loss as reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
difference. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, and
interests in associates and joint ventures except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) at the rate of exchange rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund and state-managed
retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement
benefit schemes are dealt with as payments to defined
contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the
plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan.

Equity-settled share-based payment to
employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are

measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.
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(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share-based payment to
employees (CONTINUED)

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (employee share-based
compensation reserve). At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the employee
share-based compensation reserve. For equity instruments
that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of
the equity instruments granted is expensed immediately to
profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
employee share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (CONTINUED)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial assets
classified as at FVTPL, of which interest income is included
in net gains or losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is (i) held for trading, or (i) it is designated as at
FVTPL.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (CONTINUED)
Financial assets (CONTINUED)

Financial assets at FVTPL (CONTINUED)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated
as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.
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FEHREXSEEER AR TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (CONTINUED)
Financial assets (CONTINUED)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, loans receivable, other principal protected
deposits, amount due from an intermediate holding company,
amount due from a joint venture, amounts due from other
related parties, pledged short-term bank deposits, restricted
bank deposit, time deposits and bank balances and cash)
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses. The
accounting policy on impairment loss of financial assets is set
out below.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
assets, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets
have been affected.

For financial assets at amortised cost, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (CONTINUED)
Financial assets (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (CONTINUED)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’'s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When the trade and other
receivables are considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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ANTEREZSEEABR AT TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

E‘EWE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (CONTINUED)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and bills payables, other
payables, amount due to an intermediate holding company,
amounts due to other related parties and bank and other
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial assets, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
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UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for bad and doubtful debts
based on an assessment of the recoverability of trade
receivables. Allowances are made on trade receivables
whenever there is any objective evidence that the balances
may not be collectible. In estimating the allowance for bad
and doubtful debts, the management considers the credit
history of customers, including default or delay in settlement,
subsequent settlements, ageing analysis of the trade
receivables and the business relationship with the customers.
Where the actual outcome of the recoverability of trade
receivables is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of trade receivables
and allowance for bad and doubtful debts in the period in
which such estimate has changed. As at 31 December 2016,
the carrying amount of trade receivables is RMB245,476,000
(net of allowance of RMB34,562,000) (2015: carrying amount
of RMB134,655,000 (net of allowance of RMB32,971,000)).
Details of the allowance for bad and doubtful debts are
disclosed in note 25.
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HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Impairment of goodwill arising from
acquisition of 60% equity interest in dtFHE %
#HZ#EBRA 7 (Beijing Ziguang Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd.) and its subsidiaries

On 12 July 2016, the Group completed the acquisition of
60% of the equity interest in bt &L K B B HF R A 7] (Beijing
Ziguang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.) and its subsidiaries from
FITEMBTEEETE AR AR, an intermediate holding
company of the Company, for a cash consideration of
RMB291,200,000 (equivalent to HK$338,871,000). The
acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase
method and the goodwill of HK$219,492,000 was arose.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
The Group engaged an independent professional valuer to
perform such valuation. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. The use of the key
assumptions include the discount rate, terminal growth rate,
budgeted sales and gross margin taking into account the
relevant industry growth forecasts, financial budgets
approved by the directors from the management’s experience
from manufacturing of related prescription drugs and
laboratory related products and management’s expectation
for the market development. Based on the assessment made
by the management of the Company, no impairment was
identified as at 31 December 2016. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of future
cash, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31
December 2016, the carrying amount of goodwill arising from
the acquisition of It REXBEFR A7 (Beiing Ziguang
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd) is HK$217,555,000 (2015: Nil).
Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in
note 19.
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5. WA

WABEKRARERHER T E R ER

5. REVENUE

Revenue represents the sales amount

from

the

EHMAEM - RiERHENOERAR
AWEBEKENHEESR(EHERTH
R ERBHIEA)

manufacturing and sales of prescription drugs and laboratory
related products, manufacturing and sales of cement and
clinker, and trading of cement, net of discount and sales
related tax.

—E-XRE —ET—ARF
2016 2015
FHET FE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEREERETER Manufacture and sales of prescription
EREHEER drugs and laboratory related products 124,461 —
B8 R H S KR Manufacture and sales of cement and
Y clinker 214,319 239,934
BEKE Trading of cement 294,499 225,805
633,279 465,739

7 &b &

REBEEZZ—R"F+_A=1+—HLF
B AEBEWEBEE  BHENERE
ERFE  FIEHERMEI - &
NRIEEEEENTHEAEENKEE
¥RV RRFEMANETE W
BRKEEBRER BELBREY
BUEREBEAMEBLELENTERD
2o BHitc HE-ZE—RHF+_-_A=7
—HIEFENLAREREEETZY
UWHEEARFENET AR -

ENWMAEBREEBNEEEBRE
REARE®RERGAERD EER K
APED BRI R E XS EM - K
SEEUTAZBMKLLEDE

o KEEH — KERARLEEMN
HE  KORE B R REHEIMR
»B(WmA) -

. BE BENBHREER — 2
MISERHEL BEREMEE®
(nA) -

REEARE 2R 2,0 BE - HES
B2 ERMEEDFIEAHRE -

SEGMENT INFORMATION

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
acquired new business of medical, pharmaceutical and health
business which is detailed in note 39. The management of
the Company had reassessed the Group’s operations and
measurement of financial performance assessment and
identified the cement business and medical, pharmaceutical
and health business as two separate operating and
reportable segments of the Group. Accordingly, the
comparative information for the year ended 31 December
2015 has been represented to conform with the current
year’s presentation.

The operating business organised and managed in each
segment represents a strategic business unit that offers
different products and services for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance. The
Group has following reportable and operating segments:

o Cement business — manufacture and sales of cement
and clinker, trading of cement and provision of
technical services, if any.

o Medical, pharmaceutical and health business -
manufacture and sales of prescription drugs and
laboratory related products, if any.

No operating segments identified have been aggregated in
arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (coNTINUED)

() Segment revenue and results

Analysis of the Group’s segment revenue and results is

as follows:
BRE BEREBEEK
Medical,
VI STESS pharmaceutical and Fok-c
Cement business health business Total
—R"E —T-HF ZEBE-RF —ZT—hF ZBE-RE —_T—HF
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

TR TET TR TET TR TET
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000

IREP D E Segment revenue from external
KA customers 508,818 465,739 124,461 — 633,279 465,739
e Segment results 33,109 4,199 (11,412) - 21,697 4,199
RAOBMEEBRA Unallocated corporate income 1,176 5,674
RAOBEERZ Unallocated corporate expenses (24,983) (18,137)
B & AR Finance costs (18,018) (18,721)
BRELAIEE Loss before taxation (20,128) (26,985)

BE-T—AGR_T— A&
A=t _BrrEEEs N

HE - AI2Wmo Az

rEFEzE ;HrBzﬁ*ﬁlﬁJ o "*B%
ETIBE DG 5T (EE) -
TERERDEEWA RN
KB & KA o &tﬁ?fiﬁ}ﬁ o B K
IR reported to the chief operating decision makers of the

KA ERARRE
BEREZHEME -

There was no inter-segment sales during the years
ended 31 December 2016 and 2015. The accounting
policies of the reportable segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies. Segment results
represent the profit (loss) from each segment without
allocation of unallocated corporate income and
expenses and finance costs. This is the measure

Company for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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6. DEHER#E) 6

(i) 2MWEERKER

NHEE

Segment assets

ERERBEEE Deferred tax assets
ROMEEEE Unallocated corporate assets
GRBE Consolidated assets

NBaE Segment liabilities

HEEE Tax liabilities

RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings
ERETIR Deferred taxation
KABEAREE Unallocated corporate liabilities
REaE Consolidated liabilities

EEDBRREER D #BE D E
BRME:

s MAEENEELKEDE -
T BREERAEER
ADBEEXEE R

s FBAREBEIEZEEEDE
T BREMEARE - RITK
HifEE - EERBERARD
FEEXRE-

SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED)

(ii) Segment assets and liabilities

BR BEREEREHR
Medical,

KR &% pharmaceutical and mE

Cement business health business Total
ZE-XRE ZT-0F ZB-RF ZT-hHF ZF-RE ZT-hfF
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
THER FET THER FET FER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000
1,249,360 1,272,401 1,186,716 — 2,436,076 1,272,401
199 -
717,916 1,357,524
3i154i191 2,629,925

BR BEREBERER
Medical,

KR & H pharmaceutical and mE

Cement business health business Total
ZE-XRE —T-0F ZB-RFE ZT-hHF ZB-RE —T-hfF
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
THER FET THER FET FTHER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000
168,259 136,618 119,190 - 287,449 136,618
91,385 86,425
1,079,441 777,456
44,770 19,212
8,083 1,609
115111128 1,021,320

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:
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all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than deferred tax assets and unallocated
corporate assets; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than tax liabilities, bank and other
borrowings, deferred taxation and unallocated
corporate liabilities.
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DEER &
(iii) Etto pE R

6. 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (coNTINUED)

(iii) Other segment information

BR BERREXRK
Medical,
KEEH pharmaceutical and AR 3
Cement business health business Unallocated Total
ZE-RE “ZT-1F ZB-RE —T-1F ZB-RE —T-HF ZB-RE —T-1F
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
FHEL FEL FHET TEL FHEL THEL FHET THL
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
SASBERER Amounts included in the
PHEEHEL measure of segment profit
RE: or loss or segment
assets:
REETE Addition to non-current
BE assets 11,567 13,889 353,063 - 46 M 364,676 14,600
BHRTE Amortisation and depreciation 20,723 22,969 8,031 - 26 197 28,780 23,166
BRATEER®E  Fair value (gains) losses on
SREELRT financial assets at fair
EEkE) ER value (713) 1,563 - - 2,258 (664) 1,545 899
M EHA Interest income (22,232)  (20,201) (3,243) - (3,339) (6,656)  (28,814)  (26,857)
AERERG Allowance for bad and
doubtful debts 3,827 18,274 174 - - - 4,001 18,274
WERME Loss on impairment and
HFEER write-off of inventories - 5,685 576 - - - 576 5,685
[Ef5—R%E 05 Share of results of an
4 associate 15 - - - - - 15 -
EE—MA% A Share of results of a joint
ES | venture - - 4,096 - - - 4,096 -
THEREL Release of prepaid lease
BREE payments on land use
REEL rights 182 195 1,258 - - - 1,440 195
HERMBEME - Net (gain) loss on disposal
BEREEL and write-off of property,
(&) BEFE plant and equipment (6,044) 1,697 (16) - - - (6,060) 1,697
EREENRNBA  Equity-settled share-based
LY AT payments - - 9,713 - 4,048 - 13,761 -
R—MBLNE2Z  Interests in an
i associate 2,601 - - - - - 2,601 -
R—EEEREZ  Interests in a
s joint venture - - 32,759 - - - 32,759 -
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6. DEHER

(iv) FEEEERNESR
IEERNBASTET :

EEMEERESR:
K

B J7 B
EREHBEE®D

(v) EREXEEFHNEHR

Hze—_Z—XR"&+=-_A=1+—H
HFE REKEEBHBZ—BE
P 2 WA 3Z 209,284,000/ T (=
T — 7 F 52,336,000 7T) * B
B AREBRK A Z210% A L o

(vi) HHEE R

HRASEZBKRALGRAE]
TENEF MAKEEZRI
BEERBEEMR S D)
FE BRI EEIMES AE

%o

= 7

77

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CcONTINUED)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

120

Information about major products

The revenue of the major products is analysed as
follows:
—E-AF i
2016 2015
TR FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Manufacture and sales and trading of:
476,375 444,494
32,443 21,245
Prescription drugs 105,411 —
Laboratory related products 19,050 —
633,279 465,739

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2016, revenue from a
customer in the cement business amounting to
HK$209,284,000 (2015: HK$52,336,000) individually
represented more than 10% of the Group’s revenue.

Geographical information

As all the Group’s revenue is derived from customers
based in the PRC and the Group’s major non-current
assets are located in the PRC by location of assets, no
geographical segment information is presented.
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Hag A 7. OTHER INCOME
—E—XEF —E—hF
2016 2015
FET TAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
RERITZFBRA Interest income from banks 8,291 6,607
B U E A B A Interest income from loans receivable 11,555 1,317
REARNEEKBARZ—% Interest income from a non-controlling
FEHE AR B R 2 A B A shareholder of the Group’s subsidiary 6,918 8,184
KE—FFRNERAFZ  Interest income from an intermediate
B A holding company 2,214 —
5 Bh K BT B Subsidy and government grant 2,530 23,298
PHEEBRBERE Overprovision of open offer expenses - 360
T 88 H RS FR IR Write-off of other payables and deposits
rEWike received - 1,637
RE R EH & Sales of scrap 5,317 293
HalA Rental income 150 —
FMIBULA Sundry income 6,730 3,176
43,705 44,872
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8.

Hithsm R & #E

FIE N e (B 18)
BRBERREATEE
BREZEMEEZ
RNFEEER

RIEREE

HE RIS - BB &
Rz (BR)FHR

B & B A

ATEEZHE
RITER
HifEE

ERXRTHE

ERERE

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Net foreign exchange gain (loss)

Fair value losses on financial assets
at fair value through
profit or loss

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

Net gain (loss) on disposal and write-off
of property, plant and equipment

9. FINANCE COSTS

Interests on following borrowings:
Bank loans
Other borrowing

Loans arrangement fee

Loans guarantee fee

—E-XRE —E—RF
2016 2015
FET FH& T
HK$’000 HK$'000
20 (2,418)
(1,545) (898)
(4,001) (18,274)
6,060 (1,697)
534 (23,287)
—ARE —E—RF
2016 2015
FET FH& T
HK$’000 HK$'000
7,225 11,155
9,454 3,609
542 2,035
797 1,922
18,018 18,721
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[
AEEZEE  BERERERAR
BRI EA EmRARE B AT K

Bl BT -
EEMNE

BENgEMtE(CE—RF:£HB)N
AAEE(EZNZEZHMEWT:

YTES: Executive Directors:

BakaE Mr. Huang Yu

HEBEE Mr. Ng Qing Hai

R Mr. Zhang Yi*

EEIbI e Mr. Deng Jinguang”

BUFHTES: Independent Non-Executive

Directors:

BREELE Mr. Chan Sze Chung

RIHMW L4 Mr. Zhang Ruibin

REERE Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack

# H-ZZE - A"FLtA+ZHEZZ X F
+-—A=+—H8-

" H-Z—A"F-A—RBE-T—R"Ft
A+=H-

HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

10. DIRECTORS’, EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’, employees’ and senior management’s emoluments
for the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing
Rules and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows:

Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration paid or payable to each of the seven
(2015: seven) directors of the Company (the “Directors”) were

as follows:
—E-RE
2016
e/
% & K RKEA 8
Hit|A BRBEHE #"R BEEZEEURS
Salaries/ 2L Retirement AEBZAR
EZ#WE service fee Performance benefits  Equity-settled LA
Directors’ and other related scheme share-based Total
fees benefits bonuses contributions payments emoluments
TET TER TER TER TER TERT
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
10 618 46 10 - 684
(note a)
(Hi7ta)
10 2,834 1,458 131 499 4,932
(note b)
(Hi#tb)
5 865 - 18 1,998 2,886
5 170 - - - 175
10 79 - - 100 189
10 79 - - 100 189
10 79 - - 100 189
60 4,724 1,504 159 2,797 9,244
# From 12 July 2016 to 31 December 2016.

" From 1 January 2016 to 12 July 2016.
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10. EX - EERSREEAR

10. DIRECTORS’, EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ emoluments (CONTINUED)

[ EAC )

EEMeE)

HITES: Executive Directors:
EAISLAE Mr. Huang Yu
|mEERAE Mr. Ng Qing Hai

B K5

BYEHT
BEx:

REREE
SR I St
REE K o
NS e

Mr. Deng Jinguang

Independent
Non-Executive
Directors:

Mr. Chan Sze Chung
Mr. Zhang Ruibin

Mr. Zhang Junxi Jacke
Mr. Li Shujiep

—E—hEF
2015
e/
R & K&
H 42 A R KAE A 5T &
Salaries/ & KRIRFTE HK
service ZAEAT Retirement
®EMWE fee and Performance benefits B & 458
Directors’ other related scheme Total
fees  benefits bonuses  contributions emoluments
FAT FAEEX FAT FAT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
10 600 24 - 634
(note a)
(Kt ita)
10 2,730 1,180 126 4,046
(note b)
(Kr7tb)
10 347 24 - 381
(note a)
(Bt ita)
10 79 - - 89
10 79 - - 89
4 29 - - 33
6 50 - - 56
60 3,914 1,228 126 5,328

v H-_E-—AFNA=-Z+—HEZE=-ZT—H
F+=ZA=+—R-

B H-Z—AF—A—HBE-ZT—FHFN
A=Z+—8-

o From 21 August 2015 to 31 December 2015.

i From 1 January 2015 to 21 August 2015.
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10. E - EERSEREEAER

<)
BEEMe &)

WERMRZAITESTHFMEEIEAR
ARAEEEEMREHZREERE -
A £ PR 2 B 37 3F 417 E = 37 B A
HETSEEMREHZREER -

REEZE—R"FR-_ZT—RF+=A
—t+—HIFE  BEEERETAM
%o

B

@ ESENEFACHETINTHEBES
ZRI—FEBEWISTEL -

() SENEFNEHELINTFESZA
—FEBRRBREARAEBEHEZE
BRIEAT -

EEM=

rEBREESFHALTRERS(Z
T—FF —R)BAAAESE  FF
MEER EXTFUEE -HE-_ZT—X
F+-_A=+—HItFE E#p =R (=
T-RAF - NB)ERHFMALZEHE
m

HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

10. DIRECTORS’, EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (COonTINUED)

Directors’ emoluments (CONTINUED)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group, while the independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as Directors.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the
years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

Notes:

(@) The amount represented the actual discretionary bonus of the
preceding year approved and paid to the respective Directors
during the year.

(b) The amount represented the actual discretionary bonus of the
preceding year and the actual bonus on monthly target scheme
approved and paid to the Director during the year.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2015: one) were the directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosure above. The
emoluments of the remaining three (2015: four) highest paid
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2016 were as
follows:

—E-XREF —ET—RHEF

2016 2015

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

e kEMER Salaries and other benefits 2,990 3,806

BRBHE LD Performance related bonuses 198 230

BIRE T8I K Retirement benefits scheme contributions 167 225
B EE ARG B ER Equity-settled share-based

pANEN payments 2,759 —

6,114 4,261
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10. EX - EERSREEAR

EF-T—

10.

ANEFTZA=+—HBIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

DIRECTORS’, EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR

[ heAC D, MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
EEMS®) Employees’ emoluments (CONTINUED)
HM&NF T E : Their emoluments were within the following bands:
—E-XRE —ET—ARF
2016 2015
EE#®E E B &8 H
Number of Number of
employees employees
1,000,000/ JT 2 A T~ HK$1,000,000 or below - 2
1,000,001/ 7T & HK$1,000,001 to
1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,500,000 1 2
1,500,001%8 7Tt & HK$1,500,001 to
2,000,000/ 7T HK$2,000,000 - —
2,000,001 Tt & HK$2,000,001 to
2,500,000/ 7T HK$2,500,000 2 —
3 4

REE-FT—A"F+-_A=T—HLF
B - AEEHRENLERSHMA L
NEAMES(CT—RF 8 UWER
RN SIANZNE SJEIRE J: 0k
B

SREBEAEME

rEERREBAEPELRZ(ZZT—
RAF: +R)ARAREEHAES &
E7MEERLEXTFURE - HE-Z
—RNE+-A=+—HBILFE HE#HN
FZ(ZE—RAF: NBATZEHE D
T

During the year ended 31 December 2016, no emoluments
(2015: Nil) were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group.

Senior management’s emoluments

Of the senior management of the Group, seven (2015: seven)
were the directors or former directors of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosure above. The
emoluments of the remaining nine (2015: six) individuals for
the year ended 31 December 2016 were as follows:

At —E—hF

2016 2015

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

HekHMET Salaries and other benefits 5,452 4,625

BRBEFHE L Performance related bonuses 525 369

RONTE T FT S Retirement benefits scheme contributions 443 309
B EE ARG A ER Equity-settled share-based

PANE: payments 3,558 —

9,978 5,303
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10.

HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

DIRECTORS’, EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR

<z MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
EREBAEME &) Senior management’s emoluments (CONTINUED)
HM& N FToEE - Their emoluments were within the following bands:
—E—XRE —E—RF
2016 2015
EE ®H BEHE
Number of Number of
employees employees
1,000,000/ JT 2 A T~ HK$1,000,000 or below 6 4
1,000,001/ 7T & HK$1,000,001 to
1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,500,000 1 2
1,500,001%8 7Tt & HK$1,500,001 to
2,000,000/ 7T HK$2,000,000 - —
2,000,0017% T & HK$2,000,001 to
2,500,000/% T HK$2,500,000 2 —
9 6

BREFEZIEABEARARRE THE
NE(BILBBaEERAR I LE
LHBD IR ERKEBRRAA
((BAERDRIUR EBACRERAR
ANAEI(NUR D) Ao R BT E -
RBTIEER:

a i A & &8

b T EERK A

c FENKEMARZHE
d. FE=

e. MHEHE

f. BHEKRE

g HE

&

NAREBEFEEELERTHERE -
HMRRESFERMEDBEEEZ  BIZA
TREBEARESEEKEET RIE
BEARRTFEMEDRZRRFE
TEAL »

The performance related bonuses included an incentive
scheme adopted by the Company’s certain subsidiaries,
namely Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai SAC”),
Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Limited (“Allied
Wangchao”) and Shandong Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd.
(“Shandong SAC”). Criteria on the incentive scheme are:

Amount of profits

Average cost of production

Quantities of cement and clinker produced
Electricity consumption

Coal consumption

Aggregate amount of aging debts

Sales volume

@"ooo0oTw

Each company bases on its annual budgeted performance to
set its targets. If pre-set targets are achieved in a particular
month, all staff will be entitled to performance related bonus
as determined for in each target level as well as on
individual's assessed performance during the subject month.
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11. BiIE

(X EREHE:

B0 #5418
— B ¥R
— BRI

BEFEZ(BETR)
TR R
— PEEEMBM
— BANER

I 2T 7 78 (B9 5£38)

11. TAXATION

The (charge) credit comprises:
Current tax

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax
— Hong Kong Profits Tax

(Under) over provision in prior years

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax
— Hong Kong Profits Tax

Deferred tax (note 38)

—E-XRE —E—RF
2016 2015
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(9,376) (4,766)
(19) (19)
(9,395) (4,785)
(1) (439

14 -

13 (439)
1,957 2,395
(7,425) (2,829)

TECEMSRIREBRENEB L
AZHEAE - REPEREESR - —
BRAPEKY ERARIUERESH
MEeEZHBAR - ARBE=—T—
NEN_ZE-—RF+-_A=1t—HILF
EEREEHEI5% - S—BRPEK
TZMBARERAR/(EEREER
Mo HROBEBER) AAREBE—FT—
NET_A=+—RLFEZHAEEHR
F12.5% o AR B S 2 H Al B B 2 7
RBE-_T-—RF+-_A=1+—HILF
B2 BRHEHR25% (—F—HF:
25%) - —FHENBEBEMARLZHBR
AIZARBTEECEMEV ELPER
TZEHME - BRRERE T —HHE
BB AR PS8 U AMER 2 B0
B e

BB NS M E FE DR 45 R
8 A 216.6% 5T & o

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the rates
applicable to respective subsidiaries. According to the PRC
tax laws and regulations, a subsidiary established in the PRC,
which was recognised as the High and New Technology
Enterprise in Shandong Province, is entitled to enjoy the
preferential tax rate at 15% for the years ended 31
December 2016 and 2015. Another subsidiary established in
the PRC was recognised as ({PEMFR - - 4 AZEIE
B) and is entitled to enjoy the preferential tax rate at 12.5%
for the year ended 31 December 2016. The applicable tax
rate for other subsidiaries established in the PRC is 25%
(2015: 25%) for the year ended 31 December 2016. A
subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong is subject to
withholding tax charged on the interest income from lendings
to a PRC subsidiary at the withholding tax rate prevailing in
the PRC under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for both years.
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11. BIE ) 11. TAXATION (CONTINUED)
REEHMEBELHEGEERREME The taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the
HKmXRAZKRTAIEESEROT loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:
—E-ARF —T—hfF
2016 2015
TER FTAT
HK$°000 HK$'000
B A A1 S 18 Loss before taxation (20,128) (26,985)
B A AT 1S A A 2K 25% Tax credit at the
ZE—RF:25%)ETH domestic income tax rate
ZBRIEE R of 25% (2015: 25%) 5,032 6,746
A N 2 Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
e tax purpose (10,998) (5,309)
BERBTBA 218 Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
2 purpose 3,026 4,402
KERZHEBEZMIE  Tax effect of tax losses
wE not recognised (7,258) 8,717)
BEUEZHETE Tax effect of preferential tax rate 1,470 547
FEEMBEDEERKE 2K B Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
RAZTRABEZZE operating in other jurisdictions 10 10
ROIERBF 2B Reversal of withholding tax on
1 undistributed earnings 392 356
BAFE 2 BEEE Over (under) provision
(BETR) in prior years 13 (439)
AR AR Utilisation of tax loss previously not
AR B recognised 2,020 —
JEE— BB E QREE 2 Tax effect of share of
HIETE results of an associate @) —
JEME—MAERRELE 2 Tax effect of share of
MBTE results of a joint venture (1,024) -
Hh Others (104) (425)
RNEFEHIE L H Taxation charge for the year (7,425) (2,829)
AN RIERPRHEEZ ETEE The domestic tax rate represents the statutory tax rate of the
NAIZEEHRER - major group companies operating in the PRC.
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12. KREEEE

—E-XRE —E—RF
2016 2015
FET FE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
NEEZEBEIG(GEA) @ Loss for the year has been arrived at
after charging (crediting):
BTEH Staff costs (including Directors’
(BREEFEW:) emoluments)
FekHEMER Salaries and other costs 39,686 25517
B EE ARG BER Equity-settled share-based
pANE:N payments 13,761 —
RKAE A 5T &) Contributions to retirement benefits
3k schemes 6,325 4,198
59,772 29,715
2% AN BN Auditor’s remuneration 2,067 974
HRABXHZ Cost of inventories recognised as
FERAR expenses 538,120 435,852
NEREDSE ! Loss on impairment and write-off of
FEEE inventories 576 5,685
| E E Amortisation of intangible assets 456 278
"EMERE Depreciation of investment properties 67 —
Y- BREREE Depreciation of property, plant and
e equipment 28,257 22,888
B T ERRE Total amortisation and depreciation 28,780 23,166
T AR TENEE Release of prepaid lease payments on
FIARE S land use rights 1,440 195
HERMEDNE KFE Net (gain) loss on disposal and write-off
BBz Uhs)EEEE  of property, plant and equipment (6,060) 1,697
MEZIKEHE Operating lease rentals in respect of
itk premises 4,167 1,161
REBE_ZT—R"F+H=T—HLF During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group paid

B AEBEAREERERBLSTH
—B AT BRI R B Z AR 21,991,000
BT (ZE—
EXREWARFALXFAHETER

e -

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

HK$1,991,000 (2015: HK$8,061,000) services fee to a
personnel services company providing temporary labours to

A 8,061,000/ 7T) © 7% the Group. Such amounts are excluded from the total staff
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FEHREXSEEER AR TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

— R — FaikE
2016 2015
TER T
HK$°000 HK$'000
&8 Loss
FGTESKRERKL#E  Loss for the purposes of basic and
EEZEBERRRR diluted loss per share (loss for the year
JEGAREEEE) attributable to owners of the Company) (37,076) (34,237)
—NE —AaF
2016 2015
B %
Shares Shares
Iz & B Number of shares
BATEEREE Weighted average number of ordinary
2 A% N #E shares for the purpose of loss per
15 2 share 4,949,626,885 4,950,000,000
HE-_ZT—hF+-_A=1T— EILtif For the year ended 31 December 2015, the number of

AR ETREAR BEHA
BERERFAACEAEERTE
FOUBRA_B—nF—HET2E

3B RHT Al (T AR D 3 AR ) T 38 2 o
BHR{TEARBBRESEHERE
BRL - BEAEBE—FT—RF 1+ A

St BULFEZERESEREY
BRRTEZSFERE -

HMAREBE-_Z—hAE+-_A=+—8H
IFEERBEHRIY EIITEINNE
ELAK WY ERZEERIER
BEEE -

@Sy

ApREEg (B8 ) TEBRNE
E_E-RFt-A=+—BLFEZ
Xﬁﬂﬂxg(_f e | e

RAFEE » NRFYEE KSR AE
(ZZE—hF:\)-

14.

ordinary shares for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per
share has been determined on the basis that the ordinary
shares of the Company have been in issue and adjusted for
the effect of the subdivision of the ordinary shares in
January 2015 (the “Share Subdivision”).

The computation of the diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2016 does not assume the exercise of
the Company’s share options as such would result in a
decrease in loss per share.

No diluted loss per share has been presented for the year
ended 31 December 2015 as there was no outstanding
potential ordinary share during the year and at the end of the
reporting period.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) does
not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil).

No dividend was declared or paid by the Company during
the year (2015: Nil).
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15. ¥ BERRZE 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
BFER B %EB
BEY &L
Buildings HELE BERKSE ZEEIE  Furniture, AE
and Leasehold  Plant and Construction fixtures and Motor B
structures improvements machinery in progress equipment vehicles Total
FTET FTERT TER FTERT FTET FTERT FTET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RA& COST
R=ZZ—-R8%—A—H At 1 January 2015 276,186 4,099 261,460 19,421 5,522 8,624 575,312
ELAEYE Effect of exchange adjustments (15,509) (230) (14,758) (1,091) (306) (484) (32,378)
NE Additions 1111 - 4,085 7,889 341 1174 14,600
HE R Disposals and write-off - (515) (12,216) - (220) (1,526) (14,477)
ENNHE Reclassification 15,386 - 2,972 (20,340) 1,982 - -
BEABEAR Adjustment for overprovision (6,501) - - - - - (6,501)
RZZ—1%F At 31 December 2015
+-A=+-8 270,673 3,354 241,543 5,879 7,319 7,788 536,556
ERAEYE Effect of exchange adjustments (25,270) (938) (17,575) 2,118 (1,522) (600) (48,023
WEHBAR Arising on acquisition of
FTEAE subsidiaries 126,846 11,594 27,337 9,422 17,001 2,614 194,814
WE Additions 3,199 1,117 4,973 36,800 2,170 631 48,890
& R Disposals and write-off (7,194) (942 (6,166) - (435) (4,280) (19,017)
BEHNE Reclassification 1,469 - 9,838 (12,418) 1,085 2 -
RZE—RF At 31 December 2016
+-A=+-8 369,723 14,185 259,950 37,565 25,618 6,179 713,220
nE DEPRECIATION
R=ZZT—h%—A—H At 1 January 2015 40,793 973 103,338 - 3,438 4,670 163,212
ERREYE Effect of exchange adjustments (2,643 (60) (6,391) - (221) (313 (9,628)
REERE Provided for the year 7,886 126 12,818 - 730 1,328 22,888
R E R 8 Eliminated on disposals and
Eaf | write-off - (496) (8,971) - (194) (1,135) (10,796)
RZZE-R1F At 31 December 2015
+-A=+—-H 46,036 543 100,794 - 3,753 4,550 155,676
ERAEYE Effect of exchange adjustments 8,271) (58) (7,236) - (344) (310) (11,219)
KEEEGE Provided for the year 8,970 1,458 13,895 - 2,559 1,375 28,257
R E i Eliminated on disposals and
H§ write-off (3,301) (942) (3,497) - (435) (3,535) (11,710)
B Impairment - - - - 4 8 12
RZZ—RF At 31 December 2016
+=ZA=1+—-H” 48,434 1,001 103,956 - 5,537 2,088 161,016
REE CARRYING VALUES
Y\ZE-R At 31 December 2016
+-A=+—8 321,289 13,184 155,994 37,565 20,081 4,091 552,204
RZZ—1%F At 31 December 2015
+=ZA=1+—-H” 224,637 2,811 140,749 5879 3,566 3,238 380,880
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ME- -BERKE®

N EE - BMERZE(EETRERIN
TIABEGEER AT FERITE

BFEREZEY 2.5%—9%
HERE 4.5%-18%
& 5 I i 25 5%—9%
B BN RE 9%—20%

A
ARE B AN FE 2 EE L -

18%—-33.3%

R-ZE—RE+-_A=+—H K&EH
I E R EES £ 4105,999,000% 7T
(ZZ—F4 : 133,907,000/ 7T) th & 5
NIZEYAR B E NS - ARG —
TH4R 17§ $102,793,0005 7 (ZE—H
F : 25,440,000/ 7T) MR EEF A E
F Z 576,484,000 T (— T — R &F:

69,249,0007% JT) A8 B8 &Y %2 HR 9F 17 @b
B BEBRMZFIBHESHEMN 6 -

REkEBEZ RS

B MR -_E——FALA=-+N\H
SINCIHEEEWNS  UWBERTERER
#es o R (E A A RK380,000,0007T

(188 7 49424,581,000/% T(ZE—Fh
F 1 454,002,000 7T)) - —IABE 1%
HIBEREBEMMEEERKAR
UREEBERAEBZFKELEER
mERER((AEBER]) AEER
ARAB R EIEZE R E R EBES
B -W—ZE—ARF+-_A=+—8"t
BLBESN=—EEERZE TARE
ZEHEBMN A £ AREBS,270,0007T
(ZZ— A% AR¥68,270,0007T) (4
B R #176,279,0008 T (ZE — A F:
81,565,000/ 1)) - K Z B HRARQ
RIEHS R A-—ZE——F+A=AK=
E——F+—A+ABZAERBHR
N4 A B IR R B 7543 o

15.

16.

HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line
basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings and structures 2.5%-9%

Leasehold improvements 4.5%-18%

Plant and machinery 5%-9%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 9%-20%

Motor vehicles 18%—-33.3%
The buildings of the Group are situated on the leasehold land
in the PRC.

At 31 December 2016, the Group pledged its buildings and
structures and plant and machinery with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$105,999,000 (2015: HK$133,907,000) to secure
for a bank loan of HK$102,793,000 (2015: HK$25,440,000)
and short-term bank facilities in respect of the issuance of
bills payable to suppliers amounting to HK$76,484,000 (2015:
HK$69,249,000). Details of the pledged of assets referred to
note 46.

DEPOSITS FOR EQUIPMENT AND
MACHINERIES

On 28 September 2012, Shanghai SAC entered into three
purchase agreements for the purchases of certain equipment
and machineries at the aggregate consideration of
RMB380,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$424,581,000 (2015: HK$454,002,000). The equipment
and machineries under the three purchase agreements were
purchased for future use in the development of new cement
production facilities at Bailonggang, Pudong, Shanghai
(“Bailonggang Project”) and the Group and the Company
does not intend to retain such equipment and machineries
for their own use. As at 31 December 2016, Shanghai SAC
has settled the respective first payments of the total
consideration in an aggregate amount of RMB68,270,000
(2015: RMB68,270,000) (equivalent to approximately
HK$76,279,000 (2015 HK$81,565,000)) under the three
purchase agreements. Details of the transaction were set out
in the announcement and circular of the Company dated 3
October 2012 and 15 November 2012 respectively and note
43 to these consolidated financial statements.
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17. TifEF A2 FESBHERE 17

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND
USE RIGHTS

—EB—RF —E—hEF
2016 2015
THER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
T AR 2 FBEM A EFIE The prepaid lease payments on land use
BE rights comprise:
FHEAOTZ Leasehold land in the PRC under
FEEE T medium-term lease 105,877 6,872
MMEMIEL 2D AT+ Analysed for reporting purposes as:
EME Non-current 104,378 6,685
& Current 1,499 187
105,877 6,872

HEL AR REREERGRF S
B -

RIE—REN_FT—HF+ A=+
—B AEEERE T MMEREZTE
NHEERE LRSRTEREER
MARBNZEMCEETRE - HiF
BEZHBERELEM 46 -

The leasehold land is released on a straight-line basis over
the remaining term of leases.

At 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group pledged certain
prepaid lease payments on land use rights to secure for
bank loans and short-term bank facilities in respect of the
issuance of bills payable. Details of the pledged of assets
referred to note 46.
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18. RE W 18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
FETT
HK$'000
KA COST
RZE—AF—HA—BK At 1 January 2015 and
—E-RAF+=—A=+—H 31 December 2015 =
EHRAEFE Effect on exchange adjustments (333)
KEWEN B QA Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 5,466
R-E—RF+_A=1+—H At 31 December 2016 5,133
ey AMORTISATION
RZE—RAF—A—BX At 1 January 2015 and
—ZE—hE+ZH=+—H 31 December 2015 —
fELAETE Effect on exchange adjustments —
REZ R Charge for the year 67
RZE—RF+ZA=1+—H At 31 December 2016 67
REE CARRYING VALUE
RZE—RF+ZA=1+—H At 31 December 2016 5,066
RZE—RAF+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2015 —
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19. B8 19. GOODWILL
FHT
HK$'000
2% COST

R-_E—h&—HA—H At 1 January 2015 and
RZZE—RF+=H=+—H 31 December 2015 —
U B8 Bt /&8 A &) BT 2= AE (FfY 5239) Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39) 219,492
fEHAETE Effect on exchange adjustments (1,937)
RZE-—RE+TA=+—H At 31 December 2016 217,555

RZZE—RNFtA+-H KEEBEZTK
BRImERTEEEEERAFCK
DA ZHENMER AT B ZRE R
BHRR AR Z60%AER - MWERE
B A K #291,200,000T (8 & »
338,871,000/ L) - AWEEMEE 278
£ 5% 5219,492,000/8 7T © ;BB L
BIB3E89 » WIS E LB 2l E
SHEERNFHAEETEMET - &
EEZEBVEEGEMETERMG
B - AFBEHERS RS EAPTE
AZETERBVEEFEER - KAKE
R FBHEEERARERNEK - Wit ki
BAITHEERTEDN EEERNEEER
FHEFEREREFERREZE
B AN BBEEREE B Y ME %
ERMEE BHAERBARSRER
B LNEEBREM E2 AFHITEE
BRI EI55% BEYE - BB RAFH
M 23R &= %R R2.3%HEH -
EREBHEE TRUZSERE{Z2ETME
BrAggESH reERtReE LS
UzBEAcHBRAET KD £5EE

On 12 July 2016, the Group completed the acquisition of
60% of the equity interest in Jt R KK R EEHFR A A (Beijing
Ziguang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.) from [ZJI T EREEEE
B AR A A, an intermediate holding company of the
Company, for a cash consideration of RMB291,200,000
(equivalent to HK$338,871,000). The amount of goodwill
arising as a result of the acquisition was HK$219,492,000.
Details referred to note 39. The recoverable amount of this
cash generating unit has been determined based on a value
in use calculation. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to perform such valuation. The use of the
key assumptions of the cash flow projection during the
5-year budget period include the discount rate, terminal
growth rate, budgeted sales and gross margin taking into
account the relevant industry growth forecasts, financial
budgets approved by the directors from the management’s
experience from manufacturing of related prescription drugs
and laboratory related products and management’s
expectation for the market development. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a 5-year period, and
discount rate of 15.5%. The cash flows beyond the 5-year
period are extrapolated at a growth rate of 2.3%.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount
of this cash generating unit.
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—HA—H
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R-ZE—RF
+=-—A=+—H
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2
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FrE4

I 34,38 %
=5

=

AE R R

?@

BREE
RZE—RF
+=-—A=+—8H

\77 ﬂﬁz
+fﬂ_+ =

AT R

20.

COST

At 1 January
2015

Effect on exchange
adjustments

At 31 December
2015

Effect on exchange
adjustments

FEHREXSEEER AR TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Arising on acquisition of

subsidiaries
Addition

At 31 December
2016

AMORTISATION
At 1 January
2015
Effect on exchange
adjustments
Charge for the year

At 31 December
2015

Effect on exchange
adjustments

Charge for the year

At 31 December
2016

CARRYING VALUE
At 31 December
2016

At 31 December
2015

i‘%ﬁﬁé Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Em
RS E = A
PR E R Club Product P
Mining right membership license Total
FAT TAT TAT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
11,751 it = 11,751
(660) — i (660)
11,091 — — 11,091
(719) — 427) (1,146)
— — 6,947 6,947
850 278 — 1,128
11,222 278 6,520 18,020
1,881 — — 1,881
(118) — — (118)
278 — — 278
2,041 — — 2,041
(144) — 8) (152)
272 — 184 456
2,169 — 176 2,345
9,053 278 6,344 15,675
9,050 — — 9,050
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20. B EE &)

BRAEBRERFH BLEILSEIN
BREEARBEREER AT HE#

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Other than the club membership, which have indefinite useful
lives, the intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line

8H basis over the following periods:
R 504 Mining right 50 years
/2 on 7T Al 78 T Product license 7 years
21 R—EBEQT z2ER 21. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

=t i

2016 2015

TER FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

B KA Cost of investment 2,615 —

EHAETE Effect on exchange adjustments 1 —

FEAE B 1R s Share of post-acquisition reserves (15) —

2,601 —

AEBP-_ZE—AXF+-A=+—BZ
BE AR ZF BRI ST

22 R—BEERRZER

Particulars of the Group’s associate at 31 December 2016
are set out in note 51.

22. INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE

—EB-RF s

2016 2015

FHET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

B KA Cost of investment 36,855 —
FE A UL BB 14 (1 Share of post-acquisition reserves (4,096) —
32,759 —
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TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—A~NF+ZA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE
(CONTINUED)

During the year, the Group entered into a General Partner
Investment and Shareholders Agreement with an individual
third party (the “Individual”). Pursuant to the agreement, the
Group and the Individual jointly controlled Taisheng
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Taisheng”). Taisheng is the general
partner and in turns has full control over Tongfang Konta
Capital L.P. (“Konta Capital”) which holds 68.74% of Apros
Therapeutics, Inc. (“Apros”), a company duly incorporated
under the laws of Delaware, the United States of America,
and engaged in medical research with a focus in immunology
and small molecule. The Group invested US$4,750,000
(equivalent to HK$36,855,000) in Konta Capital and,
accordingly, directly held 99.99% of the Konta Capital as a
limited partner and also provided management services to
Konta Capital via a non-wholly owned subsidiary.
Accordingly, Konta Capital is a 99.99% joint venture of the
Group effectively.

The Group has an option to subscribe for 250,000 shares of
Taisheng, which by then the Group could exercise control
over Taisheng. The option shall be exercisable at any time
after the earlier of (i) the fourth anniversary of the date of
investment (i.e. 5 August 2020) and (ii) the registration of a
patent for a lead compound by Apros. In the opinion of the
Directors, the value of the subscription option is insignificant.

The Directors consider that the investment will enhance the
research and innovation capability of the Group in the
development of medical and pharmaceutical products.

Particulars of the Group’s joint venture at 31 December 2016
are set out in note 52.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The balance represented completed properties located in the
PRC.

7E& 24. INVENTORIES
—E—-XRE —ET—ARF
2016 2015
FHET FHE T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEBETIIER: Inventories consist of the following:

R} Raw materials 33,561 20,202
E?% o Work in progress 10,675 274
2K d Finished goods 34,252 13,854

78,488 34,330
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25.

BFREZRERBERERE

& E 5 5K IA
e WE B R IR R

W R &

AEBEZBRRETEESIEPL R
NFIORRIFEAZZEEM - RIS
HARRBEEZAH2I 2 BRKEHK
AR EWRE GO RIERE®) 2R
T

0£90H 0 to 90 days
91£2180H 91 to 180 days
1812365H 181 to 365 days
B im1F Over 1 year

EEMNTAMZTLA  NEEGFG
BEEPZEEEZNEEEPZE
ERE -EPZRBELEFDEFRA
MR © K997% (ZF —HF - £991%) &Y
& W B8 55 5K IR K e SR IR 3 4 A R B
ME - AEEERERS  NIMEHR
W 48 780 B 3XOR0 18 2 B WM B 5 5K 0R I R
BWEBEHNEEERRY BT
EPFRASERZARYPEERIE -

25. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Less: Allowance for trade receivables

Bills receivables

—E-XRE —E—RF
2016 2015
FHET FHETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
280,038 167,626
(34,562) (32,971)
245,476 134,655
102,513 160,785
347,989 295,440

The Group has a policy of allowing its trade customers credit
periods normally ranging from 30 days to 1 year. The aged
analysis of trade and bills receivables, net of allowance for
bad and doubtful debts, is presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

—E—REF —E—RF
2016 2015
FHExT FE T
HK$°000 HK$’000
206,377 161,123
93,456 59,782
36,812 47,388
11,344 27,147
347,989 295,440

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess
the potential customer’s credit quality and define credit limits
by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed twice a year. Approximately 97% (2015:
approximately 91%) of the trade and bills receivables were
neither past due nor impaired. Management of the Group is
of the opinion that the credit quality of the trade and bills
receivables balances that are neither past due nor impaired
at the end of the reporting period is of good quality and
these customers have long term relationship with the Group.
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25. ERESRERERERE 2

RZE—ARF+-A=+—H ~%£H
ZEWEGHIERERZEEG BT
RIEREHIRE 1B B i AN 52 (3 30 48 5T 3R
EEENENREZR AFEmMEEA
11,344,0007 7T (ZZ— R4 : 27,147,000
BIT) °

RBEHREBHERREZEEE
FHRAREREBRZREDTIT

B4

JE W S 5 58 2 AR EE C FORR T 51 0R
(ERETE

Over 1 year

25.

HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2016, included in the Group’s trade and bills
receivables balances are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$11,344,000 (2015: HK$27,147,000) which are
past due at the end of the reporting period for which the
Group has not provided for impairment loss.

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills
receivables that were past due at the end of the reporting
period but not impaired:

—E-AF it
2016 2015
FRT TAT
HK$°000 HK$'000
11,344 27,147

The carrying amount of the trade receivables is after netting
off the following impairment allowances:

—E-XF —E—0F
2016 2015
THER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
F )4 Balance at beginning of the year 32,971 30,907
N ER Exchange difference (2,410) (2,460)
B FE W K1 1 R Impairment losses recognised on
B e 1E receivables 4,109 18,274
1E & 8 % i (B 50 I8 i 88 Amounts written off as
2 FRIE uncollectible - (13,750)
FAWE 2 FRIE Amounts recovered during the year (108) —
34,562 32,971

R-ZZE—RFE+-_A=1+—H0 REE
B BN B IE 42 45 #4 534,562,000/ 7T
— T —F4F 32,971,000/ 7o) &9 18 B
ERERKESRIE  ZEEHTIK
ZEEWESRENEFEERLY 8
RSB BENR - RE
DR EREHESEEREBETE -
RNEBI R ZE L T H T AT

[}
A °

At 31 December 2016, included in the allowance for bad and
doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables with
an aggregate balance of HK$34,562,000 (2015:
HK$32,971,000) which was assessed after considering the
credit history of the customers, including default or delay in
settlement, subsequent settlements, aging analysis of trade
receivables and the business relationship with the customers.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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26. HttEWRIE - HERFEN 26. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

g PREPAYMENTS
—E-RF —E—HF
2016 2015
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
)t FE 7 0 K Advance to suppliers 66,983 17,514
BffES Deposits paid 2,069 543
SEENE s Prepayments 10,096 8,384
H b i U 3B (B 53) Other receivables (note) 56,634 22,478
& YR 17 7 B A Bank interest income receivable 5,246 2,223
141,028 51,142

B &+ BT A H A U FRIE R B 1R — 1B R R IE
% % 513,610,000 (=T — H 4F:
14,337,000/ 70) * E TyZFFE6% (=
T—FF:6%)iE °

Note: There is a receivable amounting to HK$13,610,000 (2015:
HK$14,337,000) carrying interest at 6% (2015: 6%) per annum
included in other receivables.

27. BIWER 27. LOANS RECEIVABLE

—E-KF —T—hfF
2016 2015
THER FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000

ElRER Loans receivable
HEE AR Reverse repurchase agreements (@) 125,981 —
BERERE Loan note (b) - —
HtERER Other loans receivable ©) 41,283 —
167,264 —
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27. EWER#)
(@) FEBEEE
RBE-—E—A&E+-A=+—H

(b)

(c)

HFE  AEBEAYOE BB
EEBEEHERGAEILAARE ST
& - Ae4a%E 5 AREES78,100,000
7T (P & 70645,922,0005 70) (=&
— R4 A R #¥537700,0007T (18
B 72642,413,000/8 7)) » EIEAHAR
NF—Z2-+NH FENTF
206% £9.30% (= & — f F:
0.45% E23.00%) 2 E5 G #H R [0
RS ZEUwRBARESE

A E TR MR R TR I 4R 3 PR R
Bl B e
RBE-_Z—RF+-_A=+—H

HTFEE KesBEAEARE
465,400,0007T (F8E #520,000,000
BN E - B FE: AR
543,700,000 (A8 & $£649,582,000
B2 BOEARE LB E
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EXEE

REE-_Z—RF+_A=1+—
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27. LOANS RECEIVABLE (coNTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

143

Reverse repurchase agreements

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group,
as the reverse repo party, entered into pledge-style
bond repo transactions that were denominated in RMB
with the aggregate principal amount of
RMB578,100,000 (equivalent to HK$645,922,000) (2015:
RMB537,700,000 (equivalent to HK$642,413,000))
through the Shanghai Stock Exchange with maturity
periods from 1 day to 28 days and carried interest
ranged from 2.06% to 9.30% (2015: 0.45% to 23.00%)
per annum. Such reverse repurchase agreements are
classified as loans and receivables and stated at
amortised cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, reverse
repurchase agreements with aggregate principal amount
of RMB465,400,000 (equivalent to HK$520,000,000)
(2015: RMB543,700,000 (equivalent to
HK$649,582,000)) had matured and been redeemed.

Loan note

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
subscribed for fixed coupon note that was
denominated in HK$ with the aggregate principal
amount of HK$80,000,000 (2015: HK$1,370,000,000)
with maturity period of six (2015: one) months. The
fixed coupon note carried interest at 1.18% (2015:
0.58% to 0.90%) per annum. Such loan note is
classified as loans and receivables and is stated at
amortised cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, fixed
coupon notes with aggregate principal amount of
HK$80,000,000 (2015: HK$1,370,000,000) had matured
and been redeemed.

Other loans receivable

Other loans receivable with aggregate principal amount
of RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to HK$39,106,000)
carrying interest at 12% per annum is stated at
amortised cost. The balance as at 31 December 2016
represented a receivable with maturity within one year
from the end of the reporting period.
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28. ZRERKRAFEEEE

28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

ZEMEE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
—E-XF —E—0F
2016 2015
THER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEEERE Held for trading investments
(6 Bonds (@) 79,438 78,126
REBLEWZ Equity securities listed in
N Hong Kong (b) 15,849 —
REBUINET 2 Equity securities listed outside
IR B 5 Hong Kong (o) 2,783 4,101
EEEBEZRZ DT Financial assets designated
EEEEZ2EBMEE as at fair value through
profit or loss
B = 1 6 45 18 1 Exchange rate linked structured
e deposits ©) 22,434 —
120,504 82,227
(@ &= (a) Bonds

(b)

ZEBEHEAETL(ETDEE
FBAB3.25%%E4.00% o HRAE
BIREEEXSEENMMERD
EeHE BREEEFEWRIER
BIEEBKRE -

IR A 3 55
BAZESHTIRATEEIE - Z

ENTMENBEEREEZS
FFTR 2 TS E AERT -

(b)
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The bonds were denominated in United States dollars
(“US$”) and carried interest at 3.25% to 4.00% per
annum. The bonds are classified as held for trading
investment since the Group intended to hold the bonds
for short term and liquidity purposes.

Equity securities
Equity securities are stated at fair value which is

determined based on the quoted market bid price
available on the relevant stock exchanges.
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28. ZRERKRRAFEEREE

ZERMEE®
(c) EXHBEBEER

REZE2-T—XF+-_A=+—
AIEFE AEBBEEITEIZIA
AREBHAE  ASBEBBAARE
135,000,000 T (#H & »
150,838,000/ TT)(—Z & — A F :
) EEEA— @A ZFRA
B R A S0 45 B I TF RN ©

REE-ZT—RNE+-_A=+—
BLEFE AeBEABARE
135,000,000t (#H & ®
150,838,000/ T)(— & —HF :
B)ZHEBUEERBIHREEA
R #115,097,0007t (8 & ®
129,606,000 TT)(ZFE — R F:
#m)ED BEAEHZE T F
+- A=+ HIFEBEBIELS
EREATEERESRMEEY
NFEEKZE A RE1,0750007C
(FBE 71,256,000 T —E—F
F ) o

RZERBBUETROMNERERET
BEURTHERBEMTE - AF
REB LT O B X BE SRR I A T
REBBEZFERATVEEREZ

RE—XRF+-_A=+—H #®
DEAFBEREEATEER
BremEEZEBETERZA
FTEBEDREZTHABRBIEER
NFN(—HEEAE B Y R E 2B
N REEREEGHEMMT) RZE
EHZzHEAEEMETE BE
EEE_ZT—R"F+-A=1+—
BrFEABEFZERAFEE
BEZEMEEZATEERZ
AR #78,0007T (FE 7291,000/8
JL) °

BEBMZFIEHE2HM T -

HE-T

—A~NF+ZA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (cONTINUED)

(c)
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Exchange rate linked structured deposits

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
entered into new principal protected exchange rate
linked structured deposits that were denominated in
RMB with the aggregate principal amount of
RMB135,000,000 (equivalent to HK$150,838,000) (2015:
Nil) with banks with maturity periods of one month.

Structured deposits with aggregate principal amount of
RMB135,000,000 (equivalent to HK$150,838,000) (2015:
Nil) had matured and been redeemed at
RMB115,997,000 (equivalent to HK$129,606,000) (2015:
Nil) during the year ended 31 December 2016 and
resulted in fair value gains on financial assets
designated as at fair value through profit or loss of
RMB1,075,000 (equivalent to HK$1,256,000) (2015: Nil)
for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Interest rates of these structured deposits vary
depending on the movement of exchange rate between
the United States Dollars and the Australian Dollars.
Such structured deposits are designated as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss on initial
recognition.

The fair values of structured deposits classified as
financial assets designated as at fair value through
profit or loss as at 31 December 2016 have been
arrived at the basis on the valuation carried out at that
date by Norton Appraisals Limited, a firm of
independent and qualified professional valuers not
connected with the Group, and resulted in fair value
gains on financial assets designated as at fair value
through profit or loss of RMB78,000 (equivalent to
HK$91,000) for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Details of the pledged of assets referred to note 46.
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29. HRAEF K

HiRAHFR

deposits
T =B 89 A M7 X

deposits
HiFR Other deposit
(@) FERHBMEBUEF

REE-Z—RNEFE+-_A=+—
BIEFE  ASEHE—FRRITAT
TUARBE A&BEAA
K #110,000,000t (48 & »
122,905,000 X —ZE—HF : A
R #328,500,0007T (8 & »
392,473,000/ 7t)) + EJHAERR N
F—2XMEA FEN T3.35%
£385% (ZF —HF 3.75% &
4.80%) Z (RARRF R B e
TR

REE-Z—RNEFE+-_A=+—
BLEFE AeBEABARE
280,000,000t (M8 & »
312,849,000 X —E—HF : A
R #344,500,000C(#H & W
411,589,000/ 7)) 2 45 1B 17 3K
BRHEEED -

HZEGBEFRZNERRE LB
R 17 ] 7 36 9% DR X & By i )%
B ZAEEBUETEIBEAE
TR Ko & WK TR I 4% 4 3H K A )
HE o

29. OTHER PRINCIPAL PROTECTED

Other principal protected

Interest rate linked structured

DEPOSITS
—E-XF —E—0F
2016 2015
FET FE T
HK$’000 HK$’000
@) - 205,327
(b) - -
— 205,327

(a)
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Interest rate linked structured deposits

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
entered into principal protected interest rate linked
structured deposits that were denominated in RMB with
the aggregate principal amount of RMB110,000,000
(equivalent to HK$122,905,000) (2015: RMB328,500,000
(equivalent to HK$392,473,000)) with a bank with
maturity periods ranging from one month to six months
and carried interest ranged from 3.35% to 3.85%
(2015: 3.75% to 4.80%) per annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, structured
deposits with aggregate principal amount of
RMB280,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,849,000) (2015:
RMB344,500,000 (equivalent to HK$411,589,000)) had
matured and been redeemed.

Interest rates of these structured deposits vary
depending on the movement of the SHIBOR. Such
structured deposits are classified as loans and
receivables and stated at amortised cost.
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29. HttRABEEFR®) 29. OTHER PRINCIPAL PROTECTED

(b) HftFX

RBEE-_Z—RAF+_A=1+—
BIEFE  AEEHE-RRITE]
NUAARBRE  X2REAEA
E #134,000,0007t(## & ®
160,096,000/8 7t) + B HAHA M &
— @A FENF290%%E3.70%
ZEMRARIFR - 25T
DI AE R B GRIE IR 8 8
A BR o

RNEBEE-_E—AF+_A=1+—
BIEFEE A&@EABARE
134,000,000 (#E & »H
160,096,000/8 70) 2 E M F K E
BH LB ED -

RBE-F—Ae+-A=+—
B - BARIE AR -

3. EHER RErBES

EEY

R-ZTE—RF+_A=1+—H "  RIH
ARUE+—EAZEHMFREREAE
B 55 A 2 B EF A E43%AE 2R
TTHEBR ©

RNZEBE—RE+-A=1+—10 &&EF
ZREERBESEVERERIBSA
ABZEARLIZETEFFE0I% (ZF
—RF:075% F0.80%) 5t B 2 F &
F 71,366,000/8 (= & — 7 F:
200,636,000/ 7T) °

AEEHF2HEMBITERTIIETS
FZ:H B FFEANF0.00% Z0.35%
(ZZE—HF:0.00%%F0.35%) °

DEPOSITS (cOoNTINUED)

(b) Other deposit

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
entered into other deposits that were principal
protected and denominated in RMB with the aggregate
principal amount of RMB134,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$160,096,000) with a bank with maturity periods of
one month and carried interest ranged from 2.90% to
3.70% per annum. Such deposits are classified as
loans and receivables and stated at amortised cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, other
deposits with aggregate principal amount of
RMB134,000,000 (equivalent to HK$160,096,000) had
matured and been redeemed.

No such arrangement is made throughout the year
ended 31 December 2016.

30. TIME DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS

Time deposits with original maturity between 4 to 12 months
comprised bank balances held by the Group and carried
fixed interest rate which was 4.3% per annum at 31
December 2016.

At 31 December 2016, included in the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents are time deposits with original maturity
within 3 months of HK$1,366,000 (2015: HK$200,636,000)
which carried fixed interest at 0.9% (2015: 0.75% to 0.80%)
per annum.

Other bank balances held by the Group carried interest at
market rates which range from 0.00% to 0.35% (2015: 0.00%
to 0.35%) per annum.
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3. ENESRERENRERE 31. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
RMEHR AEEENESHHRIBRIE An aged analysis of the Group’s trade and bills payables,
NEBERBEZABHES 2RO presented based on the invoice date, at the end of the
wm reporting period is as follows:
—E-XF —E—0F
2016 2015
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
0% 90H 0 to 90 days 65,230 60,043
912180H 91 to 180 days 50,373 20,300
181£365H 181 to 365 days 54,833 20,324
@1 Over 1 year 4,992 3,330
175,428 103,997
2. HENREBREREZE 32. OTHER PAYABLES AND DEPOSITS
RECEIVED
—E-RE —ET—A1F
2016 2015
FET FE T
HK$’000 HK$'000

BEEYE  WMELREEN Payables for acquisition of property,

MIE plant and equipment 3,652 3,905
IWEE P #3 Receipt in advance from customers 22,043 5,435
H h FE A 18 Other tax payables 25,242 16,210
H fh JE 1B Other payables 8,329 2,295
Hih st KL B Other accrued operating expenses 17,010 3,904
=R & Deposits received 10,070 344

86,346 32,093
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33. |RITRHEMEE 33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

—AEFE oo — Th 4E

2016 2015

FET FAE T

HK$°000 HK$’000

RITER Bank loans 536,313 777,456
HiEE Other borrowing 543,128 =
1,079,441 777,456

BHEA Secured 502,793 777,456
2 3 45 Unsecured 576,648 —
1,079,441 777,456

ERRTEREMEEZIHABR

The maturity profile of the above bank and other borrowings

PN is as follows:
—EB—-RF —T—nfF
2016 2015
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BITERCEEBEERE The carrying amount of bank loans are
[ N repayable as follows:
—FRX Within one year 536,313 777,456
HithfEEZ REEE & The carrying amount of other borrowing
wm is repayable as follows:
R—FNR Within one year 380,000 —
MF LA FENER More than two years but not exceeding
"E five years 163,128 —
543,128 —
RITREAMEE Bank and other borrowings 1,079,441 777,456
R —FREIE & Less: Amounts due within one year and
FFARBIBE 2 KIAE shown under current liabilities (916,313) (777,456)
—F BB B NEAIERE  Amounts due after one year and shown
BE 2 RE under non-current liabilities 163,128 —

RZE—RF+-_A=+—08 LIk
H fth f& E780,000,000 T (—ZF —F
& 1 777,456,000 70) JTHAB LA E (W
IEHEEER Z2EER) -

Bank and other borrowings of HK$780,000,000 (2015:
HK$777,456,000) were denominated in HK$ at 31 December
2016, the currency other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entities.
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33. RITREMEE =)

RZE—ARF+=-A=+—8 &~£H
R1TE X #136,313,0008 T (ZE—F
Fom)AANEBRZFNIERAA R
PR -

AEERESRITERMERZEE
B KT 46 ©

AEENERMFEERTLEMEER

33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2016, bank loans of approximately

HK$136,313,000 (2015: Nil) of the Group were guaranteed by
the Group’s intermediate holding company.

Details of the assets of the Group pledged to secure bank
loans are set out in notes 46.

The exposures of the Group’s fixed-rate and variable-rate

EOEN S CINE bank and other borrowings are as follows:
—E-AF i
2016 2015
TER FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
ATEEZESEBE: Fixed-rate borrowings repayable:
ML EERBIBRF More than two years but not more than
five years 163,128 —
ATHEEZEEEE: Variable-rate borrowings repayable:
R—FR Within one year 916,313 777,456
1,079,441 777,456

e AT RERE TR FERT

The variable-rate bank and other borrowings carry interest

FEMEENT: rate, which are repriced periodically, as follows:
—E—XE —E—RF
2016 2015
TER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BBRITREFRE Hong Kong Interbank Offered
511.00% Rate plus 1.00% - 400,000
BBRITRZEFE Hong Kong Interbank Offered
511.35% Rate plus 1.35% 400,000 —
BEBRITRAERE Hong Kong Interbank Offered
$12.00% Rate plus 2.00% - 229,956
BEARITRAERE Hong Kong Interbank Offered
hn2.25% Rate plus 2.25% - 147,500
BERRITRZEFRES Hong Kong Interbank Offered
hn2.75% Rate plus 2.75% 380,000 —
REARBIT—FH 1-year People’s Bank of China
A AEF| & benchmark interest rate
T LA125% multiplied by 125% 33,520 —
FEARBIT—FH 1-year People’s Bank of China
BEERN X benchmark interest rate
E LA130% multiplied by 130% 102,793 —
916,313 777,456
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33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

33. RITREMEE =)

WRE-F—XF+-A=+—HItF
B - AR ER (TR A B ) B o
(REEAHF AR BEMT

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings during the year ended 31 December 2016 are as

34. lRA 34. SHARE CAPITAL
[ &vig - §E|
Number of i@z
shares Share capital
FAET
HK$'000
JATE Authorised:
RZZE—RF—HA—HB&M Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at
HEC.OTE L2 E B 1 January 2015 20,000,000,000 200,000
% 17 ¥+ 248 Subdivision of shares 80,000,000,000 —
R-ZZE—AF+=-HA=+—Ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each at
BR=ZE—RF+A= 31 December 2015 and
+— B &R EE0.002/% 31 December 2016
T2 E R 100,000,000,000 200,000
BEITERHE: Issued and fully paid:
R-ZZE—FAF—HA—HB®MK Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at
HEC.OVE T 2 L i 1 January 2015 990,000,000 9,900
% 1 3 4 Subdivision of shares 3,960,000,000 —
RZZE—RAF+=-A=+— Ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each at
AT "F+ZA= 31 December 2015 and
+—B &R EE0.002/% 31 December 2016
T2 E B 4,950,000,000 9,900

follows:
—E—-XRF —ZE—RF
2016 2015
FET FETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
BERA Effective interest rate:

EERITREMEE Fixed-rate bank and other borrowings 1.20%-6.84% 5.52%-8.00%

FERITRHEHAM Variable-rate bank and other
BE borrowings 1.37%-5.66% 1.30%—6.15%

A-T—AF—A=-+H#E ARAK
NESREEOIETHFAARKRETR
EE0.0028 T2 I fh - RFHFH1F
HARARREH AT —NF+=_A+
NBZ R -

Effective from 20 January 2015, the Company subdivided its
shares of par value of HK$0.01 each into five subdivided
shares of par value of HK$0.002 each. Details of the
transaction were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 19 December 2014.
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35. BRESTE 35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

ARrlz BT 2 ([BE R 2] ) R
T —FNA-+/\BEMA > 5EY
BoEEAAEBERER  REAE
ESUBERGRBAEEN I %2 E
B UERBRARBEBEAEENS AE
BEZANER EECAMEES DR
BIERAENERE  RIEFH HH
AEBEZERELEE R IZRBE
TEER TENZREGCABERZ
WRERANEB ZEEANERZE
AR AL - IAEETRKEARZ
B8 =SHBE -  R1E EMARX
(BREAEETMKE QAT 2T MM
FIENTER) BTURBEBARA K
P ERE - BRETEeE T ——F
—At+NBEF+FRER TR
TZ-_—_F—A+tHEm-

1T {0 8 AL A &t &8 R AN R AT ] E ftb
BREFESCEOMAETEZRE
FARTEBERE(TREERREEFE
55 2 BB A ) I Rl BE B 1T 2 AR B AD
RBIRE - TRBEARRINKEETT
B& 1n 48 8 2 30% © LE D - AT AR BB
R AR M At 813 [A) AN 2 ) 4E fA] b BB AR
BTN TREZAABERE(TERE
BLR RUE IR ) T AT BE 3 1T 2 N B X
A TREBARR BB
FrEMR £z B (T 8RR ) St
A B RER S 2 BARR BT
B fn 48 8 210% °

ARG IRL - B E BT 8 n]
BAZRMNBERCERAE - R-ZT—X
F+_A=+—H BIEBRESEIA
21T 2 B 10 42 #14330,000,000% -
HERR_E—XRNF+_A=+—HK
AR EBEHARBDHEITRMDERY
6.66% (E14,950,000,0008% ) °

REEZZREAMA+ @ AHE
N HATEERTE2EEZBRE
B AR 3R AR B 2 A ] oA B A A 5
AMORTERERTR2EEZMAR
BREBREDITE  SEHEIEKRTE
ZBBRE)MERTREE T ET RN
BB TEBAREERELERARF]
BRITRMHAB 1% - L2 HEEE
— R BEBI%RE 2 BRAE AR
ARBBRAETAHEE - M2 EE
REBEBALHARERSR -

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted on 28 April 2011 for the purpose of
providing incentives to participants to contribute to the Group
and to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract and retain human resources that are
valuable to the Group. The Board may grant an option to
subscribe for the shares in the Company to any individual
being an employee, officer, agent, consultant or
representative of any members of the Group (including any
executive or non-executive director of any member of the
Group) who, as the Board may determine in its absolute
discretion, has made valuable contribution to the business of
the Group based on his/her performance, years of service, or
is regarded to be a valuable human resource of the Group
based on his/her working experience, knowledge in the
industry and other relevant factors. The Share Option
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on 18 January 2012 and will expire on 17
January 2022.

The limit on the total number of the Company’s shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company (excluding lapsed and cancelled options) must not
exceed 30% of the total number of the Company’s shares in
issue from time to time. In addition, the total number of the
Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme,
together with all options to be granted under any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company (excluding lapsed options),
must not represent more than 10% of the total number of the
Company’s shares in issue as at the date of commencement
of the listing of shares of the Company on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) or as at
the date of approval of the refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit.

As a result of the Share Subdivision, the total number of
shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was adjusted. As at 31 December 2016, the total number of
shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 330,000,000, representing approximately 6.66% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue (i.e.
4,950,000,000), as at 31 December 2016 and the date of this
report.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant, together
with all options granted and to be granted to him/her under
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company within the
12-month period immediately preceding the proposed date of
grant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of the Company’s
shares in issue as at the proposed date of grant. Any further
grant of options to a participant in excess of the 1% limit
shall be subject to the shareholders’ approval of the
Company with such participant and his/her associates
abstaining from voting.

152



AAEFEFSEBRAA TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

4R B R R M 55 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

35. BRRESTE (2 35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

BIEERESESRMAQARES  THK
BENTERRIBERSE 2T (5
BATREEMERE HEREBT
FNITEZ(TEREFAEEREANE L
JEMITESR)HE - 1IN WA ARA
FTERRABIIERATESTAHEESS
B 2T B A 9% T ] B8 R A 45
EBY R EA+—EABHRRE TG
BT 2R BBEEITRMZ01% 42
BEREROAREHEREBSE 2 WS
B5tE) #81H5,000,000/ 7T » BIZBHA
NG A N (S b1

BTBREZEHBARELARE
AT NBRERS - SEEREARA
MBEANR TREREZ ZNRN TARF]
Z 21008 T - BREZITREIS
HEESRT  EREABERATITE
HRIB R BB A BB AT 4 o

RIBR T8 A THERERITERA
RABRMDZITEBINFERAT=E2
RRE @BFHBREZA(LARE
X BB P B RERMIIHK N K
B (0)R E R R g B B AT R (E
SERBBIAEARERMIIRNDZF
B HE: Rokh®EE -

R-E-—XNE+tA-+-H(HEEAR
) EF23ARER-_ZE——FN
AT N\HB®EMZTE RSB TAERKS
B ([H& & A #®H 4 $£148,500,000
BRI HE - AR BB 4 $£148,500,000/%
AN A AN P B {E0.002)8 T 2 A&
NREBRBE(EGD]D  EESHEBAK
ANEMERAIEE - BB RESZE
HifEGSEKGERE BHERHER
BZE—FHFBIREARARNBRAE T
—RNEtLtAZt+-HZRAER -

Any option to be granted under the Share Option Scheme to
a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any of their respective associates must be
approved by Independent Non-Executive Directors (excluding
Independent Non-Executive Director who is the grantee). In
addition, any option to be granted to a substantial
shareholder of the Company or an Independent Non-
Executive Director or any of their respective associates which
will result in the shares issued and to be issued in excess of
0.1% of the issued shares or with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the shares at the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5,000,000 within any 12-month period is
subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting.

An offer for grant of options must be accepted within 28
days from the date of grant. The amount payable by each
grantee of options to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of options is HK$1.00. The exercisable
period will be determined by the Board and in any event
must not be more than 10 years from the date of the grant
of the option.

The exercise price for the Company’s shares on the exercise
of options under the Share Option Scheme shall be at least
the highest of: (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (b) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of the
share.

On 22 July 2016 (the “Grant Date”), the Board has resolved
to grant to certain eligible participants (the “Grantees”),
subject to acceptance by such Grantees, a total of
148,500,000 share options to subscribe for a total number of
148,500,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each of the
Company (the “Shares”) in the share capital of the Company
under the Scheme adopted on 28 April 2011. All the share
options shall be vested in accordance with their respective
vesting conditions of the share options. Further details
regarding the grant of Share Options are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 22 July 2016.
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2 ==
35. BRESE (@) 35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
AAGMRIBFTEEE 2 BRERERN The details of the movements of the Company’s share
ZEEBEFBOT options under the Scheme during the year are as follows:
BREHA
Number of share options
BERH
BRANTE RZB-RE
REALE /80 SRTEE  Closing price TEHE H%-RE FRERE tzA=t-8
Name of Exercise  immediately (K 1R2) FEEE -B-8  EABRE  Exercised ERBAN As at
Grantees/ REAK price  before Grant  Exercise period Vesting As at Granted during during Lapsed during 31 December
Category Grant Date per Share Date  (Notes 1 and 2) period 1 January 2016 the year the year the year 2016
A A
HKS HKS
UnEs
Executive Directors
EA IERE 068 087 ZF-nEFtAztzRZ il - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
tA=TZH ZECERCACT-R
Ng Qing Hai 22 July 2016 22 July 2016 to 21 July 2020 Note 1
F& ZE-RE 068 067 “E-RELAZTIRE iRl - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000
tAztzR CECTELACT-R
Zhang Yi 22 July 2016 22 July 2016 to 21 July 2020 Note 1
BUFHAES
Independent Non-Executive Directors
Rk 3 068 067 “F-RELAZTIRE iRl - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
tAzTzH ECEELACT-R
Chan Sze Chung 22 July 2016 22 July 2016 to 21 July 2020 Note 1
R IERE 068 087 ZF-nFtAztzRZ il - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
tA=TZH ZECERCACT-R
Zhang Ruibin 22 July 2016 22 July 2016 to 21 July 2020 Note 1
FhE ZE-RE 068 067 “E-RELAZTIRE liFal - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
tAZtzR CECTELACT-R
Zhang Junxi Jack 22 July 2016 22 July 2016 to 21 July 2020 Note 1
- 28000000 - - 28,000,000
ihEE ZE-5E 068 067 “F-RELAZTIRE iRl - 95800000 - 400,000 95,400,000
tAzTzH ECEELACT-R
Other employees 22 July 2016 22 July 2016 to 21 July 2020 Note 1
IERE 068 S o g =1 firsk - 24700000 - 200,000 24,500,000
tA=TZH ZE-ErAcr-8
22 July 2016 067 22 July 2017 1o 21 July 2021 Note 2
a%
Total - 148,500,000 - (600,000 147900,000
REXTANAR
Exercisable at the end of the year 30,850,000

——
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)
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Notes:

1) Share Options are valid from 22 July 2016 to 21 July 2020 and
shall be vested in four tranches in accordance with the following
vesting dates:

(i) 25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees shall
become vested on the Grant Date and shall be exercisable
from 22 July 2016 to 21 July 2020;

(if) 25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees shall
become vested on the 1%t anniversary of the Grant Date
and shall be exercisable from 22 July 2017 to 21 July
2020;

(iff) 25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees shall
become vested on the 2" anniversary of the Grant Date
and shall be exercisable from 22 July 2018 to 21 July
2020; and

(iv) 25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees
become vested on the 3™ anniversary of the Grant Date
and shall be exercisable from 22 July 2019 to 21 July
2020.

2 Share Options are valid from 22 July 2016 to 21 July 2021 and
shall be vested in four tranches in accordance with the following
vesting dates:

(i) 25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees
become vested on the 1%t anniversary of the Grant Date
and shall be exercisable from 22 July 2017 to 21 July
2021;

(if) 25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees
become vested on the 2" anniversary of the Grant Date
and shall be exercisable from 22 July 2018 to 21 July
2021;

(ifi) 25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees
become vested on the 3™ anniversary of the Grant Date
and shall be exercisable from 22 July 2019 to 21 July
2021; and

(iv) 25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees
become vested on the 4" anniversary of the Grant Date
and shall be exercisable from 22 July 2020 to 21 July
2021.
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35.

36.
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

The fair value of these share options at the Grant Date was
amounting to HK$33,492,000, which have been arrived on
the basis of a valuation carried out by Norton Appraisals
Limited, a firm of independent and qualified professional
valuers not connected with the Group. For the year ended 31
December 2016, HK$13,761,000 (2015: Nil) was recognised
as equity-settled share-based payments to the profit or loss.

The fair values were calculated using the trinomial option
pricing model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

R=Z—XF R=E—t#F

+tA=+=AZ +tA=t+=HZE

—E-_FFtA Z—E=-—%+tH

Z+—HEUTE =t+-—HETE

Exercisable Exercisable

from from

22 July 2016 to 22 July 2017 to

21 July 2020 21 July 2021

1TEE Exercise price HK$0.687% 7T HK$0.687% 7T
I A e A X Risk-free rate 0.575% 0.618%
R B 2= (Bt 51) Volatility (note) 4118% 42.12%
&% Bk &5 & Dividend vyield 0% 0%
BT e & Employee turnover rate 0% 0%
REITEREE Early exercise multiplier 2.8 2.8

M mRAAAREEEBUBREARD O
RAXEEBAAANEUL AALT
VURBYE - TIEE LB E -

AEEREAFEERRERZATER
EMBRDEREEZREMT - B
Bz BEAERE TEBERZTA

R 42 22 B =t &

RZZ—R"FAAZFTR(EMBE]) -
RN AR R D B2 B AT &) (TR {0 22 Y
RN EEABEERE(E TR
BURBREABBAEE 2 FFEE
ENEBRE - WRSEE AT AR A K E
ZRENE-THER -EFGARE
B An EE B =t & 2 5 3K
BRRREFSITELRENERRY
AEBEEBHERCIMIELERHOA
SEERMKEARZES  THAE -
= AR S N H AR B (T 2 BeaRE))
BEARA R (R -

4

FIEEREE (B

36.

Note: Due to the substantial changes of the major business of the
Company, instead of historical volatilities, average volatilities of
companies with major business comparable to the Company was
adopted.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are based on the directors’ best
estimate. The value of an option varies with different
variables of certain subjective assumptions.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 20 September 2016 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company
adopted the share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives to selected
employees (the “Selected Employees”) in order to retain them
for the continual operation and development of the Group
and to attract suitable personnel for the growth and further
development of the Group. The Board may award shares of
the Company (the “Shares”), pursuant to the terms of the
Share Award Scheme, to the Selected Employees including
without limitation, the directors, executives, officers and other
employees, whether full-time or part-time, of any member of
the Group from time to time who the Board considers, in its
absolute discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the
business development of the Group.
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SHE AR AF TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—A~NF+ZA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

36. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (conTINUED)

37.

The Board shall not make any further award of Shares which
will result in the total number of Shares awarded (the
“Awarded Shares”) and approved by the Board under the
Share Award Scheme, to be in excess of 10% of the total
number of issued Shares as at the Adoption Date.

The maximum number of Awarded Shares which may be
awarded to a Selected Employee under the Share Award
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the total number of issued
Shares as at the Adoption Date.

As the total number of Shares in issue was 4,950,000,000
Shares as at the Adoption Date, the maximum number of
Awarded Shares that may be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme is 495,000,000 Shares and the maximum
number of Awarded Shares that may be awarded to a
Selected Employee is 49,500,000 Shares.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company has
purchased 1,434,000 Shares amounting to HK$860,000
through its trustee on the Stock Exchange. No share was
awarded to Selected Employees under the Share Award
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2016. The
acquired Shares was recognised and accumulated in equity
under the heading of “Shares held for share award scheme”.

SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s share premium and reserves and
the movement therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

Other reserves as at 31 December 2016 comprise reserve
fund of HK$24,092,000 (2015: HK$24,092,000) and enterprise
expansion fund of HK$8,722,000 (2015: HK$8,722,000) of
Shanghai SAC, Allied Wangchao and Shandong SAC. The
reserve fund is to be used to expand the enterprise’s
working capital. When the enterprise suffers losses, the
reserve fund may be used to make up unrecovered losses
under special circumstances. The enterprise expansion fund
is to be used for business expansion and, if approved, can
also be used to increase capital.

The remittance of retained profits of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC outside the PRC is subject to
approval of the local authorities and the availability of foreign
currencies generated and retained by these subsidiaries.
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38. BB 1H 38. DEFERRED TAXATION
RBERRERAFEERBEFENR - At the end of the reporting period and during the current and
MENREEBERZECHEAE (BE) prior years, deferred tax liabilities (assets) were recognised in
B\ ZIEHE R respect of the temporary differences attributable to the

following:

ERafe

RERRE KARER ATEEHRZ

Allowance ZBMB Fair value

MEHRKITE for bad and  Withholding tax adjustments
Accelerated tax doubtful on undistributed on business Hit EH)
depreciation debts earnings combination Others Total
T FHL FEL T T FEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZZE-1F At 1 January 2015

—-f-H 31,635 (12,665) 2,572 - 1,238 22,780
ERES Exchange differences (1,776) 7 (129) - (39) (1,179)
REBRFA Credit to profit or loss - (1,357) (356) - (682) (2,395)

i At 31 December 2015

TZA=1+-~H 29,859 (13,251) 2,087 - 517 19,212
ERER Exchange differences (2,300) 904 (119) (1,5610) 2 (3,025)
KERBAR Arising on acquisition of

FEXE subsidiaries 5979 (50) - 24577 (165) 30,341
REZEPIR Charge (credit) to profit or loss

(3tA) 88 (957) (392) (110) (586) (1,957)

RZB-RE At 31 December 2016

+=B=t+-F 33,620 (13,354) 1580 20,957 032) 44571
IANTEFN B REM S 2 EERIE The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
HEeR AT financial reporting purposes:

= i

2016 2015

TER FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

ELETIEE E Deferred tax assets 199 —
RLEFIEBE Deferred tax liabilities (44,770) (19,212)
(44,571) (19,212)
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38.

39.

HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

DEFERRED TAXATION (conTINUED)
The Group had estimated unused tax losses of
HK$110,858,000 (2015: HK$64,493,000) at 31 December

2016, which were available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Unused tax losses of
HK$52,292,000 (2015: HK$19,875,000) at 31 December 2016
will gradually expire in five years and the remaining unused
tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 12 July 2016, the Group completed the acquisition of
60% of the equity interest in 1t KR &L 8 H R A A (Beijing
Ziguang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd) (“Ziguang”) from &I T 2
BEEEEHEMR AT, an intermediate holding company of
the Company, for a cash consideration of RMB291,200,000
(equivalent to HK$338,871,000). The transaction is a related
party transaction. This acquisition has been accounted for
using the purchase method. The amount of goodwill arising
as a result of the acquisition was HK$219,492,000. Ziguang
and its subsidiaries (“Ziguang Group”) is engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of prescription drugs, including
chemical drugs and traditional prescribed Chinese medicines.
Ziguang Group was acquired so as to achieve better returns
and development.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$2,910,000 has
been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expense in the current year, within
the other expenses line item in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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39. WEEMIB AT (&)
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39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (conTINUED)

THET
HK$'000
Purchase consideration
Cash consideration 338,871
Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition are
as follows:
Property, plant and equipment 194,814
Prepaid lease payments on land use right 107,431
Investment property 5,466
Intangible assets 6,947
Deferred tax assets 212
Inventories 59,697
Biological assets 3,437
Trade and bills receivables 43,724
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 52,412
Amounts due from other related parties 94,617
Amount due from an intermediate holding
company 22,579
Cash and cash equivalents 223,347
Trade and bills payables (84,278)
Other payables (27,482)
Amount due to an intermediate holding company (13,912)
Amounts due to other related parties (11,064)
Tax liabilities (7,398)
Deferred tax liabilities (80,553)
Bank and other borrowings (429,762)
Total identifiable net assets acquired 260,234

The fair values of property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments for land use right acquired in business
combination are based on valuations performed by an
independent qualified professional valuer with reference to
depreciated replacement cost of property, plant and
equipment and market value of prepaid lease payments for
land use right.

The fair value of trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, amounts due from other related parties and
amount due from an intermediate holding company at the
date of acquisition amounted to HK$195,805,000. The gross
contractual amounts of those trade and other receivables
acquired amounted to HK$96,760,000 at the date of
acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of the
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected
amounted to HK$1,601,000.
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39. BB D () 39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
FHETT
HK$'000
WEEE 2 EE Goodwill arising on acquisition
Frigf 2 (& Consideration transferred 338,871
B0 : JE ¥ A RE 2 Plus: non-controlling interests 140,855
BoBEWEEEFE Less: net assets acquired (260,234)
219,492
REEERANBECESRBESSZEY An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
M FELHTT in the current year in respect of the acquisition is as follows:
FET
HK$’'000
EBAZRERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents acquired 223,347
Less: Consideration satisfied by cash in the
B AEENBREIMNZRE current year (338,871)
RNEZEWREMRBARIEE 2 Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries in
e F5E the current year (115,524)
R BERERORN R EE IR The non-controlling interests in Ziguang Group recognised at
REZDIZRBTF 2 HEEEER R the acquisition date was measured by the present ownership
BAAUENEEFECHERERZE interest’s proportionate share in the recognised amounts of
hE 55 £ - B R 2 %8 A140,855,000 the acquiree’s identifiable net assets and amounted to
BT e HK$140,855,000.
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39. WEEHI B A El(&) 39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)

WEESHEETNHEFABHERLE
ErERKRARRNZG - RRM 5 E
REERESHINEE - RICEEE
fREITEMNHEE - ARARE K2 EH
BRARALREZFRFEREFEREESR
RABI(EEFRER]) - EXRFRET
REERBEBREBERS  MEK
SEREETINEBEXK - BH
EREERFCEETHARRERE -
fRREREE ETHHEENES - f
o ERERA R EEIRRNN
HEWARR MEZEZRTAZHE
REAEERALELR - Hit - &
ERB/WEBILRAREFR RAGH A
SENREBE BEMBEBEXHKE
R RE - IR T AR B R E R
HMEBE -

A% 5 &5 T & AR Bl A
EHRERIRE B EEEE DR

Eol

WRERELNHERP TS 5HH
B By 1 & R ©

SO £ B E TS E A F N E 184,944,000
BIL - FAWABELALEBELED
124,461,000 7T °

Goodwill arose in the acquisition included amounts in relation
to the benefit of expected revenue growth, future market
development and the assembled workforce of Ziguang
Group. In order to capture the opportunities of the medical
and healthcare industry, the Company has established a
wholly-owned subsidiary, It REZER R EEREEEEGRA
Al (“Huakong Kangtai”). Huakong Kangtai will focus on the
investment in and operation of medical and healthcare
businesses and Ziguang Group will continue to focus on its
pharmaceutical businesses, it is expected that Huakong
Kangtai and Ziguang Group may provide mutual support for
integrating the upstream and downstream supply chain in the
medical, healthcare and pharmaceutical aspects. For
instance, Huakong Kangtai may create new sources of sales
for Ziguang Group, and Huakong Kangtai may in turn benefit
from the existing operational experience from Ziguang Group.
As such, the Directors believe that the acquisition of Beijing
Ziguang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. will generate synergies with
the Group’s existing medical, healthcare and pharmaceutical
businesses and raise the Group’s profile in the industry.

These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

Included in the loss for the year is HK$4,944,000 attributable
to the business generated by Ziguang Group. Revenue for
the year includes HK$124,461,000 generated from Ziguang
Group.
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39.

40.

4.

HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2016, total
group revenue for the year would have been
HK$904,413,000, and loss for the year would have been
HK$38,746,000. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would
have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on
1 January 2016, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ loss of the Group had Ziguang
Group been acquired at the beginning of the current year, the
directors have calculated depreciation of plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments on land use right acquired on
the basis of the fair values arising in the initial accounting for
the business combination rather than the carrying amounts
recognised in the pre-acquisition financial statements.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2015, bills receivables
with recourse offset against corresponding bank loans upon
maturity was HK$20,921,000.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The PRC employees of the Group are members of state-
managed retirement benefits schemes operated by the local
government. The Group is required to contribute certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement benefits
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to
make the specified contributions.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”). All qualifying employees in
Hong Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. Both employees’ and
the Group’s contributions are calculated at 5% of the
employee’s monthly relevant income with the mandatory cap,
and the Group will make 5% top-up contribution if an
employee’s monthly basic salary exceeds the mandatory cap.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions of the Directors

and staff for the year end are stated in notes 10 and 12
respectively.
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42. REHEARRRZH

AEBENPEZE=TFIZLZH  H
RGUERNKBEERE R =+
FoHMEMAMEZE&EHOEN
REBRER—FE+F -

42. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS AND

ARRANGEMENTS

The Group entered into an arrangement with a third party in
the PRC to lease rented premises as the production facilities
for manufacture of cement with a term of twenty years.
Other operating leases for rented premises were negotiated
for terms from one to ten years.

AEEERBEARAA The Group as lessee
—E-XF —E—0F
2016 2015
FEx FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
LEAEBE TERAIEZ Mnimum lease payments under operating
=K E A leases recognised as expenses 4,167 1,161

R ERR  AEERE L 2B R
H A A~ ] BH 2 ) S MR BB B R AR
EHEAAZEZARKERBEENREZ
BB RAOT

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under the
above arrangement and other non-cancellable operating
leases for premises and plant and equipment which fall due
as follows:

—E-KF —T—hfF
2016 2015
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$000
TR —F Not later than one year 7,287 1,788
—FEE Later than one year and not later than
TR AF five years 14,249 4,031
BB AT Later than five years 1,109 398
22,645 6,217
I
rEEEBEBEA The Group as lessor

R R - AREE R T Ak R E
F B OB SR P AT AR -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease
payments:

—E-ARF —E—nfF

2016 2015

FET FA&T

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR —F Not later than one year 379 —
—F LB Later than one year and not later than

BB AF five years 1,517 —

il hF Later than five years 1,990 —

3,886 —
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43. EXREIE 43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
REBBEATERKE: The Group had the following capital commitments:
—E—RE —E—R%F
2016 2015
FET T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEIHERRES Capital commitments contracted
P mEBEEZ for but not provided in the
BAREE consolidated financial statements:
— FEARAET —FHE — capital contribution to a joint @)
BE QA venture 446,927 477,897
— SE AMAFApros  — capital contribution to Apros 36,812 —
—EBEYE - WE — acquisition of property, plant
B and equipment 45,515 3,807
— RE-—MER2EH — subscription of shares in a (o)
& 17 company 1,356,722 -
1,885,976 481,704

HMAATIR-_ZE——F_A+
AEAM  R-ZE——F - A+=
B EEEHMEEEME ESE
WM (EE)BRAR (AT L/EEE
MR (EB B AR [ EEEM])
AR ERIAEBEBIAE
@) (& EH D MR &L
EERE(RAD BRI G ERE
Wzl WIREB MBS 2K

EEHRIAERAIEER

A RIEaEHE  LBEM
kLB FBRSNIGAHEER

BZEBRBEHXE KAER
Bl 2 &K KNI EE QT+ B
KENREEQESBER - T AR
AF—EEERRZHEERE]
N A R A Z250% % 1 A R
400,000,000t(F8 & B &
446,927,000/ T(Z & — A F :
477,897,000/ 7)) * B A A E
- XZHEBHREARFBE
PRAE_E——F-_A+HEEK
ZE-MFE-A=1tHZ2E K
BKAMBE AT ——F=H
+REBZBEA -
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As announced by the Company on 15 February 2012,
Shanghai SAC entered into the (BN EHRIE#EFER]
& e % %) (the Bailonggang Project Construction
Cooperation Agreement*) (the “Cooperation
Agreement”) and the (ERFZTEERAR (RADWHE)
(the Principle Agreement for the Establishment of the
Joint Venture Company®) (the “JV Principle Agreement”)
with =78 & # (& B) B R 2 7] (Shanghai Building
Material (Group) Company Limited*) (formerly known as
FIBEEME (£E)4 /A7) (Shanghai Building Material
(Group) General Company*)) (“Shanghai Building
Material”), a state-owned enterprise, for the purpose of
setting up a joint venture company (the “‘JV Company”)
pursuant to the terms and conditions therein on 13
February 2012. Pursuant to the Cooperation
Agreement, Shanghai Building Material and Shanghai
SAC agreed to establish the JV Company to operate
and manage the Bailonggang Project under the terms
of the JV Principle Agreement after the relevant
government approvals for the Bailonggang Project
being obtained. The commitment on capital
contribution to a joint venture represents the 50%
share of registered capital of the JV Company by the
Group amounting to RMB400,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$446,927,000 (2015: HK$477,897,000)).
Details of the transaction were set out in the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 15
February 2012 and 30 January 2014, respectively, and
the circular of the Company dated 16 March 2012.
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43. EREIE &)
() (&)

B FMER-_E——FhLA=
+N\BRIZ=ZHBEE s - B
ERETRERKS  BREAA
R #380,000,0007t (18 & R %)
424,581,000 7T (=& — A F :
454,002,000 7T)) ° R=F —/~
F+-A=+—H8 LB IHEX
NZ=—BEEBERZETEAREZ

EBH N REH

68,270,000 (=T —AHF: AR
#68,270,0007T)(18 & 7§
76,279,000 T(Z & — A F:
81,565,000/ 70)) - —THEEE Wik
BETHEZRERKEEERK
BRAEEHER  AEERARD
BITETEIR SR E R T E
BEA -MAEBEARKIME L8
FEE AR AR R B AR N R
AR AEBREBEEREMT R
EEREEENEABEZR

M#E SUARABRELES
MEETZEARETTFAER
A MBI EARENEOR
R ATARABRAEDEES
REBAERENEE  UFE
HWAE AT FEMERLA 2
B RGHBAONERAARRAT B
BA—TE——F+A=ZAKR=_ZF—
ZFE+—A+HERAZASERER

A e

HRZHESEHZETESE 2%
BRHEEERRBRARESE
B AEERARBEB ZE X
BEEBELZ-ZEESREE N2
&) &= A A R#400,000,00070
(B & A #446,927,0005 7 (= F
— R4 1 477,897,000 7)) * HBE
PEABRAT—FEER

# -

43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@
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(CONTINUED)

On 28 September 2012, Shanghai SAC entered into
three purchase agreements for the purchases of certain
equipment and machineries at the aggregate
consideration of RMB380,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$424,581,000 (2015:
HK$454,002,000)). As at 31 December 2016, Shanghai
SAC has settled the respective first payments of the
total consideration in an aggregate amount of
RMB68,270,000 (2015: RMB68,270,000) (equivalent to
approximately HK$76,279,000 (2015: HK$81,565,000))
under the three purchase agreements. The equipment
and machineries under the three purchase agreements
were purchased for future use in the Bailonggang
Project and the Group and the Company does not
intend to retain such equipment and machineries for
their own use. After the JV Company is established,
Shanghai SAC may transfer, by way of disposal or
otherwise, the equipment and machineries purchased
at cost or novate the rights and obligations of the
purchase agreements at cost to the JV Company in
accordance with the relevant PRC rules and
regulations, or subject to the relevant PRC rules and
regulations, may transfer such equipment and
machineries at cost by way of contribution in kind to
satisfy its proportion of the registered capital of the JV
Company. Details of the transaction were set out in the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 3
October 2012 and 15 November 2012 respectively.

Since the equipment and machineries under the three
purchase agreements were purchased for future use in
the Bailonggang Project, the total commitment of the
Group to the Bailonggang Project, including the
commitment under the three purchase agreements,
would be limited to RMB400,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$446,927,000 (2015: HK$477,897,000))
being the commitment on capital contribution to a joint
venture.
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BARAE 2

) RZE—RE+—A=+hH =K
A F] ~ Binex Co., Ltd. ([Binex] -
—HRBERGBEBRZESLSRS
MEBHRERSK LMz
Able Partners Co., Ltd.* Binex
Holdings Co., Ltd. * Lee, Hyuk-
Jong %t A& K Jeong, Myung-Ho %t
EEIS IR RIE R - B
ARR (B BEETEZENBA
A B4R E M Binex:2 1% © M
Binex BRI EMARA (HE
BEEFTEZEMB AR #ET
Binex 13,182,208% ALi& ZEfE 2 &
AR o &R E T k16,00088
BEdE REBEBREAHA
210,916,768,0008% & (48 & K 49
1,397,725,000/8 7T) ° EiHE W EEE
HAMFRARGRAHAZZT—X
FHZRA+ANBZAEFHH 2L
RIEHEKRE  TAEE - R5
FEPAENRBEBEE T —RF
+Z A+ NBRERZZE—+FE—A4

+—BzA% -
EXERER

AEEERHEER  UBRRASECE
RAUKELE UEBELCEBKRE
HmEBRBARARRERRADE -
AEENERREE F-—FEEFT

&fao

AEBEZEREBREER (TEEHE
P33BT < SRITR A EE) B
NEIBRELER  BROBEITRA
EERRERN BEFEFRMITERN
R ERREN—#D  BEEEE
BARAREEABRIEB AR - R
BEFEZEZ AREKEBETH
Betn ~ BRSO R BETHERREE
REEGNTFEHEBEBELNEE

HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (CcoNTINUED)

(b)  On 29 November 2016, the Company, Binex Co., Ltd.
(“Binex”, a company listed on Korean Securities Dealers
Automated Quotations of Korea Exchange), Able
Partners Co., Ltd., Binex Holdings Co., Ltd., Mr. Lee,
Hyuk-dong and Mr. Jeong, Myung-Ho entered into a
share subscription agreement, pursuant to which the
Company (or through its wholly owned subsidiary
designated by it) has conditionally agreed to subscribe
from Binex, and Binex has conditionally agreed to issue
to the Company (or through its wholly owned subsidiary
designated by it) 13,182,298 shares of voting common
stock of Binex. Based on the subscription price of
KRW16,000 per share, the total subscription
consideration is KRW210,916,768,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,397,725,000). The proposed
acquisition is subject to the fulfiiment of the conditions
precedent pursuant to the Company’s announcement
dated 16 December 2016. Details of the transaction
were set out in the announcement dated 16 December
2016 and 11 January 2017 respectively.

44, CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to owners of the Company through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
mainly includes the bank and other borrowings disclosed in
note 33 and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained
profits. The Directors review the capital structure on an
annual basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
issuance of new shares and share buy-back as well as the
issuance of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
(note 28)

Loans and receivables

Trade and bills receivables
(note 25)

Other receivables (included in other
receivables, deposits and
prepayments) (note 26)

Bank interest income receivable
(included in other receivables,
deposits and prepayments) (note 26)

Loans receivable (note 27)

Other principal protected deposits
(note 29)

Amount due from an intermediate
holding company (note 47)

Amount due from a joint venture

Amounts due from other related parties
(note 48(c))

Restricted bank deposit

Pledged short-term bank deposits

Time deposits with original maturity
between 4 to 12 months (note 30)

Cash and cash equivalents
(note 30)

Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost

Trade and bills payables
(note 31)

Other payables (included in other
payables and deposits received)
(note 32)

Payables for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment (included in
other payables and deposits
received) (note 32)

Other accrued operating expenses
(included in other payables and
deposits received) (note 32)

Amount due to an intermediate holding
company (note 47)

Amounts due to other related parties
(note 48(c))

Bank and other borrowings (note 33)
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—E-XRE —E-TE
2016 2015
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
120,504 82,227
347,989 295,440
57,843 22,478
5,246 2,223
167,264 —
- 205,327

89,385 —
131 —
168,865 157,937
2,518 —
421,416 424,912
22,347 —
581,137 897,933
1,864,141 2,006,250
1,984,645 2,088,477
175,428 103,997
26,024 2,295
3,652 3,905
12,513 3,904
24,230 —
9,528 2,137
1,079,441 777,456
1,330,816 893,694
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45. TRt T B (®) 45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNTINUED)

cREREEEERBER

AEBZEIEZSRITAER EX#EHT -
ZEERMTAFBEREREMERE -
BEZFLRIANRRBETSER
(Rl =R B - SN R B K B i (B 48 &
@) EERR MR IERE o AEDR
(2 ERBRHBRENTIX - BEEE
BRERZERR  BEREKEEN
o PR EE S R o

LE
A Em B

AEBOAFEENRRARERRAS
TEBRCHEMEHMRITER EHF
K RREFARRITREMEEFH
(BEZFROTLEMEENFES
B 5E33) e

AEBNRSRENRREREEET
BRIOTESRURBITREMEERR
(BEEZEFROTLEMEENFIHA

FIFE33) MR BAEB TR (BAE
AR A BT 50) B A B A £ /B R 1T ] A
F A RN R ([ LB R 17 8 B 3 3% BUR)

7R & [ 30 R i PR A AR ) 3 4 B DA PR K
HArEE 2 M =@ - Al - BEEE
M R b N TR B B E AR R
[\ [ B Z BRI AR ATE ©

AEEMESz2EMABENEARZ
HBEERNABERRED  AEEZ
BenBNEERIZEFRAEHE
ZHRITREMEES R 2FBRITH
EXFBEFBEARBITHRMN KNS
Z B o

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments are listed above.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
in a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to
certain fixed-rate pledged short-term bank deposits, time
deposits, loans receivable and bank and other borrowings
(see note 33 for details of these bank and other borrowings).

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to
variable-rate bank balances and bank and other borrowings
(see note 33 for details of these bank and other borrowings).
For interest rate linked structured deposits, which are
grouped under other principal protected deposits, interest
varies depending on the movement of the Shanghai Interbank
Offered Rate (the “SHIBOR”).

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to mitigate
its exposure associated with interest rate risk. However,
management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider necessary actions when significant interest rate
exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate and the interest rates
quoted by the People’s Bank of China arising from the
Group’s bank and other borrowings.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (CONTINUED)

Market risk (CONTINUED)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rate for non-derivative instruments
relating to bank balances and floating-rate bank and other
borrowings at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of assets and liabilities
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. 200 basis points increase or
decrease for bank and other borrowings and 15 basis points
increase for bank balances represent management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates. It is expected that the interest rate for bank balances
will not decrease in the next twelve months from end of the
reporting period.

If interest rates had been increased/decreased by 200 basis
points in respect of bank and other borrowings and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s loss for the year
ended 31 December 2016 would increase/decrease by
HK$15,070,000 (2015: HK$12,940,000).

In addition, if interest rates had been increased by 15 basis
points in respective of bank balances and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31
December 2016 would decrease by HK$791,000 (2015:
HK$1,003,000).

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through its interest
rate linked structured deposits which are principal protected
and their interest varies depending on the movement of the
SHIBOR. As 31 December 2016, there was no outstanding
interest rate linked structured deposits.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in bonds and listed equity securities. The
management closely monitors the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise. The
management considers the exposure of other price risk for its
investments is not significant. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis is presented.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (CONTINUED)

Market risk (CONTINUED)
Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rate. The Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC
other than Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2016, the Group
has bank balances, amounts due to other related parties and
bank and other borrowings (2015: bank balances, amounts
due to other related parties and bank and other borrowings)
denominated in HK$ which is the currency other than the
functional currency of the respective group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arises.

The carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary
liabilities that are denominated in HK$, which is a currency
other than the functional currency of the group entities are as
follows:

—E-XRF e e
2016 2015
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
770,574 988,801
782,589 779,593

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in RMB against HKS$. 5% sensitivity
rate represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rate. The sensitivity
analysis includes the financial assets and financial liabilities
denominated in HK$, and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency
rate. A positive or negative number below indicates a
decrease or an increase in loss for the year where RMB
strengthen 5% against HK$. For a 5% weakening of RMB
against in HK$, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the result for the year.
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Result for the year

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (CONTINUED)

Market risk (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk (CONTINUED)

—E-AF —TREF
2016 2015
TRT TAT
HK$°000 HK$'000
451 (7,845)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
bills and other receivables, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, other principal protected deposits,
loans receivable, amount due from an intermediate holding
company, amount due from a joint venture, amounts due
from other related parties, restricted bank deposit, pledged
short-term bank deposits, time deposits and bank balances
and cash.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, management has delegated
a team to be responsible for the determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Independent companies are engaged to investigate
the credibility of customers, and guarantees or pledges of
assets provided by them on a needed basis. In addition,
management reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt, bills receivables and other receivables
regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable amounts.

The credit risk on other principal protected deposits is limited
because they are principal protected and the issuing banks
are reputable banks with good credit ratings.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group’s
pledged short-term bank deposits, time deposits and bank
balances are deposited with banks of high credit ratings in
Hong Kong and the PRC.
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45. TRt T B (®) 45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNTINUED)
ctREMEEEEREE®E) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (CONTINUED)
WG E R (&) Market risk (CONTINUED)
EEREE(E) Credit risk (CONTINUED)
EWER - —HRNERATRK - — The credit risk on loans receivable, amount due from an
e ARIRAREMEETRRZ intermediate holding company, amount due from a joint
FERRER RERAXSE ZEHE venture and amounts due from other related parties are
BREZERZHF B RAZRE limited because the management of the Group determines
that these counterparties are in strong financial position.
RZE—RFFTA=+—H8 BARE The Group has concentration risk on amounts due from a
W AEEME AR — B IEERERER non-controlling shareholder of the Group’s subsidiary
18147,673,000% 7T(=Z T — 1 F: amounted to HK$147,673,000 (2015: HK$157,937,000) and
157,937,000 7T) & fE I B X loans receivable amounted to HK$167,264,000 (2015: Nil) as
167,264,000 T (ZE—RFE:F) - K at 31 December 2016. The Group will monitor the level of
SEGEESERRR AEEGERE exposure to ensure that follow up actions and/or corrective
SKF - RN RIREBER, B actions are taken promptly to lower the risk exposure.
E#EE - URERR -
BRTERBESHEAZHEETREY Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
MIRITR EX Tl & SRITEENEF are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings and
FEERRN  NEBRERESHKE on balances mentioned above, the Group does not have
REKREEREMERREBLTTFE significant concentration of credit risk on trade and bills and
BEETFHNEERR  ARRKRE DM other receivables as the exposure spread over a number of
RETREHFRESFRERF - counterparties and customers.
B 1 B Liquidity risk
REBERDUERBREE  NEBERER In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
BEEEEBERARUALRER ZLE and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
RHESERBERENEESINTE adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
ZRERBEFEYKT - REEKRE operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
RITREMBEEEREZRBERNK flows. The Group relies on bank and other borrowings as a
B BREERRTREMEE ZF significant source of liquidity. Management monitors the
JEE utilisation of bank and other borrowings.
TRFAVNASESHAERNE L2 H The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
HR  ZEFRRIBBAEEAHKENR maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been
EEcmABE RTHENEREAE drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
RUMBHEERERE - ZXRBEMNE liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
EARcBReRE - BFBRBZEF be required to pay. The tables include both interest and
= RN FEARE B R 2 FI K E principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
g floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from

interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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45. €@ T B %)

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (COoNTINUED)

cREREEREERBX A

nEBEERFERKRE Liquidity and interest risk tables
o # ¥ 19
BHRA =
Weighted KBERSE
average 318 A REBE
effective 2R1EA 1Z3f8A ESES Total R T &
interest Less than 1-3 3 months 1£5% 5% Ll L undiscounted Carrying
rate 1 month months to 1 year 1-5 years 5+ years cash flows amount
% FER FExT FExT FER FExT FExT FER
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R-Z—RE At 31 December 2016
+=A=+-—A8
ENBFHHREREMNZE  Trade and bills payables and
T H A FE 5 3RIE other payables - 134,401 7,486 74,982 748 - 217,617 217,617
R—BEHRNERAA Amount due to an intermediate
WA holding company - 24,230 - - - - 24,230 24,230
FEAT FE IR AR A 2 Dividend payable to
% B non-controlling interest - 2,500 - - - - 2,500 2,500
RIFFRER Amount due to non-controlling
RIE interest - 89 - - - - 89 89
RE M BAEES Amount due to other related
WA parties - 6,939 - - - - 6,939 6,939
FITREMEE Bank and other borrowings
- ZR — variable rate 3.00 2,112 794,934 125,125 - - 922,171 916,313
FITREMEE Bank and other borrowings
- L — fixed rate 1.20 163 326 1,468 199,180 - 201,137 163,128
170,434 802,746 201,575 199,928 - 1,374,683 1,330,816
hn#E 1
iR
Weighted AEBEESE
average 3fE A mE
effective 2HW1EA 1Z31@A ks Total fRE A
interest Less than 1-3 3 months 1259 5% LA L undiscounted  Carrying
rate 1 month months to 1 year 1-5 years 5+ years cash flows amount
% FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000
R-_T—h%F At 31 December 2015
+=A=+—H
ENBFHREREMNZE  Trade and bills payables and
R b FE A FRIE other payables - 55,166 16,808 41,327 800 - 114,101 114,101
FE A I 12 IR RE 25 Dividend payable to
i8N non-controlling interest — 2,000 — — — — 2,000 2,000
R IE AR A Amount due to non-controlling
»IE interest - 68 — - 69 - 137 137
RITREAMEE Bank and other borrowings
—#R — variable rate 1.83 400,472 377,767 - - — 778,239 777,456
457,706 394,575 41,327 869 — 894,477 893,694
The amounts included above for variable interest rate

fFBM B AN RERREE 2
it

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (CONTINUED)

EEMEERER  FEA LML
TREBENIEIAZSHENGET -

instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change, if changes in variable interest rates differ to those

estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the

reporting period.
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BAFEEAE TREHREEZSE
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EZRMNERER  HRBEAFER
FREZ2HNAEREEMEE

AATEFEXEEABR AR TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

= M 5= Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair value of various financial assets and liabilities.

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table
gives information about how the fair values of these financial
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

AFREE
E:$
SRMEE AFEER Fair value EEAFZREIEZH
Financial assets Fair value at hierarchy Valuation technique and key inputs
—E-RE ZZT—hF
2016 2015
THERT FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEEERE
Held for trading investments
BE% 79,438 78,126 £ 4% EEBRBHRE -
Bonds Level 2 Quoted prices from pricing services.
REB LW RAEEF 15,849 - E—& 5 WIE -
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong Level 1 Quoted prices in market.
REBLAIN LT 2 R E 5 2,783 4101 F—% M5 RIE -
Equity securities listed outside Hong Level 1 Quoted prices in market.
Kong
EEEBERREAFEEREZ
cREE
Financial assets designated as at
fair value through profit or loss
fE R AR TR 22,434 - Bk BIERERE - BIBERRKELZH ZHMEMRER
Exchange rate linked structured Level 2 i HA R A SN B 2R T 45 BS9S] (R UK TR (B A%
deposits MEFR)RENFEGHREFSRE - WAR
MAKESERFEF (WER N EERR 28
WEAGEBLIR -

Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are
estimated based on the probabilities of future
exchange rate movements (which are modelled
using the implied volatility prices at the end of
the reporting period from the foreign exchange
options market) and contracted interest rates,
discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk
of the Group or the counterparties, as
appropriate.

12°i504 82,227
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45. €@ T B %) 45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
tRMIAEZATLEEITEE) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (CONTINUED)

REBEZZE-—R"EE_Z—hF+H There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the
=+ HLEFE F—H F-_HEE year ended 3 December 2016 and 2015.

R EWEER .

EERAAEBTEHFEEMBHREANRE The Directors consider that the carrying amount of the
BHEAATENEREERERAEE Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
JHEHERAEQNTEERS  cBHEAQ amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
FEENEMBERERESTREAR approximate their fair values. Such fair values have been
REBEAEBTE - determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing

models based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

46. EEEF 46. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

RBEBRR AEEEEEGEA At the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s
105,999,000/ L 2 & TEF R ZEY) buildings and structures with aggregate carrying amount of
—F—FAF 133,907,000/ T 2 EF HK$105,999,000 (2015: buildings and structures and plant
REEYURBERESR)  REAER and machinery of HK$133,907,000), prepaid lease payments
45,655,000% (= T — A F: on land use rights with carrying amount of HK$45,655,000
5,960,000/ 7T) 2 + Hb{F F#E 2 FE (2015: HK$5,960,000), an exchange rate linked structured
B IE - BREE 522,434,000 7T (— deposits with carrying value of HK$22,434,000 (2015: interest
T-RAF:FMEHBEBETR rate linked structured deposit of HK$143,369,000) together
143,369,000/ 7T ) 2 [E X #5518 1417 with short-term bank deposits, carrying fixed interest rate
KA KM B EE F R ENF0.90% = ranging from 0.90% to 1.50% (2015: 0.00% to 3.08%) per
1.50% (ZZ—FHF : 0.00% £3.08%) H annum, of HK$421,416,000 (2015: HK$424,912,000) were
72 BB R 1717 30421,416,0008 T (ZF — pledged to secure bank loans to the extent of
FF 424,912,000/ L) EE A E TR HK$502,793,000 (2015: HK$777,456,000) granted to the
£ B 2 $R1TE 5502,793,0008 L (= Z Group and short-term bank faciliies in respect of the
— R4 777,456,000/ JT) K A 4 E 75 issuance of bills payable to suppliers amounting to
7 B JE [ 2 #£98,831,000/F T (=& — HK$98,831,000 (2015: HK$69,249,000).

AF : 69,249,000/ 7T) FE AV BRIR 1T
BE 2 o

47. — RN ERATRZK(X—  47. AMOUNT DUE FROM (TO) AN
N\

BARNERATFIE) INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

— R R T i R R B ROR IS R & R T 12 Amount due from an intermediate holding company
&~ & 2 f£ & 3%55,900,00078 TT & represented the provision of loans to the intermediate holding
33,500,000/ 7T * 2EFERREER company amounted to HK$55,900,000 and HK$33,500,000,
e FF F R 5.66% N5.44% 51 B M BN — which were unsecured, interest bearing at 5.66% and 5.44%
T—LFRNAEE- per annum and were repayable in June 2017.
R—EHPNERATRBLEERER - T Amount due to an intermediate holding company is
FFEREREREERE - unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.
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48. B A R Z R &k 48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES
ﬁ??ﬁ% IRA M EmRE MM T AT R In addition to the transactions, balances and commitments
LRG ~ BEHRRAEEN - REEZE— disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
%\¢+:ﬂ =+—RHIFE A5EHA statements, during the year ended 31 December 2016, the
BT o R NEHRTT Group had transactions and balances with related parties as
follows:
(@) XZHEHE (@) Summary of transactions
(BA) & H
(Income)/Expenses
—E—-XRfF —hF
2016 2015
B 3% F&T FHET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
AEEKE AT 2 Non-controlling shareholders
TR R of the Group’s subsidiaries
2 M A Interest income (i) (6,918) (8,184)
EEBIM Management fee expense 89 68

(b)

ER - ARTEEFNBRAT
U B8 52 5 55 (8 2 60% R A5 4 25 o
ZRSBREERS (EER L

During the year, the Company acquired 60% of the
equity interest in Ziguang Group from its intermediate
holding company. The transaction constituted

MARA) - FIEF 2B M 39 - connected transaction within the meaning of the Listing
Rules. Details referred to note 39.
FTEEEEBAEMS (b) Key management personnel
compensation
—ARE —AfF
2016 2015
TER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
e L HEAME Salaries and other short-term
& A benefits 12,266 10,198
BRKREFER Post-employment costs 601 435
SR AN AER Equity-settled share-based
pANE:N payments 6,355 —
19,222 10,633
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48. BB AR Z R Eehw)

(c)

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (conTINUED)

(c) Summary of balances

S
|

ofE
i
S

=R

H

H

i
)

I) o v YT R
B

NG

=

X

5

a
DR B ol
DI R 8N B OBIN D

STINSE N | N |
AN RN 00

=

B4 B8
R

REBAE
JE A AN 52 [ Y BB

RSB E A A
2R Z
HIR

R B A IE PR A)
Z— R R B
NGl

REAMBAETT
IR

B 3 -

Current assets

Loan to a non-controlling
shareholder of the Group’s
subsidiary

Interest receivable from a
non-controlling shareholder
of the Group’s subsidiary

Amount due from a fellow
subsidiary of the ultimate
holding company

Amounts due from other related
parties

Current liabilities

Dividend payable to a
non-controlling shareholder
of the Group’s subsidiary

Amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of the Group’s
subsidiary

Amounts due to a fellow
subsidiary of the ultimate
holding company

Amounts due to other related
parties

Notes:

= s

2016 2015

P TRR TAT
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
(i) 147,486 157,706
(i) 187 231
(i) 21,192 -
168,865 157,937

(i) 2,500 2,000
(i) 494 137
(i) 6,534 -
9,528 2137

(i)

(i

RERGREBEF B —RIRT
REFEAEEMNBAR Z— %I
ERBRRZETER - R —
ANFE+ZA=1+—R BExLS
E R EB415% (Z T — &
48%)FHE - BERAER AN
T+t HFRAR-T—tFEXA
(—E—RE: —ZE—XREFHAR
TE-AXFLEAEE - RER
SMERFEBREIF(EER
EWRAD - REZFHBERAEA
RIEEA-ZT—A"EFRA-t+
A(CZ—hF:ZT—HaFAHA
ZTZH)ZRER -

BB SEER  TFHERERE
SKEFEE -
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(if)

The transactions and balances represented the provision of
entrusted loans through a bank to a non-controlling
shareholder of the Group’s subsidiary. As at 31 December
2016, the principals of the loans bear interest at 4.15%
(2015: 4.8%) per annum, were unsecured and were
repayable in May 2017 and June 2017 (2015: May 2016
and July 2016). The transactions also constituted
connected transactions within the meaning of the Listing
Rules. Details of the transactions were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 27 May 2016 (2015:
22 May 2015).

The balances were unsecured, non-interest bearing and
were repayable on demand.
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4R B R R M 55 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

—E-REF —E—RE
2016 2015
FHET FAT
HK$°000 HK$'000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 79 58
Investments in subsidiaries 420,902 396,360
Interests in a joint venture 32,759 =
Amounts due from subsidiaries 427,687 98,289
881,427 494,707
Current assets
Other receivables and prepayments 10,405 637
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 95,287 78,126
Amount due from a joint venture 131 —
Pledged short-term bank deposits 400,000 400,000
Cash and cash equivalents 212,146 635,673
717,969 1,114,436
Current liabilities
Accrued expenses 8,083 1,484
Bank borrowing due within one year 400,000 400,000
408,083 401,484
Net current assets 309,886 712,952
Total assets less current liabilities 1,191,313 1,207,659
Capital and reserves
Share capital 9,900 9,900
Share premium and reserves (note) 1,181,413 1,197,759
Total equity 1,191,313 1,207,659
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49. KRB Z M MRR T @)

ARREHBARIR -F
hAE+-A=+— EIZ.?—?'I BN AR
BB R M S0 -

o=
=

B 2% - Note:
B EERGFE Share premium and reserves
R 1 5
Bt &l
Bzl UROGZTES
Shares [
held for Employee
B3R E share share-based ERFEE REERN
Share award compensation Translation Retained wg
premium scheme reserve reserve profits Total
FH& T FET F#& T F#& T F#& T FET
HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
R-ZZE—AHF At 1 January 2015
—H—8 1,215,024 - - — 44,033 1,259,057
ARBRARFE Loss for the year of the
EiE Company - - - (35,199)  (35,199)
HBRBEY Exchange difference arising
BE¥EEY on translation to
[E 5 E 5 presentation currency - — - (26,099) — (26,099
RZT—ARF At 31 December 2015
+=-—HA=+—H 1,215,024 — — (26,099) 8,834 1,197,759
KRR ARFE Loss for the year of the
& 18 Company — — — — (19,5100  (19,510)
HBBEY Exchange difference arising
BE¥ELEZ on translation to
M N = presentation currency - - - (9,737) - (9,737)
REERETE Recognition of equity-settled
RAREEE share-based payments
LARR 1 /5 2 Tt under share options
5% scheme - - 13,761 - — 13,761
BK R B R i Share options lapsed - - (22) — 22 —
A L@ T8I E  Purchase of shares for share
A% 17 award scheme — (860) — — — (860)
RZE—REF At 31 December 2016
+=—HA=+— 1,215,024 (860) 13,739 (35,836) (10,654) 1,181,413
RZE-—RF+ZA=+—8 AKRAAAHS The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders of the
KFARABRRZEH AR D B E Company as at 31 December 2016 represented the share premium of
1,215,024,000% 7T B 2 # I 2 5 B 8 HK$1,215,024,000 and net of realised accumulated loss of
33,272,000/ L(= T — ¢ & 7 % & HK$33,272,000 (2015: share premium of HK$1,215,024,000 and net of
1,215,024,0007% T & B £ 3B 2 it J?E“ i realised accumulated loss of HK$9,215,000).

9,215,0007% 7T) °

ANEFTZA=+—HBIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

e,

Particulars of all

subsidiaries of the Company at 31
December 2016 and 2015 are set out in note 50 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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HRRY/BREH

Place of

4

AATEFEXEEABR AR TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

T4 B & M 35 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
H

EZT - F+ZA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of all subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

BRARMERE
EERRE/
BHREMER
Paid up issued
ordinary share

RREEEZANRE RS

PEES: incorporation/ LEh capital/Paid up  Effective equity interest TEER
Name of company registration Place of operations registered capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
—E-RXE —ZT-1fF
2016 2015
% %
All-cement Limited REARES 3 1ET 100 100 REBRRKEEH
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding and
cement business
All-Shanghai Inc. RRARES 3 15,376,500 T 83.33 83.33 RERRRKEES
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$15,376,500 Investment holding and
cement business
Fester Global Limited REARES 3 E 100 - REER
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
ERERRE ABRRES Y E 100 100 REER
Fortunate Gold Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
EMEABRAA b b il 100 100 REER
Fully Fine Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
Gratwick Limited ABRLES it E 100 100 RERR
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
Greater Vision Limited RERLES 0 Ey 100 100 REHR
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
BREEBRAA £ £ BT 100 100 REER
Kingway Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
BEERAT Y Y 1B 100 100  RERR
Kingwood Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
BRREERERARA HEHS i 100% 7T 920 - REER
Konta Investment Management Cayman Islands Hong Kong USs$100 Investment holding

Co. Ltd.
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&+ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ANEFTZA=+—HBIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Beny

Place of operations

(CONTINUED)

BRARMERE
EERREK/
BHREMER
Paid up issued
ordinary share
capital/Paid up
registered capital

AEEREEZENRAESR
Effective equity interest

attributable to the Group
“E-x§% CZT-1fF

TEEHR
Principal activities

2016 2015
% %
SAC Intellectual Properties Limited EBRZEHS B 1= 100 100 RERR
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
IWRBEIRKEBERAR PEERECLA(RE =E 14,360,000% T 100 100 EEREEKER
”@?\\I?xﬁ%A #H
&)
Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement The PRC (EIREF A5  The PRC US$14,360,000 Manufacture and sales of
Limited (BERENEREE cement and clinker
2E))
WE FEARERERAT PE(ERECATGNE +E 1,000,000% 5 100 100 AERHEERH
EAE éf )
Shandong Shanghai Allied Cement  The PRC (§[RET 23  The PRC US$1,000,000 Manufacture and sales of
Co., Ltd. (SNELEANEBR)) slag
TRBAKERRAR PE(EREEAA(RE =8 104,000,000 ¢ 50¢ 500 BEKERAK
REFZNEE))
Shanghai Allied Cement The PRC (REE AT  The PRC US$104,000,000 Trading of cement and
Co,, Ltd. (ABRABNAE)) clinker
FBAREEERAR B B 10,000,000% 7T 100 100 REER
Shanghai Allied Cement Holdings ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 Investment holding
Limited
Sharkview Limited EBRAES £ 1% 100 100 REZR
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
EBARRA ABRAES BB E 100 100  REER
Splendid Link Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
3 PEERALRT HE ARE 60 - REERIRHER
(F5ha%) 120,000,007 HERHE
Ziguang The PRC (BREERA The PRC RMB120,000,000 Investment holding and
(R E) manufacturing and sales
of prescription of drugs
EREH R ENHER TE(EREERT i - 60% - BERER
BRAA (EABE)
The PRC (§IREE A The PRC ** Research and development
(ZNBE)) of medical products
BEMZTEEERAR PEERAELRA i AR #5,360,0007C 60°* - RERBERNE
(FERARAT
BROEAESR))
The PRC (EIREM A  The PRC RMBS5,360,000 Manufacture and sales of
(FERAREHR prescription drugs
BEROEABE))
REZAREEXERAT mE(EtEREE HE ARE 39.6% - HERHERPE
) 18,007,322.357%
The PRC (£ BIRERE  The PRC RMB18,007,322.35 Manufacture and sales of

R
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M~ =& k) 50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
BRARMR
EERRE/
BHREMER
Paid up issued
AMAYL/ BRHY ordinary share AEBEEZENRAER
AEER Place of incorporation/ E& it % capital/Paid up  Effective equity interest TEER
Name of company registration Place of operations registered capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
ZE-AE —%-1%
2016 2015
% %
EERENEERAT PHERREAR(EA TE ARE20,7234187C 37.52% - BERHEERNE
AZEFER))
The PRC (EIREF A  The PRC RMB20,723,418 Manufacture and sales of
(BRAARERER)) prescription drugs
HEROLR)ENRMERRAT  TE(EBEREL P AR 8,400,007 33.26 - EEERZHBER
2F)
The PRC (EftEBEE  The PRC RMBS,400,000 Trading of laboratory related
RA) products
REREXERERAA PEERECLA(ER +=E AR 1,000,000 39.6% -  BERsE
ANZEFHER))
The PRC (§IRE AR  The PRC RMB1,000,000 Trading of prescription drugs

(BRARERER))

BEERREENFRERLAR  HE(EREARA(ER $E - 37.52 - WREBRER
ABREFEREEA
BE))
The PRC (§[REAE  The PRC - Research and development
(BRARE LR of medical products
EABE))
MERBRRERES PEERREAA(RE TB - 100 100 REZRRGXER
(RINBRAA REABE))
The PRC (BIREEAF  The PRC - Investment holding and
(BREANBE)) corporate advisory
MEEmECEEREAR) +EBEREARA B E - 100 - REERRLEER
R (BEREAER))
The PRC (§[REFAE  The PRC —# Investment holding and
(BRREANBA)) corporate advisory
IREARRREREER PE(EREERAEA +E = 100 100  BEZR
ARAR BE))
The PRC (REERE  The PRC - Investment holding
(EABE))
RAFER - [WEBARMEEITEMER None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
FH o the end of the year.
P BE - Remarks:
# /NI = /NI A = EF' A KR # This company is held and controlled by a 83.33%-owned
83.33% = M T B~ subsidiary of the Company.
# ZERT EE%?%T%@&T?E il o # These companies are held and controlled by Ziguang.
** ZERTHATREEEEEEAR AR * These companies were set up by Tongfang Kontafarma Holdings
A B SR SR AR - Limited and there was no paid up share capital.
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51.

52.

BEQNTEHR

AREHERRR_E—AR"FR_F—
AFE+ZA=1+t—HZEHBT:

51. PARTICULARS OF ASSOCIATE

Particulars of associate of the Company as at 31 December
2016 and 2015 are as follows:

AEBEEZEN
BREhE "EwY BREEMER RAER
NCEL:] Place of Place of Paid up registered ZE Effective equity interest TEER
Name of company registration operations capital Voting power attributable to the Group Principal activities
ZE-RE CE-Rf ZB-R§ CZT-1F
2016 2015 2016 2015
% % % %
LEERRIEHERRAENE PEER HE AR %6,000,0007 39 - 39 - RUHEAN
BERATF EfEAT
(BR&E)
The PRC(B B The PRC RMB6,000,000 Provision of energy
EffRF performance
(BREE)) contracting
¥ NTEEH 52. PARTICULARS OF JOINT VENTURE
RATEE NN E—REE_ZT— Particulars of joint venture of the Company as at 31
AF+-_A=+—HBZ&HOT December 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

BRARAE
ZERRE/
BAREMER

Paid up issued KEBEEZER
SMEIHYE  BERE ordinary share RAEE
DAER Place of Place of capital/Paid up REE Effective equity interest TEEH
Name of company incorporation operations registered capital Voting power attributable to the Group Principal activities
S L L S S
2016 2015 2016 2015
% % % %
Konta Capital Heks ZHB2ERE 100% 7T 50 - 99.99 - WEBEEER
Cayman Islands  United States of US$100 Research and

America
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52. & NAE R (&)

\

*ET)%E/%HM‘% E‘Jiﬁﬁvzﬁﬁﬁ$

NElAEERA Bﬁ A ([Konta
Capltal’i IJ)Z ﬁf%ﬁﬂ*ﬁ%%%ﬁu 0
T o

MBEE

FRBEE

RehBHeEED

YA

ARR R EIEER
JEfE B i mn FEAG B 1R

REEEE

HE-T—XR"FE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

52. PARTICULARS OF JOINT VENTURE
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information in respect of the

Company’s joint venture and its subsidiary (“‘Konta Capital
Group”) prepared in accordance with HKFRSs is set out
below.
= i
2016
FHERT
HK$°000
Current assets 30,049
Non-current assets 1,109
Current liabilities (261)
Non-current liabilities —
Non-controlling interests 1,862
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include
the following:
Cash and cash equivalents 29,765
Revenue —
Loss attributable to owners of the Company (4,096)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests (1,862)
Loss for the year (5,958)
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52. 84 A ARER @)

52. PARTICULARS OF JOINT VENTURE

(CONTINUED)
LB E R RS MR R PTER Reconciliation of the above financial information to the
M Konta Capitalfs B 2 #E & R EE 2 ¥ carrying amount of the interest in Konta Capital Group
B recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
—E-XREF
2016
TER
HK$’000
Konta Capitalt2 @ 2 & & /F & Net assets of Konta Capital Group 32,759
A £ B 7 Konta Capital & & 2 Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in
W R ES LA Konta Capital Group 99.99%
7N & @ A Konta Capital &£ & 2 Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Konta
D BEEE Capital Group 32,759

53. EEEAXFEREH 2R  53. DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED

EME AR ZFHE SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TRETARAEBE RIFEERER The table below shows details of non wholly-owned
ZIIEEEBEMBRRZFE: subsidiaries of the Company that have material non-
controlling interests:
FERESHECHERARE
BERREELA
Proportion of ownership PTEREFERERZ
interest and voting rights =R (B R) Rt FERER
ATRER held by non-controlling Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated non-
Name of company interests non-controlling interests controlling interests
—E-AF —Z-AF Z¥-AF -—T HF -B-AF -—ZT-0F
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
% % FET FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
LEBAIERRAR 50 50 9,553 2,708 375,940 394,086
Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd
ES 40 - (1,864) - 96,891 -
Ziguang
B2 EWBERT 37-45 - 1,975 - 39,024 -
Non-wholly owned subsidiaries of
Ziguang
BREFEERERZ 5,374 6,860
ERIFEE KM E R A
Individually immaterial subsidiary with
non-controlling interests
517,229 400,946
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53. EEEXRFERERZZ2HFE 53. DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED
EME AR ZHE® SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

BRAARRHBERFERER M
BRAZMBERBBIHINMAT - TX

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Company’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling

HEEHNBMEZREBANKBEINE interests is set out below. The summarised financial
B o information below presented amounts before intra-group
eliminations.

BB EKEERATE Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd

—E—-RE —E—ARF

2016 2015

FHET FHET

HK$°000 HK$'000

mENEE Current assets 824,565 815,981
ETRBEE Non-current assets 148,982 161,193
Ak Current liabilities (202,130) (167,123)
FERBEE Non-current liabilities (19,580) (21,910)

PN/NS 3 Equity attributable to owners of

FE 7 the Company 375,897 394,055
FE 1 IR 2 Non-controlling interests 375,940 394,086
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53. EEERFERERZ2HE
=4 PNCIPA=2-1¢ )

LBBEKEERDE (&)

53. DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd (CONTINUED)

—E-XRE —ET—ARF
2016 2015
FTER FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 320,008 253,908
BREE Net expenses (300,902) (248,492)
N A Profit for the year 19,106 5,416
ZAN/NGCIE YR ) Profit attributable to owners of
i Al the Company 9,553 2,708
FE 15 AR % FEAG Profit attributable to non-controlling
a1 ) interests 9,553 2,708
REE % F Profit for the year 19,106 5,416
ARABIREEMEMET  Other comprehensive expense
X attributable to owners of the Company (25,772) (23,410)
JEE S (R E 2™  Other comprehensive expense
X attributable to non-controlling interests (25,772) (23,410)
RAEZEHMEE Other comprehensive expense
T H for the year (51,544) (46,820)
ARAFIREEMGEEWEE  Total comprehensive income (expense)
(Z) g attributable to owners of the Company (16,219) (20,702)
JFIE S EMR 2 MmUYz Total comprehensive income (expense)
(Z) s attributable to non-controlling interests (16,219) (20,702)
AFEEEEB () Total comprehensive income (expense)
4 RE for the year (32,438) (41,404)
D FIEERER 2 Dividend distribution to non-controlling
& 2 interests 1,499 7,786
LEBEBzR® Net cash inflow (outflow) from
AR ) F 8 operating activities 36,288 (20,081)
WEEBZH2 Net cash (outflow) inflow from
OfE ) m A% 58 investing activities (41,746) 67,675
BMEEHK RS REFEE  Net cash outflow from financing activities (3,920) (39,472)
Be ORb)mAFE Net cash (outflow) inflow (9,378) 8,122
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53. EEEXRFERERZZ2HFE 53. DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED

BB AR 2H B #E)

e E L

mBEE
FRBEE
mBRE
FRBEE

LN &
s

EPE Sy X

e AN PN
FEIE R A

SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)
Ziguang Group
= i
2016
THET
HK$’000
Current assets 345,066
Non-current assets 439,954
Current liabilities (316,551)
Non-current liabilities (191,783)
Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 140,771
Non-controlling interests of Ziguang 96,891
Non-controlling interests of Ziguang’s subsidiaries
39,024
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0253 =17

HET

53. EEEXRFEZERERZ2HFE  53. DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED

EMBRARIZHE B #®)

RAKE @)

A
ERFE

REE E B

AR RIR FE A5 B 18

SOL IR AR

REMBRB 2R ER
& 1 4 A

REE E B

ARBRREEEMEE
X H

FIERESEEHEMEE
>

ESAG) PNCIPE S e 5y A

H 2 H 2 H

AEEEMEEXE

ARRFRR B2 E
B

RO EERESEEGEEZEH

HEE

S E AR 2 I o s R

2E AR

AEEE2EXHARE

DETEAFERERZEE

BEEBZRERMAFER

REXRBZHRESRHFAE

MEXEBZRAERAFER

REeRANFHE

SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)
Ziguang Group (CONTINUED)
A
2016
FTHERT
HK$’000
Revenue 124,461
Net expenses (130,049)
Loss for the year (5,588)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company (5,699)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests of Ziguang (1,864)
Profit attributable to non-controlling interest of Ziguang’s
subsidiaries 1,975
Loss for the year (5,588)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the
Company (9,326)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to non-controlling
interests of Ziguang (2,810)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to non-controlling
interests of Ziguang’s subsidiaries (2,241)
Other comprehensive expense for the year (14,377)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the
Company (15,025)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to non-controlling
interests of Ziguang (4,674)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to non-controlling
interests of Ziguang’s subsidiaries (266)
Total comprehensive expense for the year (19,965)
Dividend distribution to non-controlling interests of Ziguang -
Net cash inflow from operating activities 40,410
Net cash outflow from investing activities (148,577)
Net cash inflow from financing activities 304,489
Net cash inflow 196,322
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ES
WA

B 35 Bl st A
(B 18)
BiIA

AERERN (B18)

AERE N (B 18)
FE1H 3

ARBWBIR
FEz B i as

2]
=53
i
$t

&7 (ER)

BEERAME

BEBRE

BEAER

I A as

ZANCIE§
FE1h R 2

Results
Revenue

Profit (Loss) before
taxation

Taxation

Profit (Loss) for the year

Profit (Loss) for the year
attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Basic earnings (loss) per
share (HK cent)

Assets and liabilities
Total assets

Total liabilities
Non-controlling interests

Equity attributable to
owners of the
Company

BET-A=+-HLUREE

Financial year ended 31 December

—F——F —FT—=F —T—NF —T—HF ZEB-—RE
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
FAT FAT FAT FAT FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
704,698 703,468 733,125 465,739 633,279
46,516 62,618 46,107 (26,985) (20,128)
(9,384) (16,396) (18,083) (2,829) (7,425)
37,132 46,222 28,024 (29,814) (27,553)
26,834 32,564 17,280 (34,237) (37,076)
10,298 13,658 10,744 4,423 9,523
37,132 46,222 28,024 (29,814) (27,553)
(E75)) (E%)
(Restated)  (Restated)
0.68 0.82 0.43 (0.69) (0.75)
W+=—B=+—8
At 31 December

—2——F Z2—=F —T—NF —T—hHF ZE-—XREF
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
FAT FAET FAT FAT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

1,611,846 1,625,996 2,426,774 2,629,925 3,154,191
450,782 415,688 713,025 1,021,320 1,511,128
419,431 430,169 429,058 400,946 517,229
741,633 780,139 1,284,691 1,207,659 1,125,834
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